MARRIAGE IMPACT ON HEALTH FOR GAYS AND LESBIANS IN AMERICA: AN ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECT OF MARRIAGE ON HEALTH FOR THOSE IN SAME-SEX MARRIAGES AND SAME-SEX COHABITING RELATIONSHIPS USING 2016-2018 NHIS

DATA

A Dissertation

by

CHERYL P. ROLLMAN-TINAJERO

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Heili Pals
Co-Chair of Committee,	Dudley Poston, Jr.
Committee Members,	Chaitanya Lakkimsetti
	Maria Perez-Patron

Head of Department, Pat Rubio Goldsmith

May 2021

Major Subject: Sociology

Copyright 2021 Cheryl Rollman-Tinajero

ABSTRACT

A change in ability to enter into a same-sex marriage after the Supreme Court Ruling in 2015 allows for a closer examination of the impact of marriage on health for same-sex couples. The National Health Interview Survey that was conducted in the three years immediately following the legalization of same-sex marriage nation-wide included questions that identify those in same-sex marriages and same-sex cohabiting relationships. I extend what is known about the health behaviors, the health status, and same-sex marriage through an analysis of several health outcomes and risky behaviors. Results indicate that a selection effect may have taken place immediately after same-sex marriage was legalized with those in lower health categories marrying, possibly for the benefit of access to health care through spousal health insurance coverage.

Smoking status is the only health behavior that seems to immediately be positively impacted by marriage as those who are married have lower odds of being a smoker than those who cohabit. While lesbians who cohabit have lowest odds of having hypertension, I propose that after more time has passed lesbians who marry will experience higher levels of health and lower levels of risky behaviors. When this happens, we might see a Lesbian Paradox emerge in demographic health data where lesbians who marry lesbians experience higher levels of health and lower mortality risk than men who marry men, regardless of racial or SES background.

ii

DEDICATION

This body of work and the completion of the requirements for my doctoral degree are dedicated to anyone who has ever been told that they could not achieve their dreams, that they were not good enough or not smart enough. This is proof that the hardest of goals can be accomplished, perhaps even in spite of those who said it cannot be done. It is also dedicated to anyone who has ever had to work on their dreams during long commutes, in the spare moments of all their other life responsibilities, while missing out on fun with friends and family, in the dark moments of the night while everyone else is sleeping, and especially dedicated to those who work on their dreams in the cold of hospital corridors. Hard things can be done. This is proof. You can do it, too.

This is also dedicated to anyone who has ever felt like their life was a lie and who they were is not good enough or not "normal". Life is a rainbow and all of us are normal. There is room for every one of us and we all deserve to live, love and thrive.

Finally, this is dedicated to my favorite three people: Clair, Rowan and Greg.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee co-chairs, Dr. Pals and Dr. Poston, and my committee members Dr. Lakkimsetti and Dr. Perez-Patron for their guidance and support throughout the course of this research and in particular over the course of 2020 and the spring of 2021. The encouragement I received from them was invaluable in what would be one of the most difficult years of my academic life. I would like to specifically thank Dr. Pals for her constant reassurance that this work was within my abilities. I sincerely believe that I would not have completed this work without her mentorship. My gratitude is deep and sincere. She has made a lasting impact on my work, my confidence and my life.

Finally, I want to extend my appreciation to my wife and children for their encouragement, patience, love and consistent reminders that I needed to do my homework. (That was four things!)

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

This work was supervised by a thesis (or) dissertation committee consisting of Dr. Heili Pals, Dr. Dudley Poston, Jr. and Dr. Chaitanya Lakkimsetti of the Department of Sociology and Dr. Maria Perez-Patron of the Department of Public Health.

Funding Sources

Graduate study was supported by Texas Aggie Graduate Grant, and the TAMU Sociology Department Summer Research Assistantship Grant.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
 1.1. History of Same-Sex Marriage in the US 1.1.1. The First Same-Sex Marriage in the US 1.1.2. Same-Sex Marriage in Hawaii 1.1.3. The Defense of Marriage Act 1.2. Impact of Marriage on Health Among Opposite Sex Couples 1.3. Impact of Marriage on Same-Sex Couples 	2 3 5 8
2. SEXUAL ORIENTATION: UNDERSTANDING IT, DEFINING IT, AND MEASURING IT	15
 2.1. Sexual Orientation 2.1.1. Defining Sexual Orientation 2.1.2. Measuring Sexual Orientation 2.2. Conclusion	20 25 28
3. HYPOTHESIS, DATA AND METHODS	29
 3.1. Hypotheses	33 33 37 39 39
	-

3.4.3. Control Variables	
3.5. Statical Analysis and Software	44
4. RESULTS	47
4.1. Descriptive Results	
4.2. Regression Results	
4.2.1. Self-rated Health	
4.2.2. Hypertension Diagnosis	
4.2.3. Smoking Status	
4.2.4. Binge Drinking	
5. DISCUSSION	96
5.1. Discussion and Summary	
5.1.1. Significance	
5.2. Limitations	
5.3. Future Research	
5.4. Reflection	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Prevalence of Gay Men and Lesbians Age 18 and Over in NHIS Data in Section 3.
Table 2. Cell Count of Outcome Variables by Sex and Marital Status in Section 450
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics in Section 4
Table 3.1. Weighted Descriptive Statistics in Section 4
Table 4. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians in Section 4. 60
Table 5. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians in Section 4.
Table 6. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays in Section 4.
Table 7. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays in Section 4. 63
Table 8. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs CohabitingGays and Lesbians in Section 4
Table 9. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians in Section 4.
Table 10 Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs CohabitingGays in Section 4.69
Table 11. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays in Section 4. 70
Table 12. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians in Section 4. 74
Table 12.1. Predictied Probability of High Blood Pressure in Section 4
Table 13. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians in Section 4

Table 14.Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Gays in Section 4. 77
Table 15. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays in Section 4. 78
Table 16. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians in Section 4. 83
Table 17. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians in Section 4. 84
Table 18. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Gays in Section 4. 85
Table 18.1. Smoking Status and Income Category Unknown in Section 4. 86
Table 19. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays in Section 4. 87
Table 19.1. Smoking Status and Race: NH Black in Section 4
Table 19.2. Smoking Status and Income Category Unknown in Section 4. 88
Table 20. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Gays andLesbians in Section 4.91
Table 21. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians in Section 4.
Table 22. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Gays in Section4.93
Table 23. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays in Section 4.

1. INTRODUCTION

From the repeal of the Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA) in 2010 to the U.S. Supreme Court ruling in 2015 that legalized same-sex marriage nationwide, there are now opportunities to understand the impact of marriage for more than just heterosexual couples. The inclusion of same-sex relationship status options on national surveys such as the 2020 Census, the American Community Survey, the National Survey of Family Growth, and the National Health Interview Survey has opened the door for research on a national level on the impact of marriage for same-sex couples who have only recently been able to legally marry. While much has been written about the impact of marriage in the past, researchers now have the ability to search for answers to questions regarding the impact of marriage for those who are not in opposite-sex marriages. How will marriage impact the health outcomes for gays and lesbians? Is there a difference in the impact of marriage for those in male same-sex marriages when compared to those in female same-sex marriages? Will those in same-sex marriages differ in terms of health outcomes from those who are in same-sex cohabiting relationships? In this dissertation I undertake research that tests these questions. Specifically, I will test the question of whether or not there is a positive impact of marriage on health for same-sex couples when compared to same-sex couples who cohabit. I will also test whether married lesbians have higher self-ratings of health that married gay men. These questions and the answers to them will help to fill the gaps in literature on what is known about the impact of marriage for same-sex couples.

1

In chapter 1, I will first discuss the history of same-sex marriage in the US. Then I will give an overview of the marriage effect on health among opposite-sex couples. Finally, I will discuss what is known of the marriage effect on health among same-sex couples.

1.1. History of Same-Sex Marriage in the US

1.1.1. The First Same-Sex Marriage in the US

For same-sex couples in the United States, the changes in the state and federal laws have both created and removed barriers to family formation and recognition. Any discussion of same-sex marriage in the US needs to address these laws and the history of the struggle for marriage equality. The battle for same-sex marriage in America largely began in the 1970's when two men, Jack Baker and Michael McConnell applied for a marriage license in Minnesota where statutes did not explicitly outline that a wedding license could not be obtained by two men or by two women (MINN. STAT. § 517.01 (1971) (amended 1977)). Their argument was that "what is not forbidden is permitted" (McConnell, Baker and Karwoski 2016). Their application for marriage was denied and the resulting lawsuit was then appealed to Minnesota's Supreme Court (Baker v Nelson 1971). After exploring legal options, Jack suggested to Michael that adoption might be a loophole that would give the couple next of kin rights should one of them become ill or injured (McConnell, Baker and Karwoski 2016). After a quick adoption process where they were able to change their surnames to match and change Michael's first name to gender neutral Pat, the two applied for a marriage license in Blue Earth County, Minnesota. The two were legally married for more than 6 weeks when the Minnesota

Supreme Court ruled that same-sex marriages in Minnesota were prohibited (Cook and Shelly 2007). As the U.S. Constitution forbids the imposition of punishment for past conduct that was lawful at the time it in which was engaged, their marriage could not be invalidated and was, therefore, the first same-sex marriage in the United States (McConnell et al. v Blue Earth County et al. 2017).

1.1.2. Same-Sex Marriage in Hawaii

Another court battle began to unfold in Hawaii in the mid 1980's. After a lifetime of political activism and public service, Bill Woods fielded a phone call from Ninia Baehr at the Honolulu Gay and Lesbian Community Center. Baehr had been struggling with health issues and wanted to know if her partner's health insurance would cover her medical bills (Ryan 2000; Faderman 2015). After further discussions, Woods, with the planning committee for the first Honolulu Gay Pride Parade and Rally, prepared for a mass wedding of at least 30 couples at the festival in 1989 (Ryan 2000; Faderman 2015). While the mass wedding ultimately did not happen, one couple, Ninia Baehr and her partner Genora Dancel, along with two other couples, became the plaintiffs in Baehr v Lewin as they were denied marriage licenses in December of 1990 by the director of the Health Department, John Lewin (Ryan 2000; Faderman 2015). Bill Woods, in early 1991 approached Dan Foley, former legal director for the ACLU, Hawaii Chapter about the case (Ryan 2000). Woods convinced Foley to represent the couples and filed the complaint in May of 1991 (Baehr v Lewin, 74 Haw. 530 1993; Ryan 2000). The case was dismissed by the circuit court judge who reasoned that marriage was reserved strictly for heterosexuals for the betterment of the community, upholding the decision of

the state that marriage was intended to promote a positive environment for children (Faderman 2015). The plaintiffs appealed to the Hawaii Supreme Court who, in 1993, remanded the case back to lower courts as the State had failed to prove a compelling reason to enact a ban on same-sex marriage (Baehr v Lewin, 74 Haw. 530 1993; Ryan 2000; Clarkson-Freeman 2004; Faderman 2015).

The case was finally heard in 1996 as Baehr v Miike (the name changed when the new Director of the Health Department replaced Lewin) during which the State argued that same-sex couples were not suitable parents. The plaintiffs responded with expert testimony that no such evidence in fact existed (Ryan 2000; Sant'Ambrogio and Law 2011). During the trial, more than one witness for the State even admitted that gay and lesbian parents were doing well in raising children and that virtually no differences could be found in the developmental outcomes of children raised by same-sex couples as compared to the developmental outcomes of children raised by different-sex couples (Ryan 2000; Sant'Ambrogio and Law 2011). On December 3, 1996, Circuit Court Judge Change ruled that same-sex couples were equally competent as parents as different-sex couples and that the recognition of the relationship of the same-sex parents as legitimate and legal would actually be a benefit to the children of these couples (Baehr v Miike, 80 Haw. 341 910 P.2d 112 1996; Ryan 2000; Clarkson-Freeman 2004; Sant'Ambrogio and Law 2011; Faderman 2015). He ruled in favor of the plaintiffs and immediately issued a stay of proceedings while the case was sent to the Hawaii Supreme Court.

While all of this was unfolding in Hawaii, something very different was happening in Washington D.C.

1.1.3. The Defense of Marriage Act

On May 7th, 1996, House Bill 3396 was introduced to the US House of Representatives (H.R.3396 - 104th Congress (1995-1996): Defense of Marriage Act). The bill was in direct response to the Baehr v. Lewin lawsuit and the chance that Hawaii might become the first state to legalize same-sex marriages (H. Rpt. 104-664). Senate Majority Leader, Bob Dole, was running for President and immediately signed on to sponsor the bill in the Senate (Goldman 1998, Clarkson-Freeman 2004). The bill quickly made its way through the Republican controlled House and Senate and was signed in to law by President Bill Clinton on September 21st of 1996 (PL 104-199, 21 September 1996).

The bill was presented in two parts. First, it declared that no state was required to recognize a same-sex marriage performed in another state, thereby circumventing the Full Faith and Credit Clause of the U.S. Constitution (H. Rpt. 104-664). Secondly, it formally defined marriage as a legal union between one man and one woman, specifically two people of the opposite sexes and defined a spouse as someone who is legally married to a person of the opposite sex (H.R. 3396 - 104th Congress (1995-1996): Defense of Marriage Act; Ryan 2000; Clarkson-Freeman 2004; Sant'Ambrogio and Law 2011).

The Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA) effectively denied access to federal benefits for those who would eventually be able to marry. It also denied marriage recognition in the home state of those who would travel to other states where same-sex marriage became legal (Ryan 2000). The DOMA, essentially, created a legal limbo status for those who would eventually marry in the handful of states that allowed it and a "patchwork quilt of laws" pertaining to the various types of legally recognized relationships that varied from state to state (Simmons 2012).

Shortly after President Clinton signed the DOMA into law, the Hawaii case that set it off was sent to the Hawaii Supreme Court. The case would not be ruled on for another two years (Clarkson-Freeman 2004). In April of 1997 both houses of the Hawaii legislature passed a constitutional amendment reserving marriage for opposite sex couples (Somera 1999). The amendment was ratified in November of 1998 and the court ultimately ruled that the case was no longer relevant and it was dismissed (Somera 1999; Ryan 2000; Clarkson-Freeman 2004)

The campaign for marriage equality would not be stopped, however. Slowly states began to pass laws allowing same-sex marriage: starting with Massachusetts in 2004, then Connecticut in 2008, Iowa and Vermont in 2009, New Hampshire and the District of Columbia in 2010, New York in 2011, Maine, Maryland, and Washington in 2012 (Simmons 2012; Fasbinder et al. 2013). Then, in a landmark ruling, DOMA was overturned by the Supreme Court of the United States on United States v Windsor on June 26, 2013 (*United States* v. *Windsor*, 570 U. S. 744 (2013)). This granted federal recognition and benefits of those marriages that were obtained in states where same-sex marriages were allowed. It fell short, however, of granting access to marriage to same-sex couples across the nation. That would have to wait until 2015 when the Supreme Court ruled on Obergefell v Hodges (2015). This ruling immediately granted the ability for same-sex couples to legally marry across the United States. Since 2015 the social

acceptance of same-sex marriage has continued to rise, even in the face of legislation that can be considered a backlash on LGBT rights (Kazyak and Stange 2018; Pew Research Center 2019), and the cultural significance as well as the impact of marriage on health will be studied for years to come (Bernstein 2018). In that historic ruling Judge Kennedy wrote that marriage for same-sex couples was a fundamental right under the U.S. Constitution and that it safeguards families and offers stability and the denial of that right created a grave harm (Obergefell v. Hodges, 576 U.S. 644 2015).

To address what harms might come from the denial of access to marriage, researchers need to examine what benefit there may be in marriage. An increasing volume of research points that access to marriage is a matter of health (Buffie 2011; Tuller 2017). The fight for equality in marriage, and therefore equality in access to health care, after all, was a key part of the fight for gay males, lesbians and bisexuals to be seen as worthy of the same rights as their heterosexual counterparts. Access to health care, health insurance coverage, hospital spousal visitation, the ability to make emergency health care decisions for a spouse, and next-of-kin decisions are all generally granted to married heterosexual couples and yet they are things denied historically to same-sex couples (Ryan 2000). Just as the Hawaii lawsuit all began from a conversation about Ninia Baehr needing access to medical care, the fight for marriage equality was very much a fight for equality in health, access, and civil rights (Ryan 2000; Cook and Shelly 2007; Rocklin and Liang 2011). The question of how marriage impacts health for same-sex couples is still to be answered, however, as is the question of how marriage impacts female-female couples differently than male-male couples.

1.2. Impact of Marriage on Health Among Opposite Sex Couples

One of the most widely accepted beliefs about marriage is that it is good for the people who are married and that it is good for society (Waite and Gallagher 2000). The State of Hawaii built their entire case opposing same-sex marriage around the idea that marriage, for heterosexual couples, was good for the community (Baehr v Lewin, 74 Haw. 530, 1993). Those who marry are generally believed to eat better, take better care of themselves, exercise more, and live longer and more stable lives compared to those who do not marry (Gove 1973; Lasch 1977; Waite and Gallagher 2000, Guner, Kulikova and Llull 2018). Additionally, there is a decline in risk taking behaviors after marriage, which is an important positive impact of marriage on health (Sherbourne and Hays 1990). Marriage has been found to decrease the chance that one or both spouses will engage in behaviors that are in high health risk categories such as smoking, binge drinking, and using illegal drugs (Frech, Lynch, and Barr 2016; Guner, Kulikova, and Llull 2018). The health benefits of marriage even extend into widowhood as the positive effects last after the death of a spouse (Schone and Weinich 1998).

A connection between marriage and health and longevity was first observed by William Farr in 1858. Durkheim further documented the connection between marriage and longevity in his study on suicide, as those who were married committed suicide less often than those who were unmarried (1897). When researching the association between marriage and health and longevity, the advantages and disadvantages of marriage, three models are typically employed: 1) the marital resource model, 2) the stress model, and 3) the selection model.

8

Marital resource model stresses the availability of resources both physical and emotional, in marriage that cannot be obtained in other relationships such as pooling of finances, social and emotional support, and regulation of health habits (Ross, Mirowsky and Goldsteen 1990; Waite and Gallagher 2000). Marriage can provide specific benefits to those who are married in terms of psychological, social, and financial resources that lead to better health (Gove 1973; Ross, Mirowsky, and Goldsteen 1990; Coombs 1991; Waite and Gallagher 2000; Guner, Kulikova and Llull 2018).

It is important to note that some scholars argue marriage is not as beneficial to the self or the community as once thought, especially when considering the quality of the marriage (Robles 2014). The *stress model* argues that the stress from marriage dissolution is greater than the benefits on health realized in marriage (Williams and Umberson 2004). This model emphasizes the negative effects and impacts of ending a marriage through divorce, death of a spouse or separation which lead to differences in health and mortality between the married and unmarried (Lillard and Waite 1995; Williams and Umberson 2004, Liu 2009).

Finally, the *selection model* asserts that the health of a person determines whether they will select in or out of marriage (Goldman 1993). The selection model is based on the idea that those in good health with better life chances, higher socioeconomic statuses, and better health behaviors select in to marriage and those with poor health and lower life chances do not select in to marriage (Joung et al. 1998). This could explain the differences in health and mortality rates between the married and unmarried, however, Coombs (1991) found little support for the selection effect in a review of over 130 empirical studies on the relationship between health and marriage.

Regardless of the model used, marriage and health are intertwined. The benefits are not constant across all socioeconomic groups, races, and genders though (Simon 2002; Williams 2003). Men, historically, have benefited more from marriage than the women to whom they were married (Hemström 1996; Lillard and Waite 1995; Rogers 1995). Men receive greater social support than their wives (Umberson et al. 1996; Monin and Clark 2011). Women often take on the duties of caretaker not only of the household and children but of their husbands, thereby providing another benefit of marriage on the health of men (Hochschild and Machung 2012). It is, therefore, reasonable to hypothesize that if women are the reason that men benefit from heterosexual marriage, assuming equal access to healthcare and economic stability, women who marry women would be the beneficiaries of a wealth of support and better health. It is reasonable to theorize that same-sex married women would benefit more so than same-sex married men as there is reason to believe that all of these benefits will extend to all marriages even as the definition of marriage transforms to include same-sex couples (Frech, Lynch and Barr 2016; Brown, Manning, and Stykes 2015). Women experience benefits from marriage in terms of economic stability and access to health care, for example through access to health insurance (Pals and Waren 2014). This access to health insurance and therefore better access to healthcare may mean that women are economically tied to unhappy marriages. This dependency on a relationship or marriage for benefits that are

10

unattainable outside of a marriage may cause some women to stay in abusive relationships and limit the options for divorce for some (Broaddus 2020).

1.3. Impact of Marriage on Same-Sex Couples

While this research topic gained a lot of attention in the years since the repeal of the Defense of Marriage Act, there are still gaps in the research on risky behaviors and health and economic outcomes of those in same-sex marriages (Herek 2011; Reczek and Umberson 2012; Liu, Reczek, and Brown 2013; Umberson 2015). There has been some research undertaken to determine the quality of life and the life expectancy of married gay males and lesbians (Frisch and Brønunm-Hansen 2009), but few studies have outlined the differences in key outcomes of those in same-sex marriages compared to those in same-sex cohabiting relationships (see Wight, LeBlanc and Badgett 2013 for an example of one study of the mental health of same-sex married couples in California).

In recent years researchers have been starting to peel back the layers of complexity of how health is impacted by marriage for same-sex couples. While there are some similarities in the relationship between health and marriage among same-sex couples as with opposite-sex couples, there are also distinct differences. For married couples in same-sex, as in opposite sex marriages, women are more likely than men to manage or control their spouse's health, however this is more common with women in opposite-sex marriages than in same-sex marriages (Umberson, Donnelly and Pollitt 2018). Umberson, Donnelly and Pollitt also found that while men and women who were in same-sex marriages would employ indirect tactics to influence the health habits of their spouse, women were more likely than men to do so (2018). In addition to the differences in methods of control, they also found that same-sex couples were more likely to have similar health habits as opposed to opposite-sex couples who are more likely to have very dis-similar health habits.

Whether or not same-sex couples police the health habits of their spouses in the same ways or in different ways as opposite-sex couples, they are more likely than opposite-sex couples to come in to those relationships with a history of risky behaviors. Sexual stigma, stigma that is associated with sexual identities other than those which are heteronormative, is associated with negative behaviors of homosexuals as they "come out" and relearn their own identities and how they fit in to their own lives as well as their communities and the world. These behaviors may have lasting physical and mental health impacts (Herek 2007; Bruce and Harper 2011; Herek 2011; Frederick 2014). The more of this type of stigma a person is exposed to or internalizes, the higher the odds of elevated levels of risk behaviors later in life as well as at the time the sexual stigma is experienced (Herek 2007; Preston et al. 2007; Baiocco, Argalia and Laghi 2014).

Gays and lesbians are more likely than heterosexuals to binge drink, smoke, use illegal substances, and engage in other risky behaviors (King, Dube, Tynan 2013; Gonzales and Henning-Smith 2017; Fish, Hughes and Russell 2018; Cochran et al. 2004; Schuler, Stein and Collins 2019). These risky behaviors can cause or complicate health issues later in life (Fredriksen-Goldsen et al. 2012; Dai and Meyer 2019). The average age of individuals in same-sex relationships is slightly lower than the average age for opposite sex couples; 44.7 years for same-sex couples vs 49.6. years for opposite-sex couples (LGBT Demographic Data Interactive January 2019). The length of relationship before cohabitation or marriage is statistically the same for opposite and same-sex couples (Orth and Rosenfeld 2018). Thus, the risky behaviors mentioned are behaviors that exist in adulthood for sexual minorities. Schuler, Stein and Collins (2019) found that for gay and bisexual men as well as lesbians behaviors such as smoking, marijuana use, and illicit drug use (especially among gay and bisexual men) were higher across all age groups relative to same-aged heterosexual men and women. What is not known is whether or not these risky behaviors that are engaged in before marriage are mitigated by marriage and if the health impact is also mitigated (Du Bois, Legate and Kendall 2019).

Furthermore, while there are significant gaps in existent literature in health outcomes and same-sex marriage, there is research on the economic impact of same-sex relationships. Some of the earliest economic research that explored earnings and sexual orientation indicated a negative impact on earnings for gay men and, with the lesser confidence, for lesbians when compared to heterosexuals (Badgett 1995). More recent research, however, shows that the wage gap is narrowing for partnered gay men when compared to cohabiting heterosexual men (Allegretto and Arthur 2001). While society becomes more open and inclusive of non-heteronormative relationships researchers see changes in the economic impact of sexual orientation. For example, Cushing-Daniels and Yeung (2009) and Baumle and Poston (2011) found a wage premium instead of a penalty for lesbians compared to married heterosexual women in their research. This may be, at least in part, due to the lower likelihood of lesbians to work part time or exit and reenter the workforce than heterosexual women (Antecol, Jong, and Steinberger 2007; Baumle and Poston 2011). For these reasons, it could be speculated that without a wage penalty, partnered and married lesbians may have more disposable income that can be used to plan, prepare and intentionally create families in more stable financial environments.

Additionally, little research has been conducted on the impact of marriage for women who marry women as compared to men who marry men. Research on these topics will certainly allow greater insights as to how marriage may work to impact quality of life and may well identify a "lesbian paradox" wherein women who marry women benefit more than men who marry men. This also might mean that women who marry women will therefore live longer than men who marry men, and will live longer than lesbians who cohabit with but do not marry women. It is of great sociological and demographic importance to determine if there are advantages to one group over another in same-sex marriage.

2. SEXUAL ORIENTATION: UNDERSTANDING IT, DEFINING IT, AND MEASURING IT

In this chapter I will: 1) discuss how sexual orientation and sexual minority status is understood and impacted through interactions in society and; 2) detail how sexual orientation is measured in various surveys. I will then outline how these measurements will inform the decision on who is included in the sample for this research.

2.1. Sexual Orientation

Sexuality and sexual orientation are understood through interactions, selfidentification, and social expectations of performance (Laumann et al. 1994). Using social psychology we are better able to understand the creation and fluctuation of sexual orientation in different settings. We are also able to determine how society views those orientations, how social value is determined and how status is impacted by deviating from the "normal." A great deal of social psychological research has been conducted examining sexual stigma and the experiences of sexual minorities and the negative stereotype(s) associated with minority sexual status (Herek 2009).

Stigma is the resulting condition or status as a result of receiving negative messages from others (Goffman 1963). A person with stigma is considered different from the normal or what is expected exhibits characteristics which are undesirable. This makes those with stigma considered "bad" or unwanted by the majority of society (Goffman 1963). This fundamentally negatively establishes someone's social capital as well as their social status (Goffman 1963; Herek 2011). This lower status limits a person's access to power and resources enjoyed by those with high levels of status and capital. The lowered social status and the lack of access can create poor mental health habits and contribute to self-loathing and, at the very least, can lead to reduced selfesteem (Herek 2011). The actions taken by "normals" (Goffman 1963: 5) can restrict and otherwise impede the life chances of those who are stigmatized

In this section, I will explore two different social psychological theories that help us better understand the stigma associated with non-heterosexual sexual orientation through stereotypes, and status: Status Characteristics Theory and Stereotype Content Model.

To begin, social psychology connects stereotypes, orientation and status through status characteristics theory (Childers 2000). This theory is used to describe how a person comes to judge their own performance and the performances of others through a set of master status characteristics. These characteristics may be gender, race, sex, educational level, career or even level of attractiveness. We judge others based on the comparison of our status characteristics to theirs (Berger and Zelditch 1993). Through social interaction and the use of prescriptive stereotypes, what a person should be like and how they should behave, and proscriptive stereotypes, what a person should *not* be like and how they should *not* behave, we develop expectations of performance that can guide our understanding of sexual orientation (Prentice and Carranza 2002; Mize 2015). People judge the performance of orientation by others and form their ideas of sexual orientation based on social interactions. These interactions guide an individual to create a mental concept of themselves, an identity, in comparison to others and use past experiences and interactions to judge the identity of others.

Status characteristics theory focuses on how ideas of status are created through interactions (Berger et al. 1977). Individuals form ideas of each other through various interactions and these ideas inform opinions of ability, performance and attitudes about behavior and expected behaviors (Foddy and Smithson 1996). There are two types of status characteristics in this theory: diffuse and specific. Diffuse characteristics are based on general status such as gender, race, and sexual orientation, whereas specific focuses on specific abilities related to a given task, job, or situation. Together, diffuse and specific characteristics give a clear outline of performance expectations (Berger et al. 1977). Berger and coauthors suggest that racial groups, gender and education are types of diffuse characteristics where things such as ability in certain areas such as math and science or baking and artistry would be specific status characteristics. Diffuse characteristics are stronger than are specific characteristics (Berger et al. 1977).

Diffuse status characteristics theory is particularly of interest as sexual orientation is often recognized by others in terms of performance, as is gender (Grimes 2016). Webster, Hysom, and Fullmer (1998) found support of the theory that sexual orientation is a diffuse status characteristic in U.S. culture: respondents have differing performance expectations of gays and lesbians. They found that the respondent's views of gays and lesbians were influenced by the respondent's preconceived ideas of what and who gays and lesbians were and their lower status in the heteronormative hierarchy. This influenced what the respondents thought the capabilities of gays and lesbians, compared to heterosexuals, should be. Essentially, the idea of what and who a gay or lesbian could and should be was intertwined with the respondents' ideas of the placement of gays and lesbians in a heteronormative hierarchy for careers, social status, income, and success. Those ideas influenced the respondent's expectations of the men and women in the study, though it was more pronounced for the male respondents in the survey than females (Webster, Hysom, and Fullmer 1998). To measure this, they measured the expectation formation for pairs of vignettes – the vignettes differed only on sexual orientation. One pair was contrasting a heterosexual male to a gay male, the other pair was contrasting a heterosexual woman to a lesbian woman. They found that while both male and female participants had lower performance expectations of lesbian women compared to heterosexual women, only male participants evaluated the performance expectations of gay men lower than that of heterosexual men. Similar conclusion is made also by Childers' re-analysis of these original results (2000). Webster, Hysom and Fullmer (1998) also found that sexual orientation, indeed, acts as a status characteristic, even among urban population. The performance expectations of a gay dishwasher were lower than the performance expectation of a dishwasher whose sexual orientation was not revealed.

Using status characteristics theory, we may see that sexual orientation can have positive or negative values based on cultural beliefs of worth and capability (Childers 2000; Mize 2015). Further complicating the impact of status characteristics theory on the status of gays and lesbians is the stereotype associated with being a gay man because gay men experience a larger negative impact than do lesbians (Johnson 1995). If sexual orientation is a status characteristic in the U.S., then it affects those in the minority sexual orientation through everyday interactions. In the health field, for example, in interactions with doctors. Doctors might have lower health performance and health maintenance expectations of non-heterosexuals and, therefore, their complaints and explanations might not be taken as seriously as those of a heterosexual patient. Similarly, when advocating for one's partner, a same-sex partner might not be taken as seriously as an opposite-sex partner (because of the lower performance expectations of gays and lesbians).

Another way that we see connections in stereotypes, orientation and status is through the Stereotype Content Model (Mize 2015). The stereotype content model argues that all group stereotypes, identified by a society or culture, are arranged in a hierarchy that emphasizes the combination of warmth and competence (Mize 2015). For example, a society may view female politicians as competent but lacking warmth and view them with pity or contempt while they view male politicians as warm and competent and view them with admiration. Mize (2015) has undertaken extensive research using this model and was able to predict stereotypes of those with nonheterosexual orientations based on the beliefs and cultural understanding of sexuality and social status. Mize and Manago (2018) found that even as gay men and lesbians are stereotyped negatively when compared to heterosexuals, bisexuals are stereotyped differently and even more negatively. Their results suggest that all sexual minorities are seen as less positive than heterosexuals, and that status groups based on orientation are seen as stereotyped with distinct undesirable characteristics. For example, they found that gay men are seen as less competent in the workplace than heterosexual men, and

that lesbians are seen as cold when compared to heterosexual women. These results, using the SCM model, show that even if a stereotype is not believed, all members of a society are consciously and unconsciously influenced by the stereotypes associated with a particular social group.

There is a great deal of research on the intersection of gender, orientation, and sex (Baumle, Compton and Poston 2009; Laumann et al. 1994; Grimes 2016; Michales 2013; Poston and Chang 2015; Durso and Gates 2013; Chandra, Copen and Mosher 2013). Additionally, there is a great deal of research on the intersection of orientation, stereotypes and sexual stigma (Laumann, Gagnon, Michael 1994; Laumann et al. 1994; Gates 2013, Gates and Ost 2004). We need more research in the areas of gender, orientation and positive or negative impacts of sexual stereotypes in order to better understand the different experiences of gays and lesbians in the U.S. Attention has recently been given to this area that indicates that the experiences of all LGB Americans are not shared experiences (Mize 2015). This dissertation will help shed light on how their experiences and outcomes differ and possibly on how stereotypes are changing and how status in America, based on sexual orientation, is also changing.

2.1.1. Defining Sexual Orientation

Now I will discuss and expand upon what is known about different sexual orientations and how they have been defined and measured over time. I will go into some detail in this section about what is not known about how sexual orientation varies and a few of the ways it can be defined. The majority of this section will rely upon landmark research on social understanding of sexuality conducted, by Laumann et al. (1994) as well as the research on asexuality by Anthony Bogaert (2012).

Bogaert identified seven dimensions of sexuality in his work on asexuality: attraction, arousal, behavior, cognition, desire, identity and pleasure.

Romantic Attraction and sexual attraction are closely related and at times, intertwined and one may influence the development of the other (Diamond 2003, Bogaert 2012). Diamond outlined romantic attraction and love as a feeling of emotional attachment that is associated with pair-bonding (2003). Romantic attachment and attraction, therefore, refers to the attraction experienced to those with whom a person may fall in love. Sexual attraction, by contrast, refers to the lust or physical attraction one experiences. Bogaert equates this with sexual orientation (2012, 11). While romantic and sexual attraction are closely related, they are not always seen as overlapping as in instances of asexuality where romantic attraction may exist, but sexual attraction does not.

Arousal refers to the physical aspect of sexual response, such as the genital response to sexual thoughts or a physical touch. It refers mainly to bodily responses such as the engorgement of a penis or vaginal lubrication. Since a physical reaction occurs due to arousal, it is the one dimension of sexuality that can be measured, and has been, extensively, starting with Kurt Freund who developed the phallometric method wherein a device that was placed around the penis to measure changes in blood flow (1991). Later the vaginal photoplethysmography, method was developed wherein a device that was designed to be inserted into a vagina to detect changes in genital blood flow in women (Palti and Bercovici 1967). There is, of course, a more subjective version of measurement when it comes to arousal, which is how a person feels when aroused (Bogaert 2012, 15). A sense of arousal, or how a person feels, is generally accepted as a reliable indicator of arousal though physical responses of arousal and psychological arousal do not always line up for women (Heiman 1977).

Behavior, it would seem, is a simple and reliable measurement of sexual identity. However, that is not always the case. What a person does is not always what a person wants to do, and instead it is sometimes a compromise between sexual partners (Bogaert 2012, 18). For example, what two spouses may do sexually may be driven by the desires of one partner while the other partner acquiesces or compromises in order to be a loving and supportive spouse. Likewise, a person may not have access to sexual partners or be constrained socially into behaving in ways that they do not find satisfactory as in the case of teenagers with parents who disapprove of adolescent sexual encounters, those who abstain from sex completely before marriage, or those who choose celibacy for religious purposes.

The dimension of cognition refers to the processing of information and knowledge about sexual scripts or the rehearsal of those scripts. To put it simply, this refers to what a person thinks about when they think about sexual activities or sexual fantasies.

Desire is the next dimension identified by Bogaert as an important measure of sexuality. Rosen (2000) defined it as a feeling of wanting to have or at least receptive to a sexual encounter with a partner and/or the fantasizing or thinking about sex. Bogaert

demonstrates how desire is related to all the above mentioned dimensions but also can stand alone when "decoupled" from biological aspects such as hormones (an increase in testosterone in women or a decrease of it in men). When these biological aspects were controlled for in conversion therapy, attraction to men or women didn't intensify or diminish, but desire, or sex drive, did (Bogaert 2012, 21).

Sexual Identity refers to the label a person uses to express their own identity. While Bogart agrees that using a persons' self identity is the most respectful way to define said persons' sexuality, he argues that it might not be the most accurate. He asserts that it does not take in to account the level of comfort in "coming out", the knowledge of all available labels and orientations, as well as other political and social factors (Bogaert 2012, 23).

Finally, Bogaert discusses the final dimension of sexuality: pleasure. He does not go in to lengthy discussion of pleasure as a completely stand alone aspect of sexuality though he does hypothesis that pleasure can be derived by a heterosexual man looking at a beautiful woman without every engaging her in as much as a conversation.

Historically, sexual orientation has been understood by social science researchers in terms of self-reported *sexual identity* as other measures are not easily discerned from nationally representative surveys such as the Decennial Census. When possible, data that also include the two additional dimensions of *behavior* and *sexual attraction* are said to give a better representation of sexual orientation (Laumann et al. 1994; Baumle, Compton and Poston 2009; Poston and Chang 2015). This triangulated definition of sexual orientation would identify someone as gay or lesbian if they had ever had sexual contact with another member of the same sex, and/or if they identified as gay or lesbian, that is not heterosexual or straight, and/or if they answered "mostly attracted" or "only attracted" to members of the same sex (Center for Disease Control and Prevention 2015). This conceptualization of sexual orientation excludes bisexuals and excludes those who consider their sexuality to be more fluid than static. It also excludes other identities such as asexuals, pansexuals, those who consider themselves to be heteroflexible and so forth.

Also excluded in the so-called trifecta of sexual orientation is the determination of orientation based on partnership. Many researchers have only been able to establish sexual orientation based on the sex of the respondent and the sex of the partner or spouse on national surveys such as the Decennial Census, the American Community Study and other Census-like surveys. However, this can lead to measurement errors. In the case of the 1990 Census, the sex of the spouse or partner was changed if it otherwise would have indicated a same-sex spousal relationship (O'Connell and Lofquist 2009). In the 2010 Census another measurement error was discovered. The confusing placement of options for marital status was attributed to high rates of heterosexual couples being counted as same-sex couples based on sex of partner and partnership status (Demaio, Bates and O'Connell 2013).

Excluding all these different orientations creates problems in the accurate analysis of those who consider themselves to be anything except heterosexual. For this reason, I will restrict my analytical research to just those respondents who self-identify as gay men or lesbians who are cohabiting or married to a same sex partner. I cannot assume that the experiences of bisexuals married to or cohabiting with opposite sex partners are the same as the experiences of bisexuals married to or cohabit with samesex partners.

2.1.2. Measuring Sexual Orientation

Sexual orientation has been historically difficult to measure empirically in the United States and elsewhere because the gay and lesbian population has been largely unseen and difficult to survey despite living and loving openly in society (Fassinger 1991; Maisel and Fingerhut 2011). Data collection on this population has been difficult in particular as there are multiple reasons that might cause a non-heterosexual to decline to disclose sexual identity and therefore not be represented in surveys or studies of the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) communities (Herek 2009; Maisel and Fingerhut 2011). Sexual minorities are at a greater risk of sexual stigma with, sometimes, dire consequences ranging from psychological distress to forming negative feelings about their own identity and worth, resulting from their admitting their sexual orientation (Herek 2011). The lack of representation through surveys at local, state and national levels makes this population extremely difficult to understand as representation is necessary, for successful, generalizable, research (Peplau and Fingerhut 2007; Dee 2008; Maisel and Fingerhut 2011).

Previous studies have, generally, utilized data from small samples (Dee 2008), samples from countries where same-sex marriage has been a legal option longer than it has been in America (Baiocco, Argalia and Laghi 2014), or researchers used qualitative methods, many using a snowball methodology where the results are not generalizable (Rostosky et al. 2007).

There have been steps taken in national surveys such as the National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG) to increase the confidentiality and thereby increase the levels of accurate responses to questions regarding sexual identity using techniques such as Computer Assisted Personal Interview (CAPI) and Audio Computer Assisted Self Interviewing (ACASI). These techniques allow the respondent to answer the most sensitive, taboo or controversial questions read to them by a computer program in the absence of the interviewer (Lepkowski et al. 2010). This is thought to increase confidence in the respondent with respect to the anonymity of the responses and increase accuracy in the answers, though the placement of many of the questions asked in the ACASI section is controversial in itself.

Some demographers familiar with the impact of stigma on behavior have argued that the inclusion of questions on sexual identity, behavior and attraction in the same sections with questions pertaining to experiences with unwanted sexual activity and drug use tends to increase the stigma of sexual minorities (Badgett and Goldberg 2009). The placement of the questions on sexual identity, behavior and attraction in the section asking the most "sensitive" of questions, adds to the message that non-heterosexual identities are not normal identities. There is a growing body of literature outlining better options for the placement of these questions that will, if not reduce the stigma associated with being a sexual minority, begin to normalize the question itself (Badgett and Goldberg 2009; Cain 2012).

26

I expect that there will continue to be an increase in the numbers of nonheterosexuals represented in the national surveys, year over year, especially since the year of 2015 when same-sex marriage was legalized nationwide. As of 2018, the estimation of the LGBT population had risen to 4.5% from 3.5 in 2012 (Newport 2018). It is likely that if all the different conceptualizations of sexual minorities (bisexuals, asexuals, etc. in addition to gays and lesbians) and the different types of measurements (identity, behavior, attraction, and relationship) are taken into account, the actual proportion of non-heterosexuality might come close to the 10% estimated by Kinsey (1948).

It is possible that with the legalization and social acceptance of same-sex marriage, we will begin to see the reduced levels of sexual stigma for those with non-heterosexual identities (Gorton 2011). Experiences of sexual stigma may steadily decrease in America, and with it, levels of risky behavior that lead to poor health. This has important implications for the quality of lives for all those who consider themselves to be gay, that is not straight, or not exclusively heterosexual, in and out of marriage. We well may see risky behaviors of those in sexual minorities decrease and levels of HIV also decrease accordingly (Preston et al. 2007). The increase in quality of life for sexual minorities may then lead to higher rates of selection into same-sex marriage as legal status may confer and reinforce a sense of normalization. An increase in quality of life and then possibly marriage should, therefore, show an increase in health status. Chapter 1 covered, at length the relationship between marriage and health not only in terms of access but spousal monitoring of health habits as well. As men are historically the beneficiary of this spousal support in marriage (Umberson, Donnelly and Pollitt 2018), it is my position that women who marry women will experience this health boost more than men who marry men and that both groups, married and cohabiting, will experience these health boosts differently.

2.2. Conclusion

In conclusion, sexual orientation has been historically difficult to research. Given the amount of stigma associated with a non-heterosexual orientation or identity that can impact many aspects of a person's wellbeing and overall life, it is easy to understand why this marginalized population has hidden in the data closet for so long. I predict that with the reduction in negative stereotypes and increased acceptance and therefore in status of homosexuals the crucial answer to whether or not women benefit more from same-sex marriage in terms of health can be detected. In the following chapters I will detail the research I have conducted in an attempt to begin to answer this, and other, sociologically and demographically important questions.

3. HYPOTHESIS, DATA AND METHODS

Research comparing same-sex cohabiting and opposite-sex married individuals finds lower levels of self-reported health for cohabiting gays and lesbians (Liu, Reczek and Brown 2013). Furthermore, research has found, in general, that women tend to selfrate their health lower than do men (Gorman and Read 2006). Additionally, more recent research shows that sexual minorities have stratified levels of self-rated health with bisexuals having significantly lower levels of health than gay men and lesbians (Conron, Mimiaga and Landers 2010; Veenstra 2011; Gorman et al. 2015). However, there is not much research on how being married affects the health of those who are in same-sex partnerships. This research seeks to fill that gap.

In this chapter, I first outline the hypotheses I will be testing. Then I discuss the data and sample I used in my research. I next describe and define my independent and dependent variables. I end the chapter with a discussion of the statistical methods employed in my research.

3.1. Hypotheses

H1: Those in same-sex marriages have higher self-ratings of health than those in same-sex cohabiting relationships.

My first research hypothesis is that those in same-sex marriages have higher selfratings of health than those in same-sex cohabiting relationships. With this hypothesis I will be testing whether there is a positive relationship between marital status and selfreported health status. The validity and usefulness of self-reported health as a measure of actual health has been questioned due to correlations with mental illness (Mechanic 1980). However, the argument against using self-reported health as a valid measure is due to a possible over reporting of negative health status that are associated with mental illness such as fatigue, depression, and anxiety. Nevertheless, self-rated health is considered a robust predictor of actual health status and mortality (Idler and Benjamin 1997). Furthermore, self-rated health is found to be closely associated with doctors' diagnoses (Jenkins et al. 1980; Orts et al. 1995). It is a widely accepted measure of an individual's general health and is a reliable predictor of survival in populations even when controlling for known health risk factors (Rogers, Hummer and Nam 2000).

Research on relationships and health outcomes informs us that those in marriages, be they same-sex or opposite-sex marriages, often fare better than those who cohabit (Waite and Gallagher 2000; Waite and Leher 2003; Cherlin 2013). For this reason, we should see that those in same-sex marriages will have higher levels of selfrated health than those in same-sex cohabiting relationships.

H2: Those in female-female same-sex marriages have higher self-ratings of health than those in male-male same-sex marriages.

My second hypothesis is that those in female-female same-sex marriages have higher self-ratings of health than those in male-male same-sex marriages. In this hypothesis I will examine whether women who marry women benefit more from marriage than do men who marry men. As noted in chapter 1, women in same-sex marriages are more likely than men in same-sex marriages to manage or control their spouse's health either with direct or indirect tactics (Umberson, Donnelly and Pollitt 2018). If women, more than men, police and manage the behavior of their spouses in same-sex as well as opposite-sex marriages, this should lead to higher self-ratings of health for women in same-sex relationships than for men in same-sex relationships.

For my other hypotheses, I shift the dependent variable from self-rated health to specific health outcomes or health risk variables. As physical health can be measured in many ways, from a doctor's rating of a patient's health to self-reported health and then biological markers such as hypertension, they are often included in research on marital quality and health for those who are married (Robles 2014). Furthermore, research has shown that those identifying as a sexual minority are at greater risk of hypertension and problem drinking as well as other risk factors as a result of possible self-medicating strategies used to deal with issues related to minority status (Cooper, Russell and George 1988; Dermody et al. 2014; Frost, Levavot and Meyer 2015). Using specific health risk variables will allow for a deeper analysis of health beyond just self-rated health, by marital status and type of same-sex relationships, either female/female or male/male.

Frech, Lynch, and Barr (2016) found that residential same-sex cohabitation, especially for women, is associated with better cardiovascular health. Due to the legal limitations on same-sex marriage at the time of their study, they were unable to study whether or not the result would apply to those in same-sex marriages (Frech, Lynch and Barr 2016). With the SCOTUS ruling in 2015 allowing for same-sex marriages, such health outcomes can now be examined. That leads me to my third hypothesis, that those in same-sex marriages have lower incidences of high blood pressure than those in samesex cohabiting relationships. Here I will examine whether those who choose to marry benefit from marriage in terms of lower rates of hypertension.

H3: Those in same-sex marriages have lower incidences of high blood pressure than those in same-sex cohabiting relationships.

In my fourth hypothesis, I will examine whether women who marry women benefit more from marriage, in terms of lower incidences of hypertension, than do men who marry men. Existing research indicates that women, specifically women who are pre-menopausal, have lower blood pressure than men at the same age (Yanes and Reckelhoff 2011). Marriage, for heterosexual men, also seems to have protective factors, as never married men have higher risks for developing hypertension while women who are married to men have higher risks for hypertension than never married or widowed women (Ramezankhani, Azizi, and Hadaegh 2019). If marriage to someone of the opposite sex, for women, is a risk factor for developing hypertension, then perhaps women who are married to women have lower risk of developing hypertension. My fourth hypothesis, therefore, is that those in female-female same-sex marriages will have lower incidences of high blood pressure than those in male-male same-sex marriages.

H4: Those in female-female same-sex marriages have lower incidences of high blood pressure than those in male-male same-sex marriages.

In my fifth and final hypothesis, I will analyze whether marriage for same-sex couples has a protective effect on health through examination of risky behaviors when compared to cohabiting same-sex couples. A wealth of research indicates that smoking is more prevalent in sexual minority populations than among the general population and among heterosexuals (Stall et al. 1999; Valanis et al. 2000; Aaron et al. 2001; Cochran et al. 2001; Gruskin et al. 2001; Tang et al. 2004; Greenwood et al. 2005; Conron, Mimiaga and Landers 2010). Similarly, gay men and lesbians are more likely than heterosexuals to engage in heavy drinking (Nawyn et al. 2000; Valanis et al. 2000; Gruskin et al. 2001). However, research indicates that those in opposite-sex marriages are less likely to smoke or binge drink than those who are unmarried or those who cohabit (Umberson 1992; Li et al. 2010). My fifth hypothesis, therefore, is that those in same-sex marriages are less likely than those in same-sex cohabiting relationships to engage in binge drinking or to smoke cigarettes.

H5: Those in same-sex marriages are less likely to be engaging in the risky behaviors of binge drinking and smoking than those in same-sex cohabiting relationships.

3.2. Methodology

3.2.1. Marriage Data and Sample

While the National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG) is well suited for identifying and analyzing sexual orientation based on the trifecta of sexual orientation, it is not well suited for identifying patterns in same-sex marriage. The current wave of publicly available data that would include respondents in same-sex marriages and samesex cohabiting relationships following the repeal of the Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA) in 2013 and after the Supreme Court decision on marriage equality in June of 2015 (Obergefell Et Al. v. Hodges 2015), omits legally married same-sex couples. While sexual orientation and self-reported identity can be used to identify those who are in same-sex relationships, the cell counts for those who are married are so small that they are not released publicly due to disclosure risk. For these reasons, I use the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), 2016-2018 to compare the health outcome indicators of those age 18 and above in same-sex marriages and same-sex cohabiting relationships. By doing this I will examine how and if gays and lesbians benefit from marriage, as compared to those who cohabit, and how this effect differs between men and women.

The purpose of the NHIS is to provide a broad range of information on health topics in order to identify health trends in the population of the U.S. The NHIS is a national health survey conducted by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. This survey has been conducted continuously since 1957 and releases data annually. The expected annual sample size is approximately 35,000 households containing approximately 87,500 individuals (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2015). The data are collected via interviews conducted by roughly 600 Census Bureau employees through computer assisted personal interviewing (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2017). The current household sample design does not oversample any race, ethnic, or sexual orientation groups. However, there is a higher probability that those over 65 years old will be selected for participation.

	Ga	y Men	L	esbians
Year	#	% of men	#	% of women
2013	2,000	1.8%	1,729	1.5%
2014	2,097	1.9%	1,659	1.4%
2015	2,046	1.8%	1,724	1.4%
2016	1,854	1.6%	1,724	1.4%
2017	2,307	2.0%	1,987	1.6%
2018	2,250	1.9%	1,705	1.4%

Table 1. Prevalence of Gay Men and Lesbians Age 18 and Over in NHIS Data.

Note: Current study uses years 2016-2018.

The question regarding sexual orientation in the NHIS has remained the same in each of the survey waves since it was introduced in 2013. The question is worded as follows: "Which of the following best represents how you think of yourself?". The answer choices have also remained the same in each of the surveys. For men, the choices are "gay", "straight, that is, not gay", "bisexual", "something else", "I don't know the answer", "refused", "not ascertained". The answer choices for women are only different in the first two answer choices. They are "lesbians or gay" and "straight, that is, not lesbian or gay". The survey for 2013 captured data representing 2,000 gay men (1.8% of all men surveyed) and 1,729 lesbians (1.5% of all women surveyed). In 2014, 2,097 men identified as gay making up 1.9% of all men surveyed, and 1,659 women identified as lesbians representing 1.4% of all women surveyed. In 2015 the numbers changed very little with 2,046 gay men representing 1.8% of all men surveyed and 1,724 lesbians making up 1.4% of all women surveyed. The numbers representing gays and lesbians went down in 2016 with 1,854 gay men representing 1.6% of all men surveyed and 1,724 lesbians representing 1.4% of all women surveyed. In 2017 and 2018 there was an increase in representation of gay men in the survey with 2,307 gay men representing 2.0% of all men surveyed in 2017 and 2,250 in 2018 representing 1.9% of all men surveyed. The numbers stayed largely the same for women in 2017 and 2018 with lesbians making up 1,987 (1.6%) and 1,705 (1.4%) respectively.

I will be using the 2016, 2017, and 2018 waves of the NHIS. These waves of data are especially important because they are the first to include same-sex marriages after the Supreme Court ruling in 2015 made marriage accessible for all Americans

(Obergefell Et Al. v. Hodges 2015). The survey for those years asked the sex, sexual orientation, and marital status of the respondent. It asked the same questions for the spouse or partner of the respondent. Using these answers I was able to determine if a man who identified as gay or a woman who identified as a lesbian was married to or cohabiting with a partner of the same sex. For those that indicated that they were married but not living with their spouse, the gender of the spouse could not be determined and so those respondents were excluded from the study. Using this method, I was able to identify 123 gay men who were cohabiting with another man who was identified as their partner, and 118 who were married to another man. I was able to identify 119 cohabiting lesbians who indicated that their partner was a woman and 153 who were married to another woman. This will be my analytical sample. I have excluded those who identified as bisexual as research indicates that the health outcomes for bisexuals can be largely different than for lesbians and gay men (Lindley, Walsemann and Carter 2012; Sabia 2014; Gorman et al. 2015; Mize 2015).

3.3. Sample Selection

To test the hypotheses stated above, I need to be able to compare married gays and lesbians in a same-sex marriage to cohabiting gays and lesbians in a same-sex cohabitation. This is possible in 2016-2018 NHIS data, but not straightforward. I explain the procedure for this below.

NHIS organizes its data in Person and Sample Adult files. The Person File variables are made up from the Family Core section of the NHIS. This information is collected for all household members and includes variables regarding sex, race, ethnicity, birthdate, age, and relationship of person in the roster to household and family reference person. The Sample Adult File includes information about one adult age 18 or order in the household. The variables in this section include sex, age and birthdate for validation as well as variables pertaining to health conditions and health behaviors. These variables include cigarette use, alcohol consumption and sexual orientation. Thus the Sample File contains my main outcome variables.

First, I used a 1:1 merge to combine the Person and Sample Adult files for each of the years of interest. This allowed me to use the self-identification question from the Sample Adult File regarding sexual orientation to identify those who consider themselves to be gay or lesbian men or women. Sexual orientation is measured by a survey question "Which of the following best represents how you think of yourself?" The orientation options are "Lesbian or gay", "Straight, that is, not lesbian or gay", "Bisexual", "Something else", "I don't know the answer", "Refused", and "Not ascertained". I used those who answered "lesbian or gay" to begin to identify my sample.

Next, I wanted to see whether gays and lesbians are cohabiting or married to same-sex partners, because it is conceivable that someone self-identifies as gay or lesbian, but is still married or cohabiting with an opposite-sex partner. Since the basic information on all the people in the family who live in the same place is provided in the Persons file, I was able to ascertain the gender of the partner from that file. For that, I first combined all Persons files across three years. I linked the partner to the respondent and the gender of the partner from that file (partnersex). In the Sample Adult file there exists a variable identifying the number of the person in the family who is Sample Adult's spouse or partner. Using that number, I merged in the data from Persons file. Thus, I ended up with the original Sample Adult sample size, but with an additional variable (partnersex) that indicates the gender of the spouse or partner.

A respondent who identified as lesbian or gay, and also indicated that their partner or spouse was of the same sex and resided in the same household was included in the sample. While many of those persons excluded from this study may fall into the gay or lesbian category based on the remaining dimensions of sexuality, the data in the NHIS allow for self identification to be used. One might expect that behavior can be assumed based on self identification and the gender/sex category but without knowing what sexual activities are engaged in, the dimension of behavior, along with attraction, pleasure, desire, cognition, and arousal cannot be employed. However, the dimension of self identification along with the measures taken to exclude those who can easily be identified as not strictly homosexual allow for a robust examination of the health outcomes of gays and lesbians in same-sex relationships. There are a total of 268 lesbians and 237 gay men included in the study.

3.4. Variables

3.4.1. Main Independent Variables

The main independent variables in this study are self reported sex (males or females) and whether or not the respondent is in a same-sex marriage or in a same-sex cohabiting relationship. Of the 268 married or cohabiting lesbians in the study, 152 are in same-sex marriages and 119 are in same-sex cohabiting relationships. Of the 237 gay

men included in the study, there are 114 in same-sex marriages and 123 in same-sex cohabiting relationships. These data can be seen in Table 2.

3.4.2. Outcome Variables

I am using 4 distinct dependent variables to measure various dimensions of health: 1) self-rated health; 2) high blood pressure; 3) smoking; and 4) binge drinking. Self-rated health is measured by a survey question "Would you say your health in general is excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor?" The health status options are "excellent", "very good", "good", "fair" and "poor". Reverse recoding of this variable was done with lower values indicating worse health. Eleven are in the category of poor health, 47 have fair health, 114 have good health, 180 have very good health and 153 consider their health to be excellent.

The next outcome variable is high blood pressure. The survey question is originally worded as "Have you EVER been told by a doctor or other health professional that you had... Hypertension, also called high blood pressure?" with answer choices of "no" and "yes". A response indicating no history or present diagnosis of high blood pressure is coded as 0 and a 1 indicates is a history or a present diagnosis of such illness. After these coding measures were taken, 363 did not ever have a diagnosis of high blood pressure and 142 did.

The next two variables are those dealing with health risk behaviors, smoking and excessive drinking. NHIS is measuring smoking by asking whether or not the respondent has smoked 100 cigarettes over the course of their lives. Those who answered no, were considered non-smokers. Those who have smoked 100 cigarettes, but are not smoking

any more are also coded as non-smokers. Those who said they had smoked 100 cigarettes in their lives and also smoke currently either "every day" or "some days" were coded as smokers. A total of 416 respondents in my sample are non-smokers and 89 are smokers.

The final outcome variable deals with alcohol consumption. The variable identifies respondents stating they have had more than 4 or 5 drinks on average at a time when they were drinking in the last 30 days. The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, a branch of the National Institutes of Health, defines binge drinking as more than 4 drinks for women and more than 5 drinks for men in a given drinking session. I created a dichotomous variable to represent binge drinking where 0 represents less than 5 drinks for men and 4 drinks for women and 1 represents more than 4 or 5 drinks, depending on the sex of the respondent, consumed on average at a time.

To determine who to categorize as a binge drinker, I started with the question regarding whether or not a respondent ever drank more than 12 drinks in their entire life. I moved all those that said they did not drink (*alcstat*), either any more or that they never did, into the "no binge drinking" category. I took care to make certain those non-drinking people did not show up in the drinking categories in other questions. Similarly I moved all those that said they did not have any days in the past year where they drank 4/5 drinks (*alc5upy1==0*) into the "no binge drinking" category. I then checked to make sure those who answered no to the question about ever having 12+ drinks in any one year (*alc1yr ==2*) did not show up in any of the other heavy/binge drinking categories and then moved them to the "no binge drinking" category.

41

Next, I moved those that said they never drank in the past year (alc12mno =0) to the "no binge drinking category. Then I checked for consistency for those that answered none to the question about the number of days they drank 4/5 drinks in the past year (alc5upn1 = 0) and then I moved them to the "no binge drinking" category. I checked the consistency of those answers with the variable alc5upt1 and moved those who had zero days of drinking more than 4/5 drinks to the "no binge drinking" category.

Finally, I double checked that those who answered "no" to the question about ever having more than 12 drinks in their entire life (*alclife* ==2) to make sure they were consistent across all other alcohol related questions and then moved them in to the "no binge drinking" category. After all that, I had 320 respondents in the "no binge drinking" category.

Now that I had my "no binge drinking" numbers, I moved to confirm the binge drinking numbers. I used the measure that asks the number of days in the past year where a respondent had 4+/5+ drinks. Those who answered indicating that they engaged in binge drinking 1 day or more in the last year were categorized as "binge drinkers". I also wanted to capture those who responded that they had 4/5 drinks more than zero times in the past month in order to make sure I wasn't missing any cases. Those who indicated that they had 1 day or more in the past 30 days where they drank 4/5 drinks at a time were put into the "binge drinking" category. These coding decisions left me with a total of 318 gays and lesbians who did not engage in binge drinking and 187 who did. 3.4.3. Control Variables

I use several control variables such as race, ethnicity, age, education, household income levels as well as presence of children in the household. Using the variables of race and origin, I first created an eight category variable that indicates one's race and ethnicity. Thus, each racial group was first divided into Hispanic and non-Hispanic group. This resulted in eight categories: White Hispanic, White Non-Hispanic, Black Hispanic, Black Non-Hispanic, Asian Hispanic, Asian Non-Hispanic, and Other Hispanic and Other Non-Hispanic. These categories were collapsed to reflect Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, and Other. Each racial category represents that category as compared to all other racial categories.

Education was collapsed into a dichotomous variable, distinguishing between those with (1) and without (0) the credential of a college degree (Ross and Mirowsky 2002). This gave me a total of 204 respondents without a college degree and 301 with a college degree. Along with education, I control for household income. Income is measured as total annual household income. The original survey data categorized income into six categories of \$0 to \$34,999, \$35,000 to \$74,999, \$75,000 to \$99,999 and \$100,000 and over with a category for undefined and one for unknown. There are 59 in the lowest income bracket, 121 in the second bracket, 76 in the third, and 238 in the highest income bracket. There are 10 respondents in the category of "undefined" meaning they could not be coded in to one of the four preceding brackets and 11 who did not respond to the income bracketing questions. These 21 respondents represent the category of unknown. I created four dummy categories for income with the lowest income category as the reference group for each. The first group represents the category of income between

\$35,000 to \$74,999. The second group represents \$75,000 to \$99,999. The third represents \$100,000 and above. The final category of income compares the undefined and unknown responses to the reference category of \$0 to \$34,999. I also control for age in years with a range of 18 to 82 and a mean age of 46.14.

Finally, I control for the presence of children in the household. Research indicates that some behaviors are moderated not only by marriage but by the influence of children under the age of 18 in the household (Kahneman et al. 2004; Sawhill 2014; Guner, Kulikova and Llull 2018). Therefore, I have included a variable to indicate children in the household. The original parenting variable (par_stat) was used to create a new child indicator variable. If a respondent indicated that a child under the age of 18 lived in the house, regardless of whether they were the parent or not, the new parent variable was given a value of 1. If the respondent indicated that there were no children under the age of 18 in the house the new child indicator variable was given a value of 0. These coding decisions left me with a total of 71 respondents with children under 18 in the house and 434 without.

3.5. Statical Analysis and Software

I am estimating ordered logistic regression equations to test my first two hypotheses. This will allow me to estimate models that predict the probability of respondents rating their health positively, that is with a higher category, than negatively, or a lower category. For the remaining hypotheses, I will be using binary logistic regression equations as the dependent variables are dichotomous. This will allow me to predict the log odds that a respondent will be in one of the two categories of the dependent variable (Treiman 2009). This is the preferred method of statistical analysis for each of the different types of dependent variables. The estimated coefficients for the independent variables will be "analogous to OLS regression coefficients, and the dependent variable is the natural log of the expected odds of being in category 1 of the dependent variable rather than in category 0, conditional on the values of the independent variables" (Treiman 2009). Logistic regression uses maximum likelihood estimation as the main principle is to "maximize the likelihood of observing the sample data" (Treiman 2009).

To analyze the data and estimate the regressions I used StataSE 15.1 (StataCorp 2017). However, prior to beginning my analysis, I used the survey estimation procedure (*svyset*) in Stata to account for the multistage probability sampling design used in the NHIS (Treiman 2009; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2018). Otherwise the Stata software treats the survey data as a random sample of the population. However, in multistage probability sampling the units are randomly sampled leading to clustering. The variations within clusters are smaller than the variations across the populations. The *svyset* procedure will counter the multistage probability sampling and give results closer to what can be expected in a population (Treiman 2009). The 2016, 2017, and 2018 Household, Person, Sample Adult, Sample Child, and supplement public use files, provided for download by the CDC, contain the design variables necessary for variance estimation. PSTRAT is the stratum for variance estimation variable; PPSU is the PSU for variance estimation variable; and WTFA is the weight variable (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2018).

In my equations, I will mainly use odds ratios instead of log odds for my analyses (odds ratio is the exponent of the log odds). I will interpret the results of the logistic regression equations by mainly using odds ratios, which are the exponentiated logit coefficients. A one unit change in the independent variable results in an increase or a decrease in the relative odds of the outcome, net of the effects of all the other variables (Treiman 2009).

In this chapter I have outlined my five hypotheses and described the data used in this research. I have also detailed the sample, the creation and descriptions of the variables of interest. Finally I described the statistical methods used in my research. In the following chapter, I will present the results of my research.

4. RESULTS

In this chapter I present the results of regression equations for the hypotheses outlined in the previous chapters. We know from the literature focusing on heterosexuals, some of which I reviewed in an earlier chapter of this dissertation, that married persons are commonly better off in terms of health and health risk behaviors than persons who are not married. In this chapter, I test whether marriage has a similar effect for married lesbians and gay men when compared to cohabiting lesbians and gay men. In order to evaluate the effect of marriage on the health of lesbian and gay male populations, I have created a dummy variable that represents sex (0 = male, 1 = female) and a dummy variable for marriage (0 = cohabiting with same-sex partner, 1 = married to same-sex spouse).

Before conducting multivariate analysis, I investigate cell counts for each dependent variable by gender and marital status. While NHIS is a large-scale data, the sample analyzed here is restricted to a much smaller group of people. I limit the data to those who identify as gays or lesbians and who are in either a married or cohabiting relationship with a same-sex partner. This yields to only a sample of 505 respondents. Due to this small sample size, one needs to be careful in understanding how small cell sizes would affect the results. Table 2 separates the frequencies of all dependent variables by gender and marriage using unweighted data.

Table 2 shows that the smallest cell sizes are for poor health. Only 4 men and just 7 women reported poor health while 21 men and 26 women said their health was "fair". Such small cell sizes can be problematic for multivariate analysis. For this reason, I created a binary health variable with "Poor, Fair, and Good" =0 and "Very Good and Excellent" =1. I also created a health variable with four categories combining the two rarest categories or "Poor" and "Fair". This will help me address the issue of small sample size and small numbers in the lowest health categories while still examining self-rated health and marriage for gays and lesbians.

For the multivariate analysis, I first estimate the logistic regression with only the married/cohabiting dummy variable in the equation. Then I add gender as well as control variables and estimate a series of nested logistic equations to see if the effect of marital status on health is changed or altered when the controls are added. I estimate binary logistic regressions for the dichotomized self-rated health variable, high blood pressure, smoking, and binge drinking. I also estimate ordered logistic regression predicting the 4-category self-reported health.

As Treiman has noted, with an ordered categorical variable, "the response categories ... [are] ordered on some dimension [i.e., health] but where the distance between categories is unknown" (Treiman 2009, p. 342). Thus, we do not know whether the step from 1 (poor or fair health) to 2 (good health) is the same as the step from 3 (very good health) to 4 (excellent health), even though in the variable coding, both of these differences are 1.

Since the coding of this dependent variable is numeric and ordered, from 1 to 4, it may be tempting to use an ordinary least squares (OLS) framework to analyze its variation. However, as Long and Freese have noted, "an ordinal dependent variable violates the assumptions of the ... [OLS model], which can lead to incorrect conclusions ... Accordingly, with ordinal outcomes [such as the five or four-category self-rated health variable] it is much better to use models that avoid the assumption that the distances between categories are equal" (Long and Freese 2014:309), i.e., an ordered logistic regression model.

Therefore, I estimate ordered logistic regression equations with maximum likelihood for these models predicting the self-rated health outcome. In ordered logistic regression, an underlying probability score for an observation of being in, say, the highest response category, i.e., the "excellent health" category, is estimated as a linear function of the independent variables in the model and a set of cut points.

		fale		male
	Married	Cohabiting	Married	Cohabiting
Binary Self-Rated Health				
Poor, Fair, or Good	38	35	54	45
Very Good or Excellent	76	88	98	71
4 Category Self-Rated				
Poor or Fair	13	12	20	13
Good	25	23	34	32
Very Good	38	44	61	37
Excellent	38	44	37	34
5 Category Self-Rated				
Poor	3	1	3	4
Fair	10	11	17	9
Good	25	23	34	32
Very Good	38	44	61	37
Excellent	38	44	37	34
High Blood Pressure				
No	74	78	115	96
Yes	40	45	37	20
Smoker				
No	102	91	133	90
Yes	12	32	19	26
Binge Drinking				
No	69	76	97	76
Yes	45	47	55	40

Table 2. Cell Count of Outcome Variables by Sex and Marital Status

Cell counts calculated from unweighted data. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

4.1. Descriptive Results

Table 3 presents the descriptive data for all variables using unweighted data. Table 3.1 presents weighted percentages for all variables. All of the analyses use weighted data. With respect to marital status, 57 percent (unweighted) or 58 percent (weighted) of the lesbians and 48 percent (unweighted) or 50 percent (weighted) of the gay men are married. Most of the lesbians and gay men, just over 66 percent (based on both unweighted and weighted data) of the sample, self-report their health as either excellent or very good. The percentage of lesbians rating their health in the higher category is 63% (61% based on weighted data) compared to 69% for gay men (71% based on weighted data). Very few reported having poor or fair health; just over 12% of lesbians and only 11% of gay men (the same percentages in weighted data are 13% and 9%, respectively).

Most of the lesbians and gay men have never been told they have high blood pressure with only 21% of lesbians and 36% of gay men reporting that they had (in weighted data, these percentages are 23% and 31%, respectively). The percentages of lesbians and gay men who are current smokers are 17 and 19 (in weighted data, respectively, 14% and 18%). Just over a third (36% based on both weighted and unweighted data) of the lesbians are binge drinkers, as are the gay men (39% or in weighted data, 40%). Most of the lesbians and gay men are white, 75 percent and 73 percent, or in weighted data 73% and 70%, respectively. Only an unweighted 7% of both lesbians and gay men identified themselves as NH-Black (or 8% of lesbians and 7% of gay men in weighted data). Twice as many (13% in unweighted and 14% in weighted data for lesbians and 16% in unweighted or 18% in weighted data for gays) identified as Hispanic.

Over half of both groups have high levels of education with 56% of lesbians and 63% of gay men in unweighted data (55% of lesbians and 63% of gay men using weighted data) having at least a bachelor's degree. Other researchers have found the same over-representation in different nationally representative samples such as the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BFRSS), the Census and the General Social Survey (GSS). Black et al. (2000) found much higher levels of education for gays and lesbians than their heterosexual counterparts in the 1990 Census, the GSS, and the National Health and Social Life Survey (NHSLS) with 13% of gay men reporting post college education and nearly 24% of gay mean reporting having earned degrees, while the heterosexual married men in the same age and racial categories have lower rates at 10% and 17%, respectively. They found that nearly 14% of lesbians reported post college education and a whopping 25% reporting college education while their heterosexual counterparts reported just over 6% and 16% respectively (Black et al. 2000). It has been suggested that the cause might be the willingness of highly educated whites to identify as gay or lesbian more readily than those with non-White racial identities and lower levels of education in surveys such as the GSS or the Census, however Black et al. propose that gay men in fact accumulate more education than other men (sample size prevented the same to be said about lesbians) (2000). Indeed, Gorman and colleagues found a similar representation of white, well-educated gays and lesbians in the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System spanning 2005 to 2010 with more

than half of the surveyed gay men and lesbians (55.7% for gay men and 57% for lesbians) reporting at least a college degree while 37.9% of heterosexual men and 37.5% heterosexual women reported having a college degree (Gorman et al. 2015). Gorman and colleagues suggested that the use of data in the NHIS would be best suited to determine the accuracy of such unexpected racial and educational attainment counts among gays and lesbians (2015). However, it does not seem as though the various sampling methods utilized by the BFRSS, GSS, and NHIS have yet found a way to identify gays and lesbians with lower levels of education and in different racial categories.

Regarding income, 42 percent of the lesbians report incomes below \$75K (both in weighted and unweighted data), versus 28 percent of gay men (29% based on weighted data). A total of 39 percent of all lesbians reported their household income at or above \$100,000 a year and over half of the gay men (52%) reported total household income in that same bracket (same percentages in weighted and unweighted data). This makes sense given the elevated levels of education, particularly for gay men. Only a very small percentage listed their income as either unknown or did not want to respond, 6% for lesbians and 3% for gay men (based on both weighted and unweighted data).

The two populations are similar in age, each with an average age of 45 years for lesbians and 47 years for gay men (44 years for lesbians and 46 years for gays in weighted data). Almost one-quarter of the lesbians (23%) report 1 or more children living with them, versus a scant 4 percent for gay men. The weighted percentages are the same for the presence of children in the home. This is a common finding in the literature,

53

with lesbians always being more likely than gay men to have children living with them in their households.

All these descriptive data (represented in Table 3 and Table 3.1) paint an interesting picture of the respondents in the survey. There are similar numbers of gay men and lesbians in the survey, but there are higher percentages of married lesbians than married gay men. This particular finding of female-female partnerships exceeding male-male partnerships has been found in other studies of gays and lesbians in the US but not necessarily outside of the US (Bernstein, Naples and Harvey 2015). This is possibly due to added discrimination experienced by male-male couples when formalizing a legal relationship and the incentive to legitimize a family with children for female-female relationships as lesbian couples are more likely than gay male couples to have children in the household (Wall 2011) however the ability to analyze data on same-sex marriage rates in the US is still in the early stages as is the ability to be in a same-sex marriage across the US.

The average ages are very similar, yet there is a higher percentage of lesbians making under \$75,000 a year in household income than gay men. There are nearly six times as many lesbians with children in the house than in the households of gay men, even though they do not make as much money as the gay men. This paints a picture of gender differences in child raising and income equity, much of which is to be expected in American households in the early 21st century (Milkman 2016).

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics

	1	411	Females		Males	
	Freq	%	Freq	%	Freq	%
Independent Variables						
Married	266	52.7	152	56.7	114	48.1
Dependent Variables						
Binary Health						
Poor, Fair, or Good	172	34.0	99	37.0	73	30.8
Very Good or Excellent	333	66.0	169	63.0	164	69.2
4 Category Self-Rated						
Poor or Fair	58	11.5	33	12.3	25	10.6
Good	114	22.6	66	24.6	48	20.3
Very Good	180	35.6	98	36.6	82	34.6
Excellent	153	30.3	71	26.5	82	34.6
High Blood Pressure	142	28.1	57	21.3	85	35.9
Smoker	89	17.6	45	16.8	44	18.6
Binge Drinking	187	37.0	95	35.5	92	38.8
Control Variables						
Race						
NH White (ref.)	375	74.3	202	75.4	173	73.0
NH Black	34	6.7	18	6.7	16	6.8
Hispanic	73	14.5	36	13.4	37	15.6
NH Other	23	4.6	12	4.5	11	4.6
College Degree	301	59.6	151	56.3	150	63.3
Income						
\$0 - \$34,999 (ref.)	59	11.7	43	16.0	16	6.8
\$35,000 - \$74,999	121	24.0	70	26.1	51	21.5
\$75,000 - \$99,999	76	15.1	36	13.4	40	16.9
\$100,000 and over	228	45.0	104	38.8	124	52.3
Unknown	21	4.2	15	5.6	6	2.5
Age ^a (18 to 82 years)		46.2		45.2		47.2
Children in Household	71	14.0	62	23.1	9	3.8
Valid N	505	100.0	268	53.1	237	46.9

^a Mean given for continuous variables. Cell counts calculated from unweighted data. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	Percentages					
	All	Females	Males			
Independent						
Marriage	54.4%	58.2%	50.1%			
Dependent Variables						
Binary Health						
Poor, Fair, or Good	34.2%	39.3%	28.6%			
Very Good or	65.8%	60.8%	71.4%			
4 Category Self-Rated						
Poor or Fair	10.7%	12.6%	9.7%			
Good	23.5%	26.7%	20.0%			
Very Good	33.6%	34.2%	33.0%			
Excellent	32.2%	26.6	38.3%			
5 Category Self-Rated						
Poor	2.2%	2.8%	1.6%			
Fair	8.5%	9.8%	7.1%			
Good	23.4%	26.7%	20.0%			
Very Good	33.6%	34.2%	33.0%			
Excellent	32.2%	26.6%	38.3%			
High Blood Pressure	27.0%	23.0%	31.4%			
Smoker	15.8%	14.1%	17.6%			
Binge Drinking	37.7%	35.7%	40.0%			
Control Variables						
Race						
NH White (ref.)	71.7%	73.1%	70.2%			
NH Black	7.8%	8.5%	7.1%			
Hispanic	16.0%	14.5%	17.7%			
NH Other	4.5%	4.0%	5.1%			
College Degree	58.7%	55.2%	62.5%			
Income						
\$0 - \$34,999 (ref.)	13.5%	19.1%	7.4%			
\$35,000 - \$74,999	22.2%	22.8%	21.6%			
\$75,000 - \$99,999	14.8%	13.6%	16.0%			
\$100,000 and over	45.3%	38.8%	52.3%			
Unknown	4.4%	5.7%	2.7%			
Age ^a (18 to 82 years)	45	44	46			
Children in Household	13.8%	23.1%	3.7%			

Table 3.1. Weighted Descriptive Statistics

^a Mean given for continuous variables. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

4.2. Regression Results

The first and second hypotheses will be explored through the discussion of selfrated health (Tables 4-11), the third and fourth hypotheses will be tested via the outcome of high blood pressure (Tables 12-15) and the fifth and final hypothesis will be explored through the outcomes of smoking status (Tables 16-19) and binge drinking (Tables 20-23).

For all outcomes, I present four tables: 1) overall effect of marital status; 2) effect of marital status for women (excluding men); 3) effect of marital status for men (excluding women); and 4) the comparison of married lesbians against married gays. For all outcomes, I estimate a series of regression models. The first model controls for marital status (cohabiting as a reference category) and sex only (the NHIS does not ask sex but rather if a person is male or female which I will report as sex). In a second equation I will add in a control variable for race; a third will add in a control for having at least a bachelor's degree; a fourth will add in the control variable for total household income; a control for age in the fifth; and finally, a control for presence of children in the household in the sixth equation. For those tables where overall effect of marital status is examined, a seventh equation is added with a variable representing an interaction between marital status and sex. The tables representing the log odds from all these models can be found in the appendix.

I am mainly concerned with the effect of the marriage variable on the log odds of self-rated health, and how this effect changes as controls are added to the equation. Thus, when reporting below the results of the regression equations, I will focus on the impact of the marriage variable and will interpret the controls only in the overall model for each outcome.

4.2.1. Self-rated Health

Table 4 presents the results of the first binary logistic regression equation predicting the log odds of higher self-rated health, among gay men and lesbians together, differentiating them by whether they are married or cohabiting using a dichotomous selfrated health variable. The self-reported health variable here is categorized as very good or excellent health compared to poor, fair, or good health. All models in Table 4 show an insignificant coefficient for marital status (p>.10). Thus, there are no differences in the odds of higher self-rated health between those who are married and those who are cohabiting when looking at health through a binary self-rated health variable. Similarly, the interaction effect between gender and marriage is insignificant (p>.10). Likewise, when running the regressions without weighting (i.e., without using the svyset commands), the coefficients for marriage are not significant (p>.10). Thus, based on the dichotomized self-rated health, being married does not affect the odds of having better self-rated health differently for gays as compared to lesbians. However, this dichotomized self-rated health variable is reducing the information about health greatly by being only able to differentiate between two categories of health.

Even though the marriage coefficient in Model 6 is not significant, education and income are important factors in the controls in Model 6. The significant change in F-statistic for models that add education (Model 3) and income levels (Model 4) show that the addition of those variables significantly improved the prediction of self-reported

health. Those with at least a bachelor's degree have 90% higher odds of reporting higher levels of self-rated health when controlling for sex, race, income, age and children (OR 1.9 p < .05). Those with higher levels of income show higher odds of better self-rated health when compared to those making under \$35,000 a year. Those with the income of at least \$35,000 to \$74,999 annually have 3.22 times higher odds of better health (p<.01); those with \$75,000 to \$100,000 income have 2.72 times higher odds (p<.05); and those with \$100,000 and higher income have 3.99 times higher odds of better health compared to the reference category of under \$35,000 yearly (p<.01).

Table 5 shows the results of a binary logistic regression estimating the odds ratios of a dichotomous self-rated health for lesbians (n=268). Like in Table 4, all of the models in this table show an insignificant coefficient for marital status (p>.10). Thus, there are no differences in the odds of higher self-rated health between lesbians who are married and lesbians who are cohabiting, when only adding these controls. The same is seen when comparing gay men who are married to gay men who are cohabiting (n=237) in Table 6 and in Table 7 when comparing all married lesbians to all married gay men (n=266). There are no statistically significant results (p>.10) for marriage when predicting binary self-reported health; gay men and lesbians, either married or cohabiting, do not self-report their health levels different from one another.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
N4 ¹ 1	80	20	02	75	70	77	70
Married	.89	.89	.83	.75	.79	.77	.70
P 1	(.18)	(.18)	(.17)	(.16)	(.16)	(.16)	(.23)
Female	.63*	.63*	.66	.77	.76	.73	.66
	(.14)	(.14)	(.15)	(.19)	(.18)	(.19)	(.22)
Race							
NHBlack		.96	1.33	2.07	1.91	1.89	1.90
		(.46)	(.65)	(1.08)	(1.01)	(.99)	(1.00)
Hispanic		.94	1.09	1.19	1.10	1.11	1.13
		(.26)	(.31)	(.37)	(.34)	(.34)	(.35)
NHOther		1.50	1.59	1.84	1.78	1.80	1.82
		(.86)	(.85)	(.99)	(.95)	(.97)	(.99)
College Degree			2.35***	1.86*	1.90*	1.90*	1.88*
0			(.53)	(.48)	(.49)	(.49)	(.49)
Annual HH Income in Thousands			. ,				
35 - 74				3.18**	3.22**	3.20**	3.20**
				(1.17)	(1.17)	(1.17)	(1.17)
75-99				2.46	2.71*	2.72*	2.71*
				(1.12)	(1.24)	(1.24)	(1.23)
>100				3.61**	3.99**	3.99**	3.98**
				(1.54)	(1.69)	(1.69)	(1.69)
Unknown				1.34	1.42	1.45	1.44
				(.85)	(.92)	(.93)	(.92)
Age				()	.99	.99	.99
1.80					(.01)	(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					(.01)	1.32	1.32
						(.47)	(.47)
Interaction:						(.47)	(.47) 1.19
Married X Female							1.19
							(.55)
Constant	2.64***	2.64***	1.57*	.63	1.02	.97	1.02
	(.47)	(.48)	(.34)	(.24)	(.51)	(.48)	(.50)
Change in F-statistic	2.49	.19	14.4***	3.51**	2.80	.62	.14
Change in DF	2.15	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table 4. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Lesbian	1.06	.98	.85	.81	.84	.80
	(.28)	(.27)	(.24)	(.23)	(.24)	(.24)
Race						
NH Black		1.20	1.74	3.18	2.79	2.72
		(.67)	(.99)	(2.15)	(2.00)	(1.94)
Hispanic		.59	.67	.67	.58	.60
		(.27)	(.32)	(.36)	(.31)	(.32)
NH Other		1.09	1.28	1.65	1.65	1.73
		(.89)	(.99)	(1.15)	(1.14)	(1.19)
College Degree			2.32**	1.76	1.81	1.84
			(.65)	(.61)	(.64)	(.66)
Annual HH Income	in Thousa	ands				
35 - 74				6.17***	6.20***	6.06***
				(3.22)	(3.19)	(3.12)
75-99				4.44 [*]	5.26**	5.22**
				(2.66)	(3.25)	(3.20)
> 100				4.37**	4.87**	4.87**
				(2.28)	(2.49)	(2.49)
Unknown				2.34	2.62	2.69
Children ((1.78)	(2.03)	(2.06)
Age				(11/0)	.98	.99
1.80					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					(.01)	1.48
						(.54)
Constant	1.50	1.66*	1.09	.36*	.67	.55
Constant	(.32)	(.41)	(.31)	(.16)	(.42)	(.35)
Change in F-	.05	.55	(. <i>3</i> 1) 8.95**	3.41*	1.90	(.33)
statistic	.05	.55	0.95	J. H 1	1.70	1.1/
	1	2	1	1	1	1
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

 Table 5. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

 M1
 M2
 M4
 M5
 M6

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	.72	.67	.69	.63	.66	.68
	(.22)	(.21)	(.21)	(.19)	(.21)	(.22)
Race						
NH Black		.70	.86	.85	.82	.79
		(.42)	(.54)	(.59)	(.58)	(.56)
Hispanic		1.76	2.04	2.01	1.89	1.91
		(.72)	(.87)	(.90)	(.85)	(.86)
NH Other		2.33	2.13	2.78	2.63	2.83
		(2.09)	(1.70)	(2.71)	(2.56)	(2.70)
College Degree			2.40**	2.18*	2.27*	2.30*
			(.79)	(.84)	(.89)	(.90)
Annual HH Income	e in Thousan	ds				
35 - 74				.85	.87	.85
				(.55)	(.57)	(.57)
75-99				.72	.76	.72
				(.50)	(.53)	(.53)
> 100				1.36	1.49	1.46
				(.97)	(1.09)	(1.11)
Unknown				.24	.24	.22
				(.25)	(.24)	(.22)
Age					.99	.99
					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						.44
						(.37)
Constant	2.96***	2.78***	1.59	1.73	2.59	2.78
	(.62)	(.62)	(.45)	(1.03)	(1.75)	(1.93)
Change in F- Statistic	1.14	.96	7.08**	1.60	1.09	.98
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 6. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Female	.74	.75	.74	.89	.89	.75
	(.23)	(.25)	(.24)	(.30)	(.30)	(.28)
Race						
NH Black		1.50	1.93	3.03	3.02	3.41
		(1.13)	(1.41)	(2.28)	(2.28)	(2.57)
Hispanic		1.12	1.29	1.36	1.36	1.39
		(.46)	(.54)	(.65)	(.66)	(.67)
NH Other		1.25	1.25	1.72	1.72	1.90
		(1.04)	(.90)	(1.15)	(1.15)	(1.26)
College Degree			2.03*	1.59	1.59	1.58
			(.60)	(.56)	(.56)	(.59)
Annual HH Incom	e in Thousand	ls				
35 - 74				6.81***	6.81***	7.25***
				(3.83)	(3.83)	(4.12)
75-99				5.48*	5.49*	6.04*
				(3.83)	(3.85)	(4.23)
> 100				4.88*	4.89*	5.23*
				(3.17)	(3.18)	(3.52)
Unknown				3.11	3.12	3.53
				(3.12)	(3.14)	(3.54)
Age					1.00	1.00
					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						2.42
						(1.11)
Constant	2.13***	2.01**	1.28	.29	.30	.21
	(.48)	(.50)	(.40)	(.19)	(.24)	(.17)
Change in F-	.91	.13	5.73*	3.26*	0.00	3.72
Statistic						
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 7. Odds Ratios for Binary Health Variable & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom

*** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

Next, I move to the four category health variable in Tables 8, 9, 10 and 11. The health variable has changed from a binary variable to an ordered variable, with the lowest heath category representing responses of poor and fair. The resulting categories are poor or fair, good, very good, and excellent. In Table 8, Models 1, 2, and 3, controlling for sex, race and education, the coefficient for marriage is not significant. However, once income is added as control in Model 4, the coefficient for marriage becomes statistically significant (p< .05), though, it is opposite to what was expected. The effect of marriage on health is represented by the ordered logit coefficient of -0.410 (see Table A.5 in the appendix), indicating that the log odds of higher self-rated health are lower for those who are married as compared to those who are cohabiting. Its odds ratio (OR or Ω) is e^{-0.410} = 0.664 (see Model 4 in Table 8). Married lesbians and married gay men have odds of higher self-rated health that are 0.64 times those of cohabiting lesbians and cohabiting gay men, that is, they are lower; specifically, their odds are 36% lower, that is, (OR -1) * 100, and this relationship is one in which the sex, educational and income levels are controlled.

The coefficient for marriage in the rest of the models in Table 8, including the last model that has an interaction variable that represents the effect of marriage for lesbians as compared to marriage for gay men, is non-significant. Thus, taking into account the age, reduced the significance level for marriage to insignificant. This is likely because those who are married are older on average, hence the result showing worse health for those who are married if age was not taken into account. The mean age of married gays and lesbians is 48.5 while the mean age of cohabiting gays and lesbians is 43.5. Once age is taken into account, marriage does not have an effect on health. These results show, similarly to the binary self-rated health variable, that

marriage does not affect the odds of having higher self-rated health in my sample of gays and lesbians.

Table 9 presents the ordered logistic regression showing the effect of marriage for lesbians on the 4-category self-rated health. Table 9 shows the odds ratios and Table A.6 in the appendix shows the log odds. In the final model of Table 9, when the presence of children is added as a control, marriage has a significant but negative coefficient of -0.54 (p<.05) (in Appendix Table A.6). The odds ratio (OR or Ω) is e^{-0.54} = 0.583 (p<.05) shown in Model 6. The effect is negative, meaning that married lesbians have lower odds of high self-rated health than cohabiting lesbians, controlling for race, education, total household income, age and children in the household.

This is the opposite of what I expected to find. However, even this result can be affected by small cell sizes. Table 2 shows that there are 13 cohabiting women in the poor or fair health category compared to 20 married women in the unweighted sample. These small cell sizes might affect the results of this regression. Also, the interaction effect in Table 8, comparing the effect of marriage for men and women was not significant, indicates that, similarly to men, marriage does not influence self-rated health for women.

In looking at the controls in this model something interesting is seen in the income levels. While there are no significant coefficients or odds ratios for the rest of the controls there are significant effects for different income levels. Those lesbians in the income bracket representing a yearly household income of \$35,000 to \$74,999, when compared to those in the lowest income bracket of 0 - 334,999, have a statistically significant coefficient of 1.47 and an odds ratio of 4.33. This means that the odds of reporting higher levels of health are over 4 times as high for those in this income bracket compared to the reference category for income (p<0.001). Similar

result is seen in the middle and highest income brackets. Those in the middle bracket (between \$75,000 and \$99,999 a year), compared to those in the reference category, have a statistically significant coefficient of 1.65 and an odds ratio of 5.22 meaning they have 422% higher odds to have higher self-reported health levels (p<0.01). Those making \$100,000 or more in annual household income, as compared with the lowest income bracket of \$0 to \$34,999 yearly income, have an odds ratio of $e^{1.851} = 6.37$ (p<0.001). Lesbians in the highest income category have over 6 times higher odds of rating their health in higher levels than lesbians in the lowest income category.

Tables 10 and 11 report the findings of the four category health variable comparing married gays to cohabiting gays (Table 10) and married lesbians to married gay men (Table 11). While these models were easily estimated by *svy: logistic* command in Stata, the nested regression (*nestreg: svy: logistic*) that calculates the change in F-statistic from one model to another failed to work due to small cell sizes. The models do not show any significant odds ratios for the marriage variable. Likewise, when using unadjusted data (not using the *svyset* command), there is no statistical significance in these tables for the effect of marriage on health (p>.10). There is no statistical difference in the odds of four-category self-reported health for gay men who are married compared to gay men who are cohabiting (p>.10; Table 10) nor for married lesbians when compared to married gay men (Table 11) when only controlling for race, education, income, age, and the presence of children. These data do not support my hypothesis that those in female same-sex marriages have higher self-ratings of health than men in same-sex marriages.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
			-		-	-	
Married	.86	.85	.80	.66*	.70	.69	.75
	(.16)	(.15)	(.14)	(.13)	(.14)	(.13)	(.22)
Female	.61**	.62*	.65*	.77	.75	.73	.79
	(.12)	(.12)	(.12)	(.15)	(.15)	(.16)	(.22)
Race							
NH Black		.80	1.07	1.68	1.52	1.51	1.50
		(.23)	(.31)	(.55)	(.51)	(.51)	(.51)
Hispanic		1.11	1.27	1.53	1.41	1.42	1.40
-		(.27)	(.31)	(.40)	(.36)	(.36)	(.35)
NH Other		1.01	.96	1.12	1.03	1.04	1.04
		(.50)	(.45)	(.54)	(.51)	(.52)	(.51)
College Degree			2.24***	1.64*	1.69*	1.68*	1.70*
			(.46)	(.37)	(.38)	(.38)	(.39)
Annual HH Income in							
Thousands							
35 - 74				3.00***	3.08***	3.05***	3.07***
				(.92)	(.93)	(.92)	(.94)
75-99				2.14	2.46*	2.46*	2.48*
				(.83)	(.95)	(.95)	(.97)
>100				4.57***	5.25***	5.23***	5.27***
				(1.64)	(1.89)	(1.89)	(1.92)
Unknown				1.50	1.60	1.61	1.63
				(.91)	(1.00)	(.99)	(1.01)
Age					.98*	.99 [*]	.99 [*]
C					(.01)	(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						1.16	1.16
						(.33)	(.34)
Interaction: Married X						. ,	.86
Female							
							(.35)
/cut1	.08***	.08***	.13***	.30***	.17***	.17***	.18***
	(.02)	(.02)	(.03)	(.10)	(.07)	(.07)	(.08)
/cut2	.37***	.36***	.60**	1.49	.83	.84	.88
	(.06)	(.06)	(.12)	(.46)	(.33)	(.34)	(.37)
/cut3	1.52*	1.52*	2.61***	6.89***	3.84**	3.94**	4.09**
	(.26)	(.26)	(.55)	(2.30)	(1.61)	(1.65)	(1.78)
Change in F-Statistic	.96	1.72	10.88**	4.38**	12.44***	.14	.34
Change in DF	2	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table 8. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

Table 9. Odds Kallos	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
				co.t		- 0.4
Married Lesbians	.92	.84	.73	.60*	.62	.58*
_	(.22)	(.20)	(.18)	(.15)	(.16)	(.15)
Race						
NH Black		.73	1.03	1.75	1.53	1.49
		(.21)	(.32)	(.65)	(.61)	(.61)
Hispanic		.61	.67	.85	.77	.79
		(.21)	(.25)	(.35)	(.30)	(.31)
NH Other		.74	.80	.87	.82	.86
		(.72)	(.72)	(.57)	(.54)	(.56)
College Degree			2.23**	1.51	1.55	1.54
			(.57)	(.41)	(.43)	(.43)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				4.46***	4.41***	4.33***
				(1.64)	(1.57)	(1.55)
75-99				4.33**	5.21**	5.22**
				(2.10)	(2.67)	(2.65)
> 100				5.70***	6.36***	6.37***
				(2.37)	(2.62)	(2.62)
Unknown				2.32	2.58	2.65
				(1.94)	(2.25)	(2.24)
Age				~ /	.99	. 99
e					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						1.45
						(.43)
/cut1	.14***	.11***	.16***	.39**	.22**	.26**
	(.03)	(.03)	(.05)	(.13)	(.10)	(.12)
/cut2	.61*	.52**	.77	2.11*	1.17	1.41
	(.12)	(.12)	(.20)	(.68)	(.53)	(.65)
/cut3	2.63***	2.24***	3.50***	10.37***	5.81***	7.05***
, cuto	(.56)	(.53)	(.97)	(3.54)	(2.63)	(3.23)
Change in F-	.5	1.11	5.85*	3.13*	7.46**	.34
Statistic	••		0.00	2.12	/0	
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1
Change in Dr			1	Т	1	T

Table 9. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

					M6
1011	1012	1413	1014	1413	IVIO
80	75	77	66	75	.78
					(.23)
	.86	1.05	1.19	1.11	1.08
	(.44)	(.55)	(.70)	(.68)	(.67)
	2.05*	2.36*	2.49*	2.26*	2.30*
	(.71)	(.85)	(.95)	(.85)	(.88)
	1.32	1.14	1.54	1.38	1.37
	(.60)	(.48)	(.93)	(.90)	(.86)
		2.32**	2.05*	2.19*	2.22*
		(.66)	(.70)	(.75)	(.75)
			1.14	1.27	1.29
			(.65)	(.72)	(.75)
			.61	.69	.68
			(.35)	(.41)	(.41)
					2.28
					(1.43)
				· · ·	.39
					(.28)
			()	· · ·	.98*
					(.01)
				(.01)	.34
					(.26)
.08***	.09***	.15***	.16**	.08***	.07***
					(.04)
			· · ·	· · ·	.35
					(.20)
	· /				1.66
(.29)	(.35)	(.80)	(1.68)	(.98)	(.98)
	M1 .80 (.22) .22) .36*** (.02) .36*** (.07) 1.44	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 10. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Female	.65	.66	.65	.74	.71	.67
remate	(.18)	.00	(.18)	(.20)	(.20)	(.20)
Race	(.10)	(.10)	(.10)	(.20)	(.20)	(.20)
NH Black		1.01	1.27	1.80	1.69	1.73
		(.38)	(.46)	(.69)	(.68)	(.69)
Hispanic		1.14	1.35	1.53	1.45	1.44
		(.37)	(.44)	(.52)	(.50)	(.50)
NH Other		.88	.82	.97	.95	.98
		(.72)	(.57)	(.56)	(.56)	(.58)
College Degree			2.05**	1.42	1.47	1.44
			(.56)	(.41)	(.43)	(.43)
Annual HH				5.14***	5.26***	5.16***
Income in						
Thousands						
35 - 74						
				(2.31)	(2.34)	(2.33)
75-99				3.77*	4.41*	4.49*
				(2.03)	(2.58)	(2.61)
> 100				5.71***	6.40***	6.38***
				(2.74)	(3.22)	(3.26)
Unknown				4.25	4.68	4.73
				(4.80)	(5.58)	(5.51)
Age					.99	.99
					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						1.40
1 . 1	1.0.4.4.4.4	1 O shahah	1 Calculation	-	2.6	(.47)
/cut1	.10***	.10***	.16***	.58	.36	.39
	(.03)	(.03)	(.05)	(.29)	(.22)	(.25)
/cut2	.43***	.44***	.71	2.80*	1.73	1.92
1+2	(.09)	(.10)	(.20) 3.12***	(1.31)	(1.03)	(1.15)
/cut3	1.85**	1.89**		12.89***	7.98***	8.88***
0, 1 1 .	(.41)	(.46)	(.93)	(6.28)	(4.77)	(5.39)

Table 11. Odds Ratios for Four Category Health Variable & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting.

Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

4.2.2. Hypertension Diagnosis

The results of the equations in Table 12, as well as the rest of the equations I estimate, are results from binary logistic regressions analyzing the effect of marital status on a binary dependent variable. Where the self-rated health variable had several categories for health, the remaining equations will each measure a dichotomous health status or health behavior. To begin, I estimate whether someone was ever told that they had hypertension, or high blood pressure.

For married gays and lesbians, when compared to cohabiting gays and lesbians, there is no statistical difference (p>.10) in the odds of having a diagnosis of high blood pressure (Table 12, all models). However, in Model 6, race and age are important controls. Hispanics, compared to NH Whites, have 58% lower odds of having high blood pressure (OR .42; p<.05). And for every year increase in age the odds of having high blood pressure increases by .05 (OR 1.05; p<.001).

Even though the marriage effect is not significant, the interaction effect between marital status and sex is positive and significant (p<.05). The main effect for marital status (.68; p>.10) shows the effect of marital status for gay men. Thus, being married does not affect the odds of having high blood pressure for married gay men. However, the effect of marriage for lesbians is the product of the main effect of marriage (.68) and the interaction effect (.68*3.32=2.26) (p<.05). This means that marriage increases the risk of high blood pressure for lesbians. In particular, the odds of high blood pressure are 126% higher for married lesbians than for cohabiting lesbians. This indicates that cohabiting lesbians have lower odds of having high blood pressure than married lesbians.

I also calculated the predicted probabilities based on this interaction effect (see Table 12.1). While the probability of high blood pressure is generally the same for married gays and

lesbians, and cohabiting gays; it is much lower for cohabiting lesbians. The probability of high blood pressure for cohabiting lesbians is also much lower than the probability of high blood pressure for gays overall. This indicates that cohabiting lesbians have lower instances of high blood pressure than married lesbians and gays, either cohabiting or married. My hypotheses stated that those in same-sex marriages, specifically women in same-sex marriages, would have lower instance of high blood pressure. These data show the opposite result.

Table 13 shows this relationship in greater detail. Married lesbians, compared to cohabiting lesbians, when not adding any controls, have much higher odds, 128% higher odds, of having high blood pressure than cohabiting lesbians (OR 2.28; p < .05). When adding in controls for race the logit coefficient (seen in Table A.10) stays statistically significant (p<.05). The statistical significance is maintained in each model (p<.05), showing that married lesbians have higher odds of having high blood pressure than cohabiting lesbians when controlling for race, education, income, age and the presence of children in the household.

The final model of Table 13^1 , Model 6, has an odds ratio (e^{.806}) of 2.32. This indicates that lesbians who are married have higher odds of having high blood pressure than lesbians who are cohabiting. In fact, they have 132% higher odds of having been told they have hypertension than cohabiting lesbians. Additionally, every one year increase in age increases the odds of having high blood pressure by 5.7% (p< .001). These results do not support my third hypothesis; in fact, it is again the opposite of what I expected to find. Married lesbians have higher odds of having high blood pressure than cohabiting lesbians. Furthermore, the results of Tables 14 and 15 indicate that there is no statistical difference in odds of a hypertension diagnosis between

¹ When not using the svyset command, there is no statistical difference in high blood pressure for married or cohabiting lesbians.

married and cohabiting gay men nor between married lesbians and married gay men when controlling for race, education, income, age or the presence of children. This does not support my fourth hypothesis that married lesbians would have lower incidences of hypertension than married gay men.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
Mamiad	1.39	1.36	1.38	1 20	1 1 /	1 17	.68
Married				1.39	1.14	1.17	
г 1	(.30)	(.29)	(.29)	(.31)	(.27)	(.27)	(.23)
Female	.63	.61*	.60*	.64	.65	.68	.34**
-	(.16)	(.15)	(.15)	(.16)	(.17)	(.18)	(.13)
Race		0.5	-	0.1	1.22	1.22	1
NH Black		.85	.78	.91	1.32	1.32	1.31
· · ·		(.39)	(.37)	(.43)	(.68)	(.67)	(.68)
Hispanic		.35**	.33**	.33**	.42*	.42*	.45*
		(.12)	(.12)	(.12)	(.14)	(.14)	(.15)
NH Other		.89	.88	.95	1.14	1.13	1.24
		(.53)	(.50)	(.56)	(.78)	(.77)	(.78)
College Degree			.77	.74	.62	.62	.58*
			(.18)	(.20)	(.17)	(.17)	(.16)
Annual HH Income							
in Thousands							
35 - 74				1.84	1.96	1.97	1.99
				(.84)	(.97)	(.98)	(1.01)
75-99				2.92*	2.25	2.25	2.23
				(1.39)	(1.14)	(1.13)	(1.16)
> 100				1.66	1.27	1.27	1.25
100				(.79)	(.66)	(.66)	(.66)
Unknown				1.22	1.04	1.02	.90
				(.97)	(.88)	(.86)	(.77)
Age				(.,,,)	1.06***	1.05***	1.06***
nge					(.01)	(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					(.01)	.76	.72
						(.33)	(.31)
Interaction:						(.55)	(.31) 3.32*
							5.52
Married X Female							$(1, \zeta \zeta)$
Constant	20***	1(***	55 *	21**	02***	02***	(1.66)
Constant	.39***	.46***	.55*	.31**	.03***	.03***	.04***
	(.08)	(.10)	(.14)	(.13)	(.02)	(.02)	(.02)
Change in F-	3.21*	3.02*	1.32	1.59	39.35***	.42	5.74*
Statistic		_					
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table 12. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	Cohabiting	Married
Gays	.34	.27
Lesbian	.17	.29

Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Manula 11 antiana	2 20*	2 0.0*	2.20*	2 27*	2.24*	2.22*
Married Lesbians	2.28*	2.00*	2.20*	2.27*	2.24*	2.32*
D	(.76)	(.65)	(.74)	(.82)	(.82)	(.82)
Race						
NH Black		.89	.71	.70	1.14	1.13
		(.57)	(.48)	(.45)	(.86)	(.86)
Hispanic		.31	.28	.28	.32	.31
		(.20)	(.18)	(.18)	(.23)	(.22)
NH Other		.99	.90	.91	.96	.93
		(1.00)	(.84)	(.86)	(.89)	(.84)
College Degree			.59	.64	.52	.52
			(.21)	(.27)	(.23)	(.24)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				.70	.75	.76
				(.38)	(.43)	(.44)
75-99				2.21	1.33	1.37
				(1.37)	(.86)	(.85)
> 100				.87	.65	.65
100				(.49)	(.41)	(.41)
Unknown				.85	.57	.56
UIKIIOWII				(.73)	(.58)	(.56)
Age				(.75)	1.06***	1.06***
Age					(.01)	
Children In HH					(.01)	(.02) .71
Married Lesbians	.18***	.22***	.28***	.27**	.02***	(.38) .03***
			-			
C1 . L	(.05)	(.06)	(.09)	(.13)	(.02)	(.02)
Change in F- Statistic	6.12*	1.11	2.15	1.22	18.26***	.4
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 13. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

l'able 14. Odds Ratio						· ·
	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	.93	.99	.98	.95	.63	.63
Married Gays	(.26)	(.28)	(.29)	(.29)	(.23)	(.23)
Race	(.20)	(.20)	(.27)	(.2))	(.23)	(.23)
NH Black		.84	.82	1.76	2.37	2.36
		(.54)	(.54)	(1.18)	(1.55)	(1.54)
Hispanic		.41*	.41 [*]	.40*	.54	.55
-		(.18)	(.17)	(.18)	(.25)	(.25)
NH Other		.88	.89	1.01	1.36	1.38
		(.69)	(.69)	(.69)	(1.17)	(1.20)
College Degree			.88	.82	.63	.63
0 0			(.27)	(.30)	(.24)	(.24)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				48.36***	73.88***	73.56***
				(46.38)	(85.33)	(85.05)
75-99				42.98***	56.89***	56.45***
				(40.88)	(64.95)	(64.46)
> 100				31.23***	35.04**	34.89**
				(31.15)	(41.17)	(40.98)
Unknown				12.45	16.83	16.62
				(18.00)	(24.54)	(24.22)
Age					1.06***	1.06***
					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						.84
						(.69)
Constant	.47***	.54**	.58	.02***	.00***	.00***
	(.09)	(.12)	(.19)	(.02)	(.00)	(.00)
Change in F-	.06	1.35	.17	4.4**	17.61***	.05
Statistic						
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 14. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Female	.91	.81	.81	.90	1.07	1.10
	(.29)	(.26)	(.26)	(.30)	(.41)	(.42)
Race						
NH Black		.58	.51	.60	.66	.65
		(.40)	(.38)	(.42)	(.46)	(.45)
Hispanic		.29*	.26*	.28*	.36	.36
		(.15)	(.14)	(.15)	(.19)	(.19)
NH Other		1.51	1.53	1.76	1.90	1.88
		(1.14)	(1.06)	(1.39)	(1.69)	(1.65)
College Degree			.67	.60	.48	.48
			(.23)	(.26)	(.22)	(.22)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				1.67	1.70	1.71
				(1.02)	(1.15)	(1.16)
75-99				5.77*	3.92	3.92
				(4.20)	(3.08)	(3.08)
> 100				2.04	1.47	1.47
				(1.46)	(1.18)	(1.19)
Unknown				1.86	1.38	1.36
				(1.84)	(1.52)	(1.50)
Age					1.06***	1.06***
					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						.86
						(.43)
Constant	.44***	.55**	.71	.33	.03***	.03***
	(.10)	(.13)	(.22)	(.20)	(.02)	(.03)
Change in F- Statistic	.08	2.25	1.35	2.17	21.89***	.09
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 15. Odds Ratios for High Blood Pressure & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

4.2.3. Smoking Status

The results of the equations in the next series of tables predict the odds of being a smoker for married gays and lesbians compared to cohabiting gays and lesbians (Table 16), for married lesbians compared to cohabiting lesbians (Table 17), for married or cohabiting gays (Table 18) and finally for married lesbians compared to married gays (Table 19).

Every model in Table 16^2 shows a statistically significant odds ratio for marriage. In Model 6, when controlling for marital status and sex, race, education, income, age and the presence of children, the odds of married gays and lesbians being smokers are 0.42 of those of cohabiting gays and lesbians being smokers, that is their odds are 58% lower (p<.05). Model 7 adds in an interaction effect between marital status and sex. The main effect for marriage is significant with an odds ratio of .416 (p<.05) however the interaction effect is not significant. This shows that marital status does not affect the odds of being a smoker differently for gays and lesbians.

As for the control variables, NH Blacks have lower odds of being a smoker than NH Whites (OR .21 p<.05), as are Hispanics (OR .18 p<.01), and Non-Hispanic Others (OR 2.91 p<.05). Education and income matter as well here. Those with at least a bachelor's degree have 66% lower odds of being a smoker when controlling for sex, race, income, age and children (OR .35 p<.01). Those in the highest income bracket (100,000 +) have 77% lower odds of being a smoker than those in the lowest income bracket (34,999 and less) (p<.01).

² When not weighting the data (i.e., not using the *svyset* command), the statistical difference remains in smoking status for married versus cohabiting gays and lesbians (p<.01).

Table 17 presents the predicted odds ratios of smoking for married lesbians compared to cohabiting lesbians. The coefficient for marriage is significant but negative until I enter income into the model. Once all the controls are added, marriage does not impact the odds of being a smoker for lesbians. The final, full model in Table 17, when controlling for race, education, income, age and the presence of children marriage does not affect the odds of being a smoker among lesbians (p>.10). However, this may be due to the small cell sizes. As seen in Table 2, there are only 19 married lesbians and 26 cohabiting lesbians who are smokers in the unweighted sample. Even still, these results support my fifth hypothesis that those in same-sex marriages are less likely to engage in risky behaviors such as smoking.

Table 18 shows a reduced n of 231 as opposed to 237 seen elsewhere in this research. Six cases have been removed from this equation due to small cell sizes. The number of gay smokers who listed their income as unknown was zero as shown in Table 18.1. In order to fully analyze smoking status and marital status, these six cases needed to be removed which also leaves out the category of unknown income.

Table 18 presents the predicted log odds of smoking status for married gay men when compared to cohabiting gay men. All of the models show significant odds ratios for marriage meaning that gay married men have lower odds of being a smoker than cohabiting gay men (p<.05). In the full model, Model 6^3 , the odds ratio (e^{-.963}) is .38 meaning that gay men who are married have 62% lower odds of smoking than gay men who are cohabiting (p<.05) when

³ When not using the weighted data (i.e., not using the *svyset* command), the statistical difference remains in smoking status for married versus cohabiting gays (p<.05).

controlling for race, education, income, age and the presence of children under the age of 18 in the household.

Table 19 has combined racial categories due to small cell sizes for NH Black smokers. This is shown in Table 19.1. For this reasons I have combined all non-White races together to compare against NH Whites.

Table 19.2 shows a similar issue as Table 18.1. There are too few smokers who listed yearly income as unknown. Therefore, just as in Table 18, the unknown category has been removed. Even with these changes in the sample, the coefficients for gender differentiating between married gays and married lesbians are still not statistically significant. For married lesbians compared to married gay men, there is no statistically significant difference (p>.10) in the log odds of being a smoker. This is presented in each of the models in Table 19 showing controls for sex, race, education, income, age and the presence of children in the household. While research indicates that lesbians have elevated risk of being a smoker (Gruskin and Gordon 2006), it is possible that the circumstances that led these particular lesbians to be married also led them to avoid or to quit smoking.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
	1011	1012	1015	101 1	1110	1110	1017
Married	.44**	.41**	.42**	.48**	.47**	.48**	.42*
	(.12)	(.11)	(.12)	(.13)	(.13)	(.13)	(.17)
Female	.82	.84	.71	.59	.59	.64	.57
	(.22)	(.23)	(.20)	(.17)	(.17)	(.20)	(.22)
Race							
NH Black		.51	.31*	.19*	.20*	.21*	.21*
		(.30)	(.18)	(.13)	(.14)	(.15)	(.15)
Hispanic		.28*	.21**	.18**	.18**	.18**	.19**
1		(.15)	(.12)	(.10)	(.11)	(.11)	(.11)
NH Other		2.72*	2.84*	2.90	2.96	2.91*	2.98*
		(1.20)	(1.43)	(1.59)			(1.60)
College Degree			.24***	.35**	. ,	· · · ·	.34**
0 0			(.07)	(.11)	(.11)	(.11)	(.11)
Annual HH Income							
in Thousands							
35 - 74				.52	.52	.53	.54
				(.23)	(.23)	(.24)	(.24)
75-99				.37	.36	.37	.37
				(.21)	(.21)	(.21)	(.21)
> 100				.24**	.23**	.23**	.23**
				(.13)	(.13)	(.13)	(.13)
Unknown				.20	.20	.20	.19
				(.22)	(.22)	(.21)	(.21)
Age					1.01	1.00	1.00
0					(.01)	(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					()	.60	.59
						(.28)	(.28)
Interaction:							1.35
Married X Female							
							(.78)
Constant	.30***	.35***	.82	1.84	1.46	1.55	1.61
	(.07)	(.09)	(.24)	(.85)	(.86)	(.92)	(.98)
Change in F-	4.73**	4.93**	25.51***	1.95	.38	1.19	.27
Statistic						/	
Change in DF	2	3		4		1	

Table 16. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married	.47*	.38*	.46*	.49	.49	.51
warned	(.18)	(.14)	(.17)	(.18)	(.18)	(.19)
Race						
NH Black		.57	.32	.26	.27	.28
		(.39)	(.23)	(.23)	(.24)	(.25)
Hispanic		.19*	.15*	.13*	.13*	.13*
-		(.14)	(.12)	(.11)	(.11)	(.11)
NH Other		4.19	3.67	3.43	3.45	3.32
		(3.64)	(2.84)	(2.37)	(2.35)	(2.26)
College Degree		· /	.25**		.31*	.31*
			(.11)	(.14)	(.14)	(.14)
Annual HH Income in Thousands			~ /	``´	、 <i>,</i>	~ /
35 - 74				.75	.76	.78
				(.40)	(.41)	(.42)
75-99				.42	.41	.42
				(.35)	(.34)	(.35)
> 100				.45	.44	.44
				(.29)	(.29)	(.29)
Unknown				.68	.67	.66
				(.62)	(.62)	(.60)
Age					1.01	1.00
C					(.01)	(.02)
Children In HH						.73
						(.35)
Constant	.24***	.30***	.55	.79	.63	.72
	(.06)	(.08)	(.17)	(.40)	(.48)	(.56)
Change in F- Statistic	4.13*	3.01*	9.91**	.47	.14	.41
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1
	1 7	<u> </u>		Т	1	1

Table 17. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
	4.4.4	2 0 4		4.4.4	2 0 1	2 O th
Married	.41*	.39*	.35**	.41*	.39*	.38*
	(.15)	(.14)	(.14)	(.17)	(.15)	(.15)
Race						
NH Black		.43	.28	.08*	.08*	.06*
		(.44)	(.29)	(.09)	(.09)	(.07)
Hispanic		.36	.29	.21*	.21*	.19*
		(.24)	(.20)	(.16)	(.16)	(.16)
NH Other		2.89	3.46	4.24	4.39	5.46
		(2.70)	(4.21)	(5.00)	(5.16)	(5.65)
College Degree			.24**	.38	.37*	.35*
			(.10)	(.19)	(.18)	(.17)
Annual HH Incon	ne in Thous	ands				
35 - 74				.19*	.18*	.16*
				(.15)	(.14)	(.12)
75-99				.15*	.15*	.12*
				(.13)	(.12)	(.11)
> 100				.07**	.06**	.05**
				(.06)	(.06)	(.05)
Age					1.01	1.01
0					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						.10
						(.20)
Constant	0.33***	0.38***	0.88	5.10*	3.96	5.13
	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.33)	(3.72)	(3.66)	(4.82)
Change in F- Statistic	5.00*	1.33	13.04***	1.22	.19	1.07
Change in DF	1	3	1	3	1	1

Table 18. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Gay Men, N=231.

Income	Smoking Sta	Total	
	Non-Smoker	Smoker	
Not Unknown	187	44	231
Unknown	6	0	6
Total	193	44	237

Table 18.1. Smoking Status and Income Category Unknown

Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Female	.87	.90	.91	.75	.76	.79
1 emaie	(.39)	(.41)	(.41)	(.33)	(.33)	(.37)
Race				()		
Not NH White		.80	1.01	1.20	1.15	1.15
		(.47)	(.64)	(.80)	(.81)	(.81)
College Degree			.29*	.39	.38	.38
			(.15)	(.21)	(.20)	(.20)
Annual HH Income in Thousands						
35 - 74				.70	.70	.70
				(.43)	(.42)	(.43)
75-99				.40	.37	.37
				(.30)	(.29)	(.29)
> 100				.36	.34	.34
				(.23)	(.23)	(.23)
Age					1.01	1.01
Children In HH					(.02)	(.02) .82
						.82 (.49)
Constant	.13***	.15***	.24*	.38	.27	.28
	(.04)	(.08)	(.13)	(.28)	(.19)	(.21)
Change in F-	.1	.15	5.85*	1	.29	.11
Statistic						
Change in DF	1	1	1	3	1	1

Table 19. Odds Ratios for Smoking Status & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Married Gay & Lesbians, N=266.

Table 19.1. Smoking Status and Race: NH Black

Race	Smoking	Smoking Status				
	Non-Smoker	Smoker				
Not NH Black	221	31	252			
NH Black	14	0	14			
Total	235	31	266			

Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

Table 19.2. Smoking Status and	Income Category Unknown
--------------------------------	-------------------------

Income	Smoking	Total	
	Non-Smoker	Smoker	
Not Unknown	397	87	484
Unknown	19	2	21
Total	416	89	505

Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

4.2.4. Binge Drinking

The results in the final tables estimate marriage effect on binge drinking for gays and lesbians.

There are no statistically significant odds ratios for marriage when analyzing binge drinking for married versus cohabiting gays and lesbians, as seen in Table 20. In Model 6, before the interaction effect is added, the coefficient (see in Table A.17 in the appendix) is positive but insignificant (.38; p>.10). There are only two control variables in Model 6 that are significant. These are age and the presence of children. For every year increase in age the odds of binge drinking decrease by 6% (OR .94 p<.001). The presence of children under the age of 18 in the household reduces the odds of binge drinking by 61% (OR .39 p<.05). Even still, there is no statistical difference (p>.10) in the odds of having at least one session of binge drinking in the past year (Table 20) for married versus cohabiting gays and lesbians when controlling for sex, race, education, income levels, age or the presence of children in the household. The interaction effect (OR 1.23) in Model 7 is also insignificant (p>.10). This indicates that being married does not affect the odds of binge drinking for gays any differently than it does for lesbians.

Similar results are shown in Tables 21, 22 and 23. There is no statistical difference in the odds of binge drinking for married lesbians when compared to cohabiting lesbians, for gay men whether or not they are married or cohabiting, nor for married lesbians compared to married gay men. In other words, married and cohabiting gays and lesbians engage in binge drinking at similar rates.

These results do not support my fifth hypothesis. There may be other, perhaps better, indicators of risky behavior for this population but it is also possible that by the time gays and lesbians in this sample reached a certain age, binge drinking was a thing of the past. One would like to think that the unpleasant circumstances in life that lead one to binge drinking may not be an issue for these married and cohabiting gays and lesbians.

Table 20. Odds Ratios	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
Married	1.03	1.06	1.08	1.06	1.34	1.46	1.32
	(.22)	(.23)	(.24)	(.24)	(.33)	(.37)	(.43)
Female	.83	.84	.81	.82	.76	.91	.81
	(.18)	(.18)	(.17)	(.17)	(.17)	(.21)	(.25)
Race							
NH Black		1.10	.95	.97	.65	.66	.66
		(.40)	(.34)	(.38)	(.28)	(.28)	(.29)
Hispanic		1.63	1.53	1.52	1.12	1.09	1.11
		(.46)	(.43)	(.43)	(.33)	(.32)	(.33)
NH Other		.94	.92	.93	.80	.76	.77
		(.39)	(.39)	(.40)	(.36)	(.34)	(.34)
College Degree			.67	.65	.67	.67	.66
0 0			(.14)	(.15)	(.16)	(.16)	(.16)
Annual HH Income						. ,	
in Thousands							
35 - 74				1.16	1.19	1.24	1.23
				(.43)	(.46)	(.48)	(.49)
75-99				.53	.69	.68	.68
				(.24)	(.32)	(.33)	(.33)
> 100				1.10	1.69	1.71	1.70
				(.45)	(.73)	(.74)	(.74)
Unknown				.69	.77	.71	.71
				(.48)	(.56)	(.52)	(.51)
Age				()	.95***	.94***	.94***
8-					(.01)	(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					(.01)	.39*	.39*
						(.14)	(.14)
Interaction:						()	1.23
Married X Female							1.23
Warned X I emale							(.54)
Constant	.66*	.59**	.76	.80	6.42***	7.62***	7.99***
Condum	(.11)	(.11)	(.17)	(.29)	(3.32)	(3.88)	(4.21)
Change in F-	.39	1.05	3.81	(.2))	(3.32) 31.82***	(3.88) 6.46*	.22
Statistic	.57	1.05	5.01	1.20	51.02	0.70	• 4 4
Change in DF	2	2	1	1	1	1	1
Change in Dr	2	$\frac{3}{DE - 4a}$	1	4	1	1	1

Table 20. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

Table 21. Odds Ratio	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married	1.07	1.23	1.29	1.22	1.36	1.49
	(.32)	(.36)	(.39)	(.37)	(.44)	(.50)
Race						
NH Black		.69	.60	.62	.40	.40
		(.38)	(.34)	(.37)	(.25)	(.25)
Hispanic		2.39*	2.29	2.68*	1.96	1.85
		(1.01)	(.98)	(1.15)	(.87)	(.85)
NH Other		1.40	1.33	1.27	1.23	1.13
		(1.05)	(.96)	(.94)	(.97)	(.88)
College Degree			.75	.66	.67	.66
0 0			(.23)	(.22)	(.22)	(.22)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				.81	.75	.79
				(.38)	(.35)	(.37)
75-99				.75	1.09	1.11
				(.45)	(.68)	(.72)
> 100				1.33	1.82	1.83
				(.71)	(.96)	(.96)
Unknown				.53	.65	.62
				(.39)	(.49)	(.47)
Age					.96***	.95***
8					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH						.54
						(.19)
Constant	.53**	.43***	.50*	.55	3.36	4.57*
	(.11)	(.10)	(.14)	(.22)	(2.13)	(2.92)
Change in F-	.06	1.69	.88	.72	12.81***	3.02
Statistic		2.07		••=		2.02
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 21. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
M : 10	00	1.01	0.0	1.00	1 47	1 60
Married Gays	.99	1.01	.98	1.00	1.47	1.58
n	(.29)	(.29)	(.29)	(.30)	(.48)	(.54)
Race		1.01	1 (7	1.0.4	1 5 4	
NH Black		1.91	1.67	1.94	1.54	1.44
		(1.12)	(.96)	(1.13)	(.98)	(.92)
Hispanic		1.22	1.14	1.08	.74	.74
		(.50)	(.46)	(.44)	(.32)	(.33)
NH Other		.67	.71	.65	.44	.50
		(.36)	(.43)	(.36)	(.33)	(.38)
College Degree			.57	.59	.62	.63
			(.17)	(.22)	(.26)	(.27)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				1.76	2.57	2.53
				(1.03)	(1.61)	(1.63)
75-99				.39	.50	.46
				(.26)	(.33)	(.32)
> 100				1.10	2.31	2.23
				(.76)	(1.69)	(1.69)
Unknown				1.36	1.35	1.12
Chichewh				(1.91)	(2.33)	(1.94)
Age				(11)1)	.93***	.93***
1150					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					(.01)	.08*
Constant	.67*	.62*	.91	.83	9.60**	(.10) 10.77**
Constant	(.11)	(.12)	(.25)	.83	(7.64)	(8.79)
Change in F	.00	.72	(.23) 3.59	(.47) 2.28	(7.04) 23.25***	(8.79) 4.32*
Change in F-	.00	.12	3.39	2.20	23.23	4.32
Statistic	1	2	1	4	1	1
Change in DF	1	$\frac{3}{DE 1}$	1	4	1	1

Table 22. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married vs. Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	.86	.88	.89	.90	.76	.90
	(.27)	(.28)	(.29)	(.30)	(.27)	(.32)
Race						
NH Black		.80	.59	.51	.31	.28
		(.54)	(.37)	(.34)	(.21)	(.20)
Hispanic		1.14	.96	.87	.61	.60
		(.42)	(.35)	(.33)	(.24)	(.24)
NH Other		.92	.94	.88	.84	.76
		(.76)	(.71)	(.66)	(.67)	(.60)
College Degree		· · ·	.42**	.42**	.44**	.45**
0 0			(.11)	(.12)	(.12)	(.13)
Annual HH						
Income in						
Thousands						
35 - 74				1.18	1.22	1.23
				(.66)	(.71)	(.74)
75-99				.49	.72	.68
				(.33)	(.52)	(.54)
> 100				.95	1.49	1.46
				(.55)	(.88)	(.89)
Unknown				.31	.34	.31
				(.33)	(.43)	(.40)
Age					.94***	.94***
-					(.01)	(.01)
Children In HH					``	.45
						(.19)
Constant	.66	.65	1.15	1.32	17.85***	23.72***
	(.15)	(.16)	(.35)	(.78)	(14.52)	(20.07)
Change in F-	.23	.08	10.69**	.95	20.95***	3.65
Statistic						
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table 23. Odds Ratios for Binge Drinking & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays & Lesbians, N=266.

In this chapter I presented the results of regression equations for the hypotheses outlined in Chapter 3. I discussed the results from testing the effect of marriage on health and health behaviors for gays and lesbians in same-sex marriages and same-sex cohabiting relationships. I detailed the results in terms of the five hypotheses mentioned in Chapter 3: testing the differences in self-rated health, high blood pressure, smoking, and binge drinking. I found support for one hypothesis. This indicates that there is a selection effect for gays and lesbians who married immediately after same-sex marriage was available nationwide. Those who were in worse health and needed access to health care may have been among the first to marry. It is possible that there is a lag effect after marriage for health effect but that in the area of smoking, marriage has a positive affect for gays and lesbians. In the next chapter, Chapter 5, I will discuss conclusions, limitations of this research, implications of this research and where future research should focus regarding same-sex marriage as it impacts health.

5. DISCUSSION

In this chapter I will discuss my conclusions, significance of the research, reflect upon the limitations of the data, and outline future research in the area of demography of sexual orientation and marriage.

5.1. Discussion and Summary

In Chapter 4 I discussed the results of the ordered and binary logistic regression equations estimating a set of dependent variables related to health: two different categorizations of selfrated health, high blood pressure, smoking status and binge drinking. While only one of my hypotheses was supported, the results are important in addressing the current gaps in the literature with respect to health and same-sex marriage. It has become clear that what we do not know about same-sex marriage and health far surpasses what we do know or think we know.

In the first and second sets of equations I hoped to find support for my first two hypotheses that stated that those in same-sex marriages have higher self-rated health than those cohabiting, and that those in female-female marriage have higher self-rated health than those in male-male marriage. When measuring health with a binary self-reported health variable I did not find support for the health benefit of marriage for either gays or lesbians. There is no statistical difference in the health of married or cohabiting gays and lesbians in the pooled regression, no difference in the health of married or cohabiting lesbians, married or cohabiting gay men nor married lesbians compared to married gay men. However, a binary self rated health is a rather rough measure of health (only separating two categories of health) and, therefore, might not be able to reveal the differences between those who are married and those who are not married. Health status is nuanced and measuring it in "good" or "not good", at least for those in this sample, erases the subtle differences in health for gays and lesbians. When using a four category health variable those finer details and subtle differences emerge. I find some significant effects for marriage. When comparing married and cohabiting gays and lesbians, cohabiting gays and lesbians seem to be reporting better health before age is controlled (p<.05, while controlling for gender, race, education, and income). I suggest that the loss of significance after age is added as a control is to be expected. With age comes a decline in health regardless of marital status, sexual orientation or identity and this decline may be seen in more pronounced ways for aging gays and lesbians (Fredriksen-Goldsen and Muraco 2010).

Moving to the results of married and cohabiting lesbians, lesbians who are cohabiting report better health than married lesbians in the full model with all controls added (p<.05). However, in the next equation, there is not a difference in the health between married and cohabiting gay men. Also, in the pooled data, when estimating the interaction effect between gender and marital status, that interaction effect remains non-significant. This means that there is no difference in the effect of marriage for women and men. Only in the separate equations do I see the difference – where marriage leads to lower health outcome for women but does not affect the health of men. There is also no difference in health between married lesbians and married gay men.

There are several reasons why marriage might not yield to significant coefficients for predicting self-rated health in these equations. For example, those who are married are older than those who are cohabiting and, as noted above, with age comes a decline in health. (Hence the significant effect of marriage before controlling for age). This indicates that before I take age into account, the age effect is carried by marriage (therefore showing that those who are married have worse health). Also, it is possible that there is a self-selection bias here. Once marriage became a legal option, those who were older may have jumped on the opportunity to get married

sooner because they needed the legal protections that the marriage gives due to their poorer health (or due to anticipating poorer health in the near future).

Additionally, marriage protections enjoyed by heterosexuals have not had the same amount of time to emerge and become protective for these gays and lesbians. Same-sex marriage has only been available nation-wide for a few years and it is likely that more time will be needed to see these protections emerge in the data regarding gays and lesbians in same-sex marriages. Guner, Kulikova, and Llull (2018) suggest that an accumulation of marriage capital, a measure of how many years a person has been married, is needed before a positive impact on health is seen. An accumulation of 10 years of marriage increases the probability of better health by 3% points. They found that this impact is found for those who married in their 20's as well as those who married in their 40's (Guner, Kulikova, and Llull 2018). However, the impact is not seen until middle age, the same as the average age of gays and lesbians represented in this research. It means that 10 years of marriage may be needed to see the positive impact on health for gays and lesbians. However, for the cohabiting lesbians, it seems as though the protections may already be evident. Perhaps for these lesbians, the impact of living together regardless of marital status, indeed the impact of the same-sex female relationship all together, on health is already seen. It is possible that lesbians who are partnered with other lesbians are experiencing the "Thomas effect" in that the relationship is experienced as "real" and thus is "real" in its consequences (Thomas and Thomas 1928). To test this, further analysis is needed comparing cohabiting lesbians to those not in long-term relationship.

In the third set of equations, I hoped to find support for my third and fourth hypotheses. I suggested that married gays and lesbians would have lower instances of hypertension than those who were cohabiting and that married gay men would be worse off in terms of high blood

pressure than married lesbians. My hypotheses were not supported. In fact, I found that cohabiting lesbians are by far better off than all others in this sample with a much lower predicted probability of having high blood pressure (p < .05). Marriage might have a positive impact in hypertension diagnosis for men who are gay and so we may eventually see support for my third hypothesis, but it was not found in this sample. Women who are gay, however, are not so fortunate. Table 13 shows that married lesbians have over 2 times the odds of having high blood pressure than do cohabiting lesbians (p<.05). Among cohabiting gays and lesbians, the lesbians are healthier. As marriage works among heterosexuals, cohabitation seems to work for lesbians. The protective effect of cohabitation for lesbians, in this instance, is likely less because of the "Thomas effect" and more likely due to a lack of need for the benefits provided by marriage. It is possible that the selection effect is seen in these data. Those who were needing access to marriage and the associated tangible benefits such as access to health care would have worse health and possibly higher levels of blood pressure. For heterosexuals there is a selection effect where those in better health select in to marriage. It is possible that, as seen in the Frisch and Brønnum-Hansen research, gays and lesbians in worse health are selecting in to marriage (2009) while those who are cohabiting experience better levels of health without a diagnosis of hypertension.

The only hypothesis that is supported in this dissertation is the impact of marriage on smoking status. Married lesbians and gay men are less likely to be smokers than cohabiting gays and lesbians (p<.05). The impact of marriage on health appears to work in the area of smoking, since, as a behavior it is easier to change than a health diagnosis such as hypertension. The other health outcomes may show a lag in effect whereas smoking status can be changed relatively faster and so no lag in effect is seen. It is possible that other risky behaviors will ultimately be

found to be diminished in and after marriage. Regardless of what may be in the future, I did not find any difference in the odds of binge drinking. Among those who are binge drinkers there are nearly identical percentages of gays and lesbians. Gay men make up 49% of binge drinkers and lesbians account for 51% of binge drinkers. It may be that gays and lesbians in and out of marriage binge drink at the same rates or it might be that they are all equally unlikely to be binge drinkers.

While the majority of my hypotheses were not supported, I suspect that the continued monitoring of these populations and the above listed health outcomes will begin to show something much different. I expect that increases in self-rated health and decreases in hypertension and risky behaviors will be seen over time as more healthy members of this minority population enter into marriage and restrictions to health care access are removed. 5.1.1. Significance

These results reported in my dissertation contributed significantly to the existing literature on the partnership of lesbians and gay men in America. This dissertation is one of the first times the marriage effect has been examined among partnered gays and lesbians. As mentioned in my introductory chapter, marriage is considered to be beneficial for both partners and therefore we expect to see that those who are married experience higher levels of health, financial stability, and overall life satisfaction but that is not seen in these data. For those gays and lesbians who cohabit but are not married, the cohabiting lesbians are healthier. When compared to cohabiting gays and lesbians, the effect of being a lesbian who cohabits with a romantic partner seems to work the same as marriage among heterosexuals does.

There are several reasons that this could be. It could be that marriage does not work for gays and lesbians in the same way that it works for heterosexuals. It could be that marriage does

not offer the same protections for gays and lesbians. It could also be that those who entered into marriage did so in order to access health benefits that were needed. It is possible that the very reason the fight for same-sex marriage started in Hawaii might be one of the reasons that these people entered in to marriage: as a means to affordably access health care when experiencing a health crisis. It is possible that these people married because they were in poor or fair health and needed the benefits offered in marriage such access to health insurance and health care providers.

Recent research documents the negative impact and stress of occupying a sexual minority status on health (Frost, Lahavot and Meyer 2015). A growing body of research shows that men and women who self-identify as gay, lesbian, bisexual or "mostly heterosexual" have higher risks of binge drinking, high blood pressure, sexually transmitted infections, and are more likely to have unhealthy body mass index scores (Dermody et al. 2014; Hatzenbuehler, McLaughlin and Slopen 2013; Katz-Wise et al. 2014; Mojola and Everett 2012).

This minority status does seem to be working against those in this sample, as we would expect. Those who marry may not yet be experiencing the health benefits of marriage especially if they married as a result of needing access to health care. In essence, the major contribution and significance of this dissertation is that for homosexuals as for heterosexuals, marriage might be the pathway to health, but more time is needed for those health outcomes to materialize.

5.2. Limitations

The research reported in this dissertation is not without considerable limitations. First, the data do not allow me to analyze gays and lesbians based on their sexual behavior, sexual or romantic attractions. I was restricted to measure whether a person is a lesbian or a gay male only on the basis of whether the person self-identified as a homosexual and not as a heterosexual and whether or not they were in a living arrangement with a same-sex partner either through

marriage or cohabitation. This is not ideal. Current research employs several definitions of sexual orientation, as mentioned in an earlier chapter with some researchers using as many as seven different dimensions (Bogaert 2012; Laumann et al. 1994). Most research on sexual orientation aims to measure sexual orientation with one's self-reported sexual identity, sexual behavior, and sexual attraction; those represent the so called "trifecta" of sexual orientation (Laumann et al. 1994). Using this trifecta of measurements to identify non-heterosexuals leads to a more holistic understanding of a person's sexual orientation. There is sometimes a gay/lesbian effect on the outcome when using one of the dimensions, while there is not an effect on the outcome measuring orientation with another of the three dimensions. Without having any of the other dimensions in the data to allow a broad understanding of a respondent's sexual orientation and identity, I am limited in my analysis and conclusions. I am limited to only addressing health outcomes based on self-reported sexual orientation.

Another limitation is the over-representation of non-Hispanic Whites with high levels of education in the sample. Both of these characteristics alone have been shown to positively impact health outcomes throughout the life course (Gorman et al. 2015). As mentioned in a pervious chapter, other researchers have found the same over-representation in different nationally representative samples. It is possible that while education can lead to higher levels of income post graduation, access to disposable income and fewer family responsibilities in terms of unplanned pregnancies may lead to higher levels of education or at least educational access. It is worth noting that an analysis that includes higher representation of NH-Blacks and Hispanics as well as more nuanced levels of education, or at least more divers racial representation in the higher education and income levels, should result in very different health outcomes. It is expected that worse health outcomes would be found for those in lower levels of socioeconomic

status, however, men in same-sex marriages are less likely to be in lower SES categories compared to married men who are married to women (Badgett 2018). While the limitation of overrepresentation of well educated, affluent, white respondents surely impacted the results, only further research on this topic will help to tease apart the distinctions between sexual orientation, marriage, and health. By using an intersectional approach to address these differences, we can better understand who is more likely to marry in terms of racial minorities and those in the working class. Feminist literature indicates that when looking at heterosexual couples, these groups are less likely to marry (Raley, Sweeney, and Wondra 2015) and it is important to determine how racial minority status, SES, and sexual minority status intersect with health. Those with different disadvantageous characteristics may experience health differently. For example, a lesbian of a minority race may have a lower health status due to race rather than minority sexual orientation status. It is also possible that the effect of sexual identity would be amplified for minority racial groups. The inability to examine this sample in a way that can take into account the intersectionalities is a limitation that future research should strive to overcome.

Finally, I was limited by the small sample size of partnered gays and lesbians, regardless of marital status. I had just over 500 respondents in the data that spanned 3 years. I had 268 partnered lesbians and 237 partnered gay men. My small sample sizes made it more difficult to find effects that were statistically significant in the different relationship groupings. This limits the reliability and ability to generalize my findings, especially any findings that fail to reject the null hypothesis. The small sample size limits the statistical power and the ability to determine differences between the groups. A larger sample size might well show very different results in statistical significance for many of the equations.

5.3. Future Research

Future research on the impact of marriage for gay men and lesbians should continue to look at health as an outcome. As social acceptance for gays and lesbians fluctuates in America, research should look at health outcomes in different regions for those who marry and those who cohabit. The rise in social acceptance and civil rights in the early 2000's has led to an enhanced visibility of gays and lesbians in national surveys and a rise in the number of estimated gays and lesbians in the general population (Newport 2018). Along with the enhanced visibility of gays and lesbians in surveys, there is greater visibility of gays and lesbians, especially those who marry, in society and in our communities. This raised visibility can lead to increased levels of discrimination largely due to sexual orientation and marital status (Donnelly, Robinson, and Umberson 2018). Simply by being in a same-sex marriage couples have "outed" themselves and made themselves greater targets for discrimination. With the changing political and social landscapes, as we enter a new decade, research on gays and lesbians may show drastically different results. It will be especially important to continue to research and follow the health outcomes of these populations if the civil rights granted in 2015 are restricted or overturned by future court rulings.

This dissertation uses only a few health-related outcomes to measure the impact of marriage on health. More research needs to be conducted on this topic with the addition of other outcomes and risk behaviors to more fully determine whether marriage has an effect on health for same-sex couples. Other potentially telling health risk variables include but are not limited to illicit drug use, extra-marital sexual relations including casual sexual relationships as well as long term sexual relationships without the knowledge of both spouses, excessive speeding while driving, driving without the use of seat belts, and the presence or absence of regular health habits

such as exercise and doctor visits. Other health outcome variables that can be explored in the NHIS are adult BMI calculation, disability status, heart disease, onset diabetes, cancer diagnosis, and mental health outcomes including depression. This dissertation is only scratching the surface of analyzing how marriage affects the health of same-sex couples.

Furthermore, additional research using the vast NHIS data could include an analysis of health outcomes of same-sex couples compared to those who identify as gay or lesbian but are not in domestic relationships, either cohabitation or marriage. Research that includes an examination of bisexuals who are married or cohabiting with same-sex partners could also give insight to possible marriage protections for a population who consistently experiences worse health and SES outcomes when compared to all other relationships and orientation groups. While that was not possible with this research due to small cell sizes and the intentional exclusion of those who did not respond as identifying as either gay or lesbian, a broadened definition of sexual orientation that uses relationship status as a proxy could allow for interesting research and telling results. Furthermore, a study similar to the 2009 study by Frisch and Brønunm-Hansen could be conducted looking at lesbians and gays in same-sex marriage but comparing the health outcomes to heterosexuals in opposite sex marriages.

Additionally, analyses undertaken in the future should also address some of the sample size limitations listed previously. Perhaps as we move farther away from the 2015 SCOTUS ruling, there will be more representation of gays and lesbians who are married or cohabiting in nationally representative surveys. Research with larger samples will be helpful in better understanding the overall impact of relationship status for this population.

Though my findings with regard to a diagnosis of hypertension were not statistically significant when looking at the differences between married and cohabiting gays and lesbians, it

appears as though high blood pressure is more likely for cohabiting gay men than for cohabiting lesbians, and more likely for married lesbians than for cohabiting lesbians. Recent research on blood pressure and union type indicates that men who date men have higher diastolic blood pressure (DBP) than men who date women. However, lesbians who cohabit with same-sex partners and parenting lesbians have lower DBP than women who date or cohabit with the opposite-sex (Frech, Lynch and Barr 2015). I suspect that as we examine these relationships closer, we will see this trend of better health outcomes for partnered lesbians when compared to others in all other union types. This is an important issue that needs further research in order to understand the social impact of sexual orientation and relationship status as it effects health outcomes.

5.4. Reflection

In my examinations of the health outcomes and risky behaviors of lesbians and gay men, I notice an important trend. Though the findings are not statistically significant, cohabiting lesbians have a lower probability of smoking and binge drinking than do cohabiting gay men. They also have lower probability of having high blood pressure. While they may not have a higher probability than gay men of rating their health as very good or excellent, the factors that contribute to better health are working in their favor. These results do not speak directly to my hypotheses that asserted that those in marriages will have higher ratings of self-health than those who are not married but they do present an interesting possibility for the future of lesbians in and out of marriage. It is possible that these health behaviors may translate into a longer and healthier lifespan for lesbians as compared to gay men. If, when controlling for education, income, race, Hispanic ethnicity, and the presence or absence of children, lesbians still have better health outcomes than their gay male counterparts, in and out of marriage, we will see something interesting emerging in the demographic trends.

This may be further indicated as the marriages that were entered in to as soon as legally possible in order to access health care, in an effort to ease negative health situations, find better health status through access granted by marriage. If those seeking marriage as a means to mitigate poor health ultimately see their health get better and more healthy gays and lesbians select in to marriage, the health disparities between gays and lesbians will widen or grow.

Among married heterosexuals, men benefit more than women from the health-promoting effects of marriage (Read and Gorman 2010). Future research may show that self-rated health improves for lesbians who are married as their actual health behaviors and health outcomes continue to show that they are faring better than gay men. I argue that it is women who make marriage healthy for men in heterosexual marriages, and, thus, they also will likely make marriage healthy for women in female same-sex marriages. This will create a Lesbian Paradox.

This paradox will be much like the Latino Epidemiological Paradox. The Latinx population in the U.S. experience lower socioeconomic levels than non-Hispanic Whites. However, they have health outcomes that meet or exceed the outcomes of non-Hispanic Whites. They also experience lower mortality rates than non-Hispanic Whites. This phenomenon is opposite of what is expected for this population and has been named the Latino Epidemiological Paradox or the Hispanic Paradox (Franzini, Ribble and Keddie 2001).

Decades of research have suggested that the health outcomes and mortality for the American Latinx population are much like the outcomes and mortality rates and risks of non-Hispanic Whites (McCarthy 2015). This has been found in empirical research repeatedly even though the Latinx population is much more similar to non-Hispanic Blacks, socioeconomically (Hummer et al. 2007). This paradox shows that Latinos/as have advantages in health outcomes and mortality rates even though they have higher levels of disadvantages such as poverty, restricted access to health care, and lower levels of education (Douglas and Saenz 2008; Saenz 2010; Saenz and Morales 2012).

I believe that future research will show that health outcomes for lesbians who marry will be significantly better than those for gay men who marry. However, both groups will continue to be better off than gay men who cohabit. This theory is supported by the predicted probabilities shown in Table 12.1. Cohabiting lesbians have the lowest probability of having high blood pressure. As these lesbians select into marriage, I expect that we will see that they experience better health outcomes than gay men who cohabit or marry. That, coupled with the health improvements expected for those lesbians who selected in to marriage as a way to access health care, should create a category of married persons with excellent health, low levels of risky health behaviors, and ultimately longer lives: A Lesbian Paradox.

This is the final chapter in my dissertation examining the impact on health of marriage for gays and lesbians. This final chapter offered conclusions, limitations of the research, and a few ideas for future research. In this chapter I also detailed the emergence of a new demographic phenomenon, the Lesbian Paradox.

REFERENCES

"5 facts about same-sex marriage." Pew Research Center, Washington, D.C. (June 24, 2019) https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/06/24/same-sex-marriage/

Aaron, Deborah, Nina Markovic, Michelle Danielson, Julie Honnold, Janie Janosky, and Nancy Schmidt. 2001. "Behavioral Risk Factors for Disease and Preventive Health Practices Among Lesbians." *American Journal of Public Health 91*(6):972–975.

Allegretto, Sylvia A. and Michelle M. Arthur. 2001. "An Empirical Analysis of Homosexual/Heterosexual Male Earnings Differentials: Unmarried and Unequal?" *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 54:631-646.

Antecol, Heather, Anneke de Jong and Michael Steinberger. 2007. "The Sexual Orientation Wage Gap: The Role of Occupational Sorting, Human Capital, and Discrimination." *IRL Review 6*(4):518-543.

Badgett, M.V. Lee. 1995. "The Wage Effects of Sexual Orientation Discrimination." Industrial and Labor Relations Review 48:726-739.

Badgett, M. V. Lee and Naomi Goldberg. 2009. *Best Practices for Asking Questions about Sexual Orientation on Surveys.* The Williams Institute with the Sexual Minority Assessment Research Team (SMART), a multidisciplinary and multi-institutional collaboration.

Badgett, M. V. Lee. 2018. "Left Out? Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Poverty in the U.S." *Population Research and Policy Review* 37:667-702.

Baehr v Lewin, 74 Haw. 530, 1993.

Baiocco, Roberto, Michele Argalia and Fiorenzo Laghi. 2014. "The Desire to Marry and Attitudes Toward Same-Sex Family Legalization in a Sample of Italian Lesbians and Gay Men." *Journal of Family Issues 35*(2):181-200.

Baker v Nelson, 191 N.W.2d 185 (Minn. 1971).

Baumle, Amanda K., D'Lane R. Compton, and Dudley L. Poston, Jr. 2009. Same-Sex

Partners: The Social Demography of Sexual Orientation. Albany, NY: SUNY Press.

Baumle, Amanda K. and Dudley L. Poston, Jr. 2011. "The Economic Cost of

Homosexuality: Multilevel Models." Social Forces 89:1005-1032.

Berger, Joseph, H. Famit Fisek, Robert Z. Norman, & Morris Zelditch Jr. 1977. *Status Characteristics and Social Interaction: An Expectation Status Approach*. New York: Elseveier Scientific.

Berger, Joseph and Morris Zelditch. 1993. *Theoretical Research Programs: Study in the Growth of Theory*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Bernstein, Mary. 2018. "Same-Sex Marriage and the Assimilationist Dilemma: A Research Agenda on Marriage Equality and the Future of LGBTQ Activism, Politics, Communities, and Identities." *Journal of Homosexuality* 65(14):1941-1956.

Bernstein, Mary, Nancy Naples, and Brenna Harvey. 2015. "The Meaning of Marriage to Same-Sex Families: Formal Partnership, Parenthood, Gender, and the Welfare State in International Perspective." *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State, & Society 23*(1):3-39.

Black, Dan, Gary Gates, Seth Sanders and Lowell Taylor. 2000. "Demographics of the Gay and Lesbian Population in the United States: Evidence from Available Systematic Data Sources." *Demography 37*(2)139-154.

Bogaert, Anthony J. 2012. *Understanding Asexuality*. Lanman MD: Rowman Littlefield Publishers.

Buffie, William. 2011. "Public Health Implications of Same-Sex Marriage." *American Journal of Public Health 101*(6):986–90.

Broaddus, Melissa. 2020. "The Intersectionality of Race, Gender, Poverty, and Intimate Partner Violence." *Indiana Health Law Review 17* (2): 207–27.

Brown, Susan, Wendy Manning, and J. Bart Stykes. 2015. "Family Structure and Child Well-being: Integrating Family Complexity." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 77(1): 177-190.

Bruce, Douglas and Gary W. Harper. 2011. "Operating Without a Safety Net: Gay Male Adolescents and Emerging Adults 'Experiences of Marginalization and Migration, and Implications for Theory of Syndemic Production of Health Disparities." *Health Education & Behavior 38*(4): 367-378.

Cain, Virginia. 2012. "Improving Measurement of Sexual Orientation in US Health Surveys." European Conference on Quality in Official Statistics.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015. *National Health Interview Survey*. Hyattsville MD.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017. *National Health Interview Survey*. National Center for Health Statistics. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/about_nhis.htm

Chandra, Anjani, Casey E. Copen, and William D. Mosher. 2013. "Sexual Behavior, Sexual Attraction and Sexual Identity in the United States: Data from the 2006-2010 National Survey of Family Growth." Pp. 45-66 in *International Handbook on the Demography of Sexuality*, edited by Amanda K. Baumle. New York, NY: Springer Publications. Cherlin, Andrew J. 2013. "Health, Marriage, and Same-Sex Partnerships." *Journal of Health & Social Behavior 54*(1):64-66.

Childers, Kevin. 2000. "Status Characteristics Theory and Sexual Orientation: Explaining Gender Differences in Responses to Sexual Orientation." *Current Research in Social Psychology 5*(11):191-206.

Clarkson-Freeman, Pamela. 2004. "The Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA): Its Impact on Those Seeking Same-Sex Marriages." *Journal of Homosexuality* 48(2):1-19.

Cochran, Susan, Vickie Mays, Deborah Bowen, Suzann Gage, Deborah Bybee, Susan Roberts, Robert Goldstein, Ann Robison, Elizabeth Rankow, and Jocelyn White. 2001. "Cancer-Related Risk Indicators and Preventive Screening Behaviors Among Lesbian and Bisexual Women." *American Journal of Public Health 91*(4):591–597.

Cochran, Susan, Deborah Ackerman, Vickie Mays, and Michael Ross. 2004. "Prevalence of non-medical drug use and dependence among homosexually active men and women in the US population." *Addiction 99*(8): 989-998.

Conron, Keith, Matthew Mimiaga, and Stewart Landers. 2010. "A Population-Based Study of Sexual Orientation Identity and Gender Differences in Adult Health." *American Journal of Public Health 100*:1953–1960.

Cook, Matthew and Jason Shelly. 2007. "Recognition of Same-Sex Marriage". Georgetown Journal of Gender and the Law 8(2): 683-746.

Coombs, Robert H. 1991. "Marital Status and Personal Well-Being: A Literature Review." *Family Relations 40*(1):97-102. Cooper, M. Lynne, Marcia Russell, and William H. George. 1988. "Coping,

Expectancies, and Alcohol Abuse: A Test of Social Learning Formulations". *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* 97(2):218–230.

Cushing-Daniels, Brendan and Tsz-Ying Yeung. 2009. "Wage Penalties and Sexual Orientation: An Update Using the General Social Survey." *Contemporary Economic Policy* 27:164-175.

Dai, Hongying and Ilan H. Meyer. 2019. "A Population Study of Health Status Among Sexual Minority Older Adults in Select U.S. Geographic Regions." *Health Education & Behavior 46*(3):426-435.

Dee, Thomas. 2008. "Forsaking All Others? The Effects of Same-Sex Partnership Laws on Risky Sex." *The Economic Journal 118*:1055-1078.

"Defense of Marriage Act of 1996". PL 104-199, 21 September 1996. 110 United States Statues.

DeMaio, Theresa J., Nancy Bates, and Martin O'Connell. 2013. "Exploring Measurement Error Issues in Reporting of Same-Sex Couples." *Public Opinion Quarterly* 77(S1):145-158.

Dermody, Sandra S., Michael P. Marshal, JeeWon Cheong, Chad Burton, Tonda Hughes, Frances Aranda, and Mark S. Friedman. 2014. "Longitudinal Disparities of Hazardous Drinking Between Sexual Minority and Heterosexual Individuals From Adolescence to Young Adulthood." *Journal of Youth and Adolescence 43*:30–39.

Diamond, Lisa. 2003. "What Does Sexual Orientation Orient? A Biobehavioral Model Distinguishing Romantic Love and Sexual Desire." *Psychological Review 110*(1):173-192. Donnelly, Rachel, Brandon A. Robinson, and Debra Umberson. 2018. "Can Spouses Buffer the Impact of Discrimination on Depressive Symptoms? An Examination of Same-sex and Different-sex Marriages." *Society and Mental Health 9*(2):192-210.

Douglas, Karen, and Rogelio Saenz. 2008. "No Phone, No Vehicle, No English and No Citizenship: The Vulnerability of Mexican Immigrants in the United States." Pp 161-180 in *Race, Human rights and Inequality,* edited by A. Hattery, D.G. Embrick and E. Smith. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield.

Du Bois, Steve N., Nicole Legate, and Ashley D. Kendall. 2019. "Examining Partnership–Health Associations Among Lesbian Women and Gay Men Using Population-Level Data." *LGBT Health 6*(1):23-33.

Durkheim, Emile. 1897. *Suicide: A study in sociology* (J. A. Spaulding & George Simpson, Trans.). New York: The Free Press.

Durso, Laura E., and Gary J. Gates. 2013 "Best Practices: Collecting and Analyzing Data on Sexual Minorities." Pp. 21-42 in *International Handbook on the Demography of Sexuality*, edited by Amanda K. Baumle. New York, NY: Springer Publications.

Faderman, Lillian. 2015. *The Gay Revolution: The Story of the Struggle*. Simon & Schuster: New York.

Farr, William. 1985. Transactions of the National Association for the Promotion of

Social Science. London: Parker. (Original work published 1858)

Fasbinder, Jennifer, Emily Monson, Darrel Montero, Jaime Sanders, and Annie C. Williams. 2013. "Same-Gender Marriage: Implications for Social Work Practitioners." *Advances in Social Work 14*(2): 416-432. Fassinger, Ruth E. 1991. "The Hidden Minority: Issues and Challenges in Working with Lesbian Women and Gay Men." *The Counseling Psychologist 19*(2):151-176.

Fish, Jessica N., Tonda L. Hughes and Stephen T. Russell. 2018. "Sexual identity differences in high-intensity binge drinking: findings from a US national sample." *Addiction 113*(4): 749-758.

Foddy, Margaret, and Michael Smithson. 1996. "Relative Ability, Paths of Relevance, and Influence in Task-Oriented Groups." *Social Psychology Quarterly 59*(2):140-53.

Franzini, Luisa, John C. Ribble, and Arlene M. Keddie. 2001. "Understanding the Hispanic Paradox." *Ethnicity and Disease 11*(3):496-518.

Frech, Adrianne, Jamie Lynch and Peter Barr. 2016. "Health Consequences of Same and Opposite-Sex Unions: Partnership, Parenthood, and Cardiovascular Risk Among Young Adults." *Journal of Behavioral Medicine 39*:13-27.

Frederick, Brian. 2014. "Delinquent Boys: Toward a New Understanding of "Deviant" and Transgressive Behavior in Gay Men." *Critical Criminology* 22(1):139-149.

Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen and Anna Muraco. 2010. "Aging and Sexual Orientation: A 25-Year Review of the Literature". *Research on Aging 32*(3):372-413.

Fredriksen-Goldsen, Karen, Charles A. Emlet, Hyun-Jun Kim, Anna Muraco, Elena Erosheva, Jayn Goldsen, Charles P. Hoy-Ellis. 2012. "The Physical and Mental Health of Lesbian, Gay Male, and Bisexual (LGB) Older Adults: The Role of Key Health Indicators and Risk and Protective Factors." *The Gerontologist 53*:664-675.

Frisch, Morten and Henrik Brønnum-Hansen. 2009. "Mortality among Men and Women in Same-Sex Marriage: A National Cohort Study of 8333 Danes." *American Journal of Public Health 99*(1):133-137. Frost, David, Keren Lehavot, and Ilan Meyer. 2015. "Minority Stress and Physical Health Among Sexual Minority Individuals." *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 38:1–8.

Freund, Kurt. 1991. "Reflections on the Development of the Phallometric Method of Assessing Erotic Preferences." *Annals of Sex Research September 1991 4*(3-4):221-228.

Gates, Gary J. 2013. "Geography of the LGBT Population." Pp. 229-242 in *International Handbook on the Demography of Sexuality*, edited by Amanda K. Baumle. New York, NY: Springer Publications.

Gates, Gary. 2013. "Demographics and LGBT Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior 54*(1):72–74.

Gates, Gary J. and Jason Ost. 2004. *The Gay and Lesbian Atlas*. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute Press.

Goffman, Erving. 1963. *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Goldman, Sheldon. 1998. "The Judicial Confirmation Crisis and the Clinton Presidency." Presidential Studies Quarterly 28(4): 838-844.

Goldman, Noreen. 1993. "Marriage Selection and Mortality Patterns: Inferences and Fallacies." *Demography 30*:189-208.

Gonzales, Gilbert and Carrie Henning-Smith. 2017. "Health Disparities by Sexual Orientation: Results and Implications from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System." *Journal of Community Health 42*(6):1163-1172.

Gorman, Bridget K., and Jen'nan Ghazal Read. 2006. "Gender Disparities in Adult Health: An Examination of Three Measures of Morbidity." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior 47*:95–110. Gorman, Bridget K., Justin T. Denney, Hilary Dowdy, and Rose Anne Medeiros. 2015. "A New Piece of the Puzzle: Sexual Orientation, Gender, and Physical Health Status." *Demography* 52:1357–1382.

Gorton, Don. 2011. "How 'It Gets Better' is Making it Better." *The Gay & Lesbian Review Worldwide 18*(5):5.

Gove, Walter. 1973. "Sex, Marital Status and Mortality." *American Journal of Sociology* 79:45-66.

Greenwood, Gregory, Jay Paul, Lance Pollack, Diane Binson, Joseph Catana, Jason Chang, Gary Humfleet, and Ron Stall. 2005. "Tobacco Use and Cessation Among a Household-Based Sample of Urban Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the U.S." *American Journal of Public Health 95*(1):145–151.

Grimes, William. 2016. "John Gagnon, Who Linked Sexuality to Social Influences, Dies at 84." *New York Times* (February 25).

Gruskin, Elizabeth, Stacey Hart, Nancy Gordon, and Lynn Ackerson. 2001. "Patterns of Cigarette Smoking and Alcohol Use Among Lesbians and Bisexual Women Enrolled in a Large Health Maintenance Organization." *American Journal of Public Health 91*(6):976–979.

Gruskin, Elizabeth and Nancy Gordon. 2006. "Gay/Lesbian Sexual Orientation increases Risk For Cigarette Smoking and Heavy Drinking Among Members of a large Northern California Health Plan." *BMC Public Health 6:* 241.

Guner, Nezih, Yuliya Kulikova, and Joan Llull. 2018. "Marriage and Health: Selection, Protection and Assortative Mating." *European Economic Review 104*(C): 138-166. Hatzenbuehler, Mark, Kate McLaughlin, and Natalie Slopen. 2013. "Sexual Orientation Disparities in Cardiovascular Biomarkers Among Young Adults." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 44:612–621.

Heiman, Julia R. 1977. "A Psychophysiological Exploration of Sexual Arousal Patterns in Females and Males." *Psychophysiology 14*(3)266-274.

Hemström, Örjan. 1996. "Is Marriage Dissolution Linked to Differences in Mortality Risks for Men and Women?" *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 58(2): 366-378.

Herek, Gregory M. 2007. "Confronting Sexual Stigma and Prejudice: Theory and Practice." *Journal of Social Issues 63*(4):905-925.

Herek, Gregory M. 2009. 'Sexual Prejudice. 'Pp. 441-467 in Handbook of Prejudice,

Stereotyping, and Discrimination, edited by T. D. Nelson. New York, NY: Psychology Press.

Herek, Gregory M. 2009. "Sexual Stigma and Sexual Prejudice in the United States: A

Conceptual Framework." Nebraska Symposium on Motivation 54:65-111.

Herek, Gregory M. 2011. "Anti-Equality Marriage Amendments and Sexual Stigma." Journal of Social Issues 67(2):413-426.

Hochschild, Arlie and Anne Machung. 2012. *The Second Shift: Working Families and the Revolution at Home*. Penguin Books: New York.

H.R. 3396 - 104th Congress (1995-1996): Defense of Marriage Act.

Hummer, Robert A., Daniel A. Powers, Starling G. Pullum, Ginger L. Gossman, and W.

Parker Frisbie. 2007. "Paradox Found (Again): Infant Mortality Among the Mexican-American Population in the United States." *Demography 44*(3):441-457.

Idler, Ellen, and Yael Benyamini. 1997. "Self-Rated Health and Mortality: A Review of Twenty-Seven Community Studies." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 38*(1): 21-37.

Jenkins, C. David, Bernard E. Kraeger, Robert M. Rose, and Michael Hurst. 1980. "Use of a Monthly Health Review to Ascertain Illness and Injuries." *American Journal of Public Health*, 70(1):82-84.

Johnson, Cathryn. 1995. "Sexual Orientation as a Diffuse Status Characteristic: Implications or Small Group Interaction." *Advances in Group Processes 12*:115–137.

Joung, Inez M., H. D. van de Mheen, K. Stronks, F. W. van Poppel, and J. P. Mackenbach. 1998. "A Longitudinal Study of Health Selection in Marital Transitions." *Social Science and Medicine* 46(3):425–35.

Kahneman, Daniel, Alan B. Krueger, David A. Schkade, Norbert Schwarz, Arthur A. Stone. 2004. "A Survey Method for Characterizing Daily Life Experience: The Day Reconstruction Method." *Science 306*(5702):1776-1780.

Katz-Wise, Sabra L., Emily A. Blood, Carly E. Milliren, Jerel P. Calzo, Tracy K. Richmond, Holly C. Gooding, and S. Bryn Austin. 2014. "Sexual Orientation Disparities in BMI Among US Adolescents and Young Adults in Three Race/Ethnicity Groups." *Journal of Obesity* 1-8.

Kazyak, Emily and Mathew Stange. 2018. "Backlash or a Positive Response?: Public Opinion of LGB Issues After *Obergefell v. Hodges*." *Journal of Homosexuality* 65(14):2028-2052.

King, Brian, Shanta Dube, and Michael Tynan. 2013. "Flavored cigar smoking among US adults: findings from the 2009–2010 national adult tobacco survey." *Nicotine and Tobacco Research 15*(2):608-614.

Kinsey, Alfred C. 1948. *Sexual Behavior in the Human Male*. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Co.

Lasch, Christopher. 1977. *Haven in a Heartless World: The Family Besieged*. New York: Basic Books.

Laumann, Edward O., John H. Gagnon, Robert T. Michael, and Stuart Michaels. 1994. *The Social Organization of Sexuality:Sexual Practices in the United States.* Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.

Laumann, Edward O., John H. Gagnon, and Robert T. Michael. 1994. "A Political History of the National Sex Survey of Adults." *Family Planning Perspectives 26*:34-38.

Lepkowski James M., William D. Mosher, Karen E. Davis, Robert M. Groves, and John Van Hoewyk. 2010. "The 2006–2010 National Survey of Family Growth: Sample Design and Analysis of a Continuous Survey. National Center for Health Statistics." *Vital Health Stat 2*(150).

LGBT Demographic Data Interactive. January 2019. Los Angeles, CA: The Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law.

Li, Qing, Richard Wilsnack, Sharon Wilsnack, and Arlinda Kristjanson. 2010. "Cohabitation, Gender, and Alcohol Consumption in 19 Countries: A Multilevel Analysis." *Substance Use & Misuse 45*(14):2481-2502

Lillard, Lee A. and Linda J. Waite. 1995. "Till Death Do Us Part: Marital Disruption and Mortality." *American Journal of Sociology 100*:1131-1156.

Lindley, Lisa L., Katrina M. Walsemann and Jarvis W. Carter Jr. 2012. "The Association of Sexual Orientation Measures with Young Adults 'Health-Related Outcomes." *American Journal of Public Health 102*(6): 1177–1185.

Liu, Hui. 2009. "Till Death Do Us Part: Marital Status and U.S. Mortality Trends, 1986-2000." *Journal of Marriage and Family 71*(5):1158-1173.

Liu, Hui, Corinne Reczek and Dustin Brown. 2013. "Same-Sex Cohabitors and Health: The Role of Race-Ethnicity, Gender, and Socioeconomic Status." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior 54*(1):25-45.

Long, J. Scott and Jeremy Freese. 2014. *Regression Models for Categorical Dependent Variables Using Stata.* College Station, TX: Stata Press.

Maisel, Natalya and Adam Fingerhut. 2011. "California's Ban on Same-Sex Marriage: The Campaign and its Effects on Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual Individuals." *Journal of Social Issues 67*(2):242-263.

McCarthy, Michael. 2015. "CDC Report Confirms" Hispanic Paradox."" *BMJ: British Medical Journal* 350:h2467.

McConnell, Michael, Jack Baker, and Gail Langer Karwoski. 2016. *The Wedding Heard Round the World*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

McConnell Et Al. v Blue Earth County, Et Al. 2017

Milkman, Ruth. 2016. "Class Inequalities Among Women." *Sociologia Del Lavoro* 144:30–36.

MINN. STAT. § 517.01 (1971) (amended 1977)

Mize, Trenton. 2015. "What Social Psychology Can Contribute to the Study of Sex,

Gender, and Sexual Orientation." Sociology Compass 9(12):1066-1081

Mize, Trenton and Bianca Manago. 2018. "The Stereotype Content of Sexual Orientation." *Social Currents* 5(5):458–478.

Mojola, Sanyu, and Bethany Everett. 2012. "STD and HIV Risk Factors Among U.S. Young Adults: Variations by Gender, Race, Ethnicity and Sexual Orientation." *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 44:125–133. Monin, Joan and Margaret Clark. 2011. "Why Do Men Benefit More from Marriage Than Do Women? Thinking More Broadly About Interpersonal Processes That Occur Within and Outside of Marriage." *Sex Roles 65*(5/6):320-326.

National Center for Health Statistics. 2016. *National Health Interview Survey, 2016*. National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Hyattsville, Md.

National Center for Health Statistics. 2017. *National Health Interview Survey, 2017.* National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Hyattsville, Md.

National Center for Health Statistics. 2018. *National Health Interview Survey, 2018*. National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Hyattsville, Md.

Nawyn, Stephanie, Judith Richman, Kathleen Rospenda, and Tonda Hughes. 2000. "Sexual Identity and Alcohol-Related Outcomes: Contributions of Workplace Harassment." *Journal of Substance Abuse 11*(3):289–304.

Newport, Frank. 2018. "In U.S., Estimate of LGBT Population Rises to 4.5%." *Gallup* May 22, 2018.

O'Connell, Martin and Daphne A. Lofquist. 2009. "Counting Same-Sex Couples: Official Estimates and Unofficial Guesses." Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Population Association of America, Detroit, Michigan, April 30-May 2, 2009.

Obergefell Et Al. v. Hodges, Director, Ohio Department of Health, Et Al. United States Supreme Court. 2015. Orth, Taylor and Michael Rosenfeld. 2018. "Commitment Timing in Same-Sex and Different-Sex Relationships." *Population Review* 57(1):1-19.

Orts, Karen, John F. Sheridan, Susan Robinson-Whelen, Ronald Glaser, William Malarkey, and Janice Kiecolt-Glaser. 1995. "The Reliability and Validity of a Structured Interview for the Assessment of Infectious Illness." *Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 18*(6)517-530.

Pals, Heili and Warren Waren. 2014. "Winners and Losers in Health Insurance: Access and Type of Coverage For Women in Same-Sex and Opposite-Sex Partnerships." *Women and Health* 54(2): 94-114.

Palti, Yoram, and Bruno Bercovici. 1967. "Photoplethysmographic Study of the Vaginal Blood Pulse." *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology* 97(2):143–153.

Peplau, Letitia and Adam Fingerhut. 2007. "The Close Relationships of Lesbians and Gay Men." *Annual Review of Psychology* 58:405-424.

Pinquart, Martin and Silvia Sorensen. 2007. "Correlates of Physical Health of Informal Caregivers: A Meta-analysis." *The Journals of Gerontology Series* 62(2):126-37.

Poston, Dudley L. Jr. and Yu-Ting Chang. 2015. "The Conceptualization and

Measurement of the Homosexual, Heterosexual and Bisexual Populations in the United States."

Pp. 359-378 in *Emerging Techniques in Applied Demography*, edited by M. Nazrul Hoque and Lloyd B. Potter. New York: Springer Publishers.

Prentice, Deborah A., and Erica Carranza. 2002. "What Women and Men Should be, Shouldn't be, are Allowed to be, and Don't Have to be: The contents of Prescriptive Gender Stereotypes." *Psychology of Women Quarterly 26*(4):269-281. Preston, Deborah Bray, Anthony D'Augelli, Cathy Kassab and Michael Starks. 2007. "The Relationship of Stigma to the Sexual Risk Behavior of Rural Men Who have Sex with Men." *AIDS Education & Prevention 19*(3):218-230.

Raley, R. Kelly, Megan M. Sweeney and Danielle Wondra. 2015. "The Growing Racial and Ethnic divide in U.S. Marriage Patterns." *Future Child* 25(2):89-109.

Ramezankhani, Azra, Fereidoun Azizi and Farzad Hadaegh. 2019. "Associations of Marital Status with Diabetes, Hypertension, Cardiovascular Disease and All-Cause Mortality: A Long Term Follow-Up Study." *PLoS ONE 14*(4): 1-15.

Read, Jen'nan Ghazal, & Bridget K. Gorman. 2010. "Gender and Health Inequality." Annual Review of Sociology 36:371–386.

Reczek, Corinne and Debra Umberson. 2012. "Gender, Health Behavior, and Intimate

Relationships: Lesbian, Gay and Straight Contexts." Social Science & Medicine 74:1783-1790.

Robles, Theodore. 2014. "Marital Quality and Health: Implications for Marriage in the

21st Century." Current Directions in Psychological Science 23(6):427-432.

Rocklin, Lauren and Chi-Yu Liang. 2011. "DOMA Taxes". *Trusts & Estates 150*(11): 38-44.

Rogers, Richard. 1995. "Marriage, sex, and mortality." *Journal of Marriage and the Family 57*(2):515-526.

Rogers, Richard, Robert Hummer and Charles Nam. 2000. Living and Dying in the USA: Behavioral, Health, and Social Differentials of Adult Mortality. San Diego: Academic Press.

Rosen, Raymond. 2000. "Prevalence and Risk Factors of Sexual Dysfunction in Men and Woman." *Current Psychiatry Reports 2*(3):189-195.

Ross, Catherine E., John Mirowsky, and Karen Goldsteen. 1990. "The Impact of Family on Health: The Decade in Review." *Journal of Marriage and the Family 52*:1059–78.

Ross, Catherine E. and John Mirowsky. 2002. "Family Relationships, Social Support and Subjective Life Expectancy." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior 43*(4):469-489.

Rostosky, Sharon S., Ellen D. B. Riggle, Barry E. Gray and Roxanna L. Hatton. 2007.

"Minority Stress Experiences in Committed Same-Sex Couple Relationships." Professional

Psychology: Research and Practice 38(4):392-400.

Ryan, Brett P. 2000. "Love and Let Love: Same-Sex Marriage, Past, Present, and Future, and the Constitutionality of DOMA." *University of Hawaii Law Review*, *22*(1), 185-235.

Sabia, Joseph J. 2014. "Sexual Orientation and Wages in Young Adulthood: New

Evidence from Add Health." Industrial and Labor Relations Review 67(1): 239-267.

Saenz, Rogelio. 2010. "Latinos in the United States 2010." *Population Reference Bureau Bulletin Update*.

Saenz, Rogelio and Trinidad Morales. 2012. "The Latino Paradox." Pp 47-73 in *The Demography of the Hispanic Population: Selected Essays*, edited by R.R. Verdugo. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.

Sant'Ambrogio, Michael and Sylvia Law. 2011. "Baehr v. Lewin and the Long Road to Marriage Equality." *33 University of Hawai'i Law Review*. 705.

Sawhill, Isabel. 2014. *Generation Unbound; Drifting Into Sex and Parenthood Without Marriage*. Washington D.C.: The Brookings Institution.

Schone, Barbara and Robin Weinich. 1998. "Health-Related Behaviors and the Benefits of Marriage for Elderly Persons." *The Gerontologist* 38(5):619-627.

Schuler, Megan S., Bradley D. Stein, and Rebecca L. Collins. 2019. "Differences in

Substance Use Disparities Across Age Groups in a National Cross-Sectional Survey of Lesbian,

Gay, and Bisexual Adults." LGBT Health 6(2): 68-76.

Sherbourne, Cathy & Ron Hays. 1990. "Marital Status, social support, and Health

Transitions in Chronic Disease Patients." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 31(4): 328-343.

Simon, Robin W. 2002. "Revisiting the Relationships among Gender, Marital Status, and Mental Health." *American Journal of Sociology 107*(4):1065–96.

Simmons, David. 2012. "Planning for the Demise of DOMA". *Trusts & Estates* 151(11):22-27.

Somera, Wendy. 1999. "Baehr v. Miike {994 P.2d 566 (Haw. 1999)}". American University Journal of Gender, Social Policy & the Law 8(1): 227-330.

Stall, Ronald, Gregory Greenwood, Michael Acree, Jay Paul and Thomas Coates. 1999.

"Cigarette Smoking Among Gay and Bisexual Men." *American Journal of Public Health* 89(1):1875–1878.

StataCorp. 2017. "Stata Statistical Software: Release 15.1."

Tang, Hao, Gregory Greenwood, David Cowling, Jon Lloyd, April Roeseler, and Dileep Bal. 2004. "Cigarette Smoking Among Lesbians, Gays, and Bisexuals: How Serious a Problem?" *Cancer Causes and Control 15*(8):797–803.

Thomas, William Issac and Dorothy Swaine Thomas. 1928. *The Child in America: Behavior Problems and Programs*. New York: Knopf

Treiman, Donald J. 2009. *Quantitative Data Analysis: Doing Social Research to Test Ideas*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, a Wiley Imprint.

Umberson, Debra. 1992. "Gender, Marital Status, and the Social Control of Health Behavior." *Social Science and Medicine 34*:907–17.

Umberson, Debra. 2015. "Challenges and Opportunities for Research on Same-Sex Relationships." *Journal of Family and Marriage* 77(1):96-111.

Umberson, Debra, Meichu D. Chen, James S. House, Kristine Hopkins and Ellen Slaten.

1996. "The Effect of Social Relationships on Psychological Well- Being: Are Men and Women

Really so Different?" *American Sociological Review*, *61*(5): 837–857.

Umberson, Debra, Rachel Donnelly, and Amanda Pollitt. 2018. "Marriage, Social Control, and Health Behavior: A Dyadic Analysis of Same-Sex and Different-Sex Couples." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 58(3):429-446.

U.S. Constitution, Article 1, Section 9(3).

U.S. House of Representatives. Committee on the Judiciary. Defense of Marriage Act Together with Dissenting Views (to accompany H.R. 3396) (H. Rpt. 104-664). Washington: Government Printing Office 1996.

United States V Windsor SCOTUS 2013.

Valanis, Barbara, Deborah Bowen, Tamsen Bassford, Evelyn Whitlock, Pamela Charney, and Rachel Carter. 2000. "Sexual Orientation and Health: Comparisons in the Women's Health Initiative Sample." *Archives of Family Medicine* 9(9):843–853.

Veenstra, Gerry. 2011. "Race, Gender, Class, and Sexual Orientation: Intersecting Axes of Inequality and Self-Rated Health in Canada." *International Journal for Equity in Health 10*(3).

Waite, Linda and Maggie Gallagher. 2000. *The Case for Marriage: Why Married People are Happier, Healthier, and Better off Financially.* New York, NY: Broadway Books.

Waite, Linda J. and Evelyn L. Lehrer. 2003. "The Benefits from Marriage and Religion in the United States: A Comparative Analysis." *Population and Development Review 29*(2):255-275.

Wall, Misty. 2011. "Hearing the Voices of Lesbian Women Having Children." *Journal of GLBT Family Studies* 7(1–2): 93–108.

Webster, Murray, Jr., Stuart Hysom, and Elise Fullmer. 1998. "Sexual Orientation and Occupation as Status." Pp.1-21 in *Advances in Group Processes*, edited by Edward J. Lawler. New York: JAI Press.

Wight, Richard, G., Allen J. LeBlanc and M. V. Lee Badgett. 2013. "Same-Sex Legal Marriage and Psychological Well-being: Findings from the California Health Interview Survey." *American Journal of Public Health 103*(2):339-346.

Williams, Kristi and Debra Umberson. 2004. "Marital Status, Marital Transitions, and

Health: A Gendered Life Course Perspective." Journal of Health and Social Behavior 45:81-98.

Yanes, Licy and Jane Reckelhoff. 2011. "Postmenopausal Hypertension." *American Journal of Hypertension 24*(7): 740-749.

APPENDIX A

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
Married	-0.12	-0.19	-0.29	-0.24	-0.27	-0.36	-0.12
Married	(0.20)	(0.20)	(0.29)	-0.24 (0.21)	(0.27)	(0.33)	(0.20)
Female	-0.47*	-0.42	-0.26	-0.27	-0.32	-0.42	-0.47*
Temale	(0.23)	(0.23)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.25)	(0.34)	(0.23)
Race	(0.23)	(0.23)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.23)	(0.54)	(0.23)
NH Black		-0.04	0.28	0.73	0.64	0.64	0.64
THI DILOK		(0.48)	(0.49)	(0.52)	(0.53)	(0.52)	(0.52)
Hispanic		-0.06	0.09	0.17	0.09	0.10	0.12
		(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.31)	(0.31)	(0.31)	(0.31)
NH Other		0.40	0.46	0.61	0.57	0.59	0.60
		(0.58)	(0.53)	(0.54)	(0.54)	(0.54)	(0.54)
College Degree		(0.00)	0.85*	0.62*	0.64*	0.64*	0.63*
00			**				
			(0.23)	(0.26)	(0.26)	(0.26)	(0.26)
Annual HH Income in			()	()		()	()
Thousands							
35 - 74				1.16**	1.17**	1.16**	1.16**
				(0.37)	(0.36)	(0.36)	(0.36)
75-99				0.90	1.00*	1.00*	1.00*
				(0.46)	(0.46)	(0.46)	(0.45)
> 100				1.28**	1.38**	1.38**	1.38**
				(0.43)	(0.42)	(0.42)	(0.42)
Unknown				0.29	0.35	0.37	0.36
				(0.63)	(0.64)	(0.64)	(0.64)
Age					-0.01	-0.01	-0.01
-					(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						0.28	0.27
						(0.36)	(0.36)
Interaction:							0.18
Married X Female							
							(0.46)
Constant	0.97***	0.45*	-0.46	0.02	-0.03	0.01	0.97***
	(0.18)	(0.22)	(0.37)	(0.50)	(0.50)	(0.50)	(0.18)
Change in F-statistic	2.49	.19	14.4*	3.51**	2.80	.62	.14
			**				
Change in DF	2	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table A.1. Coefficients for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and LesbiansM1M2M3M4M5M6M7

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Lesbian	0.06	-0.02	-0.16	-0.21	-0.17	-0.22
Married Lesolali	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.30)
Race	(0127)	(0.27)	(0.20)	(0120)	(0))	(0.20)
NH Black		0.18	0.56	1.16	1.03	1.00
		(0.56)	(0.57)	(0.68)	(0.72)	(0.71)
Hispanic		-0.52	-0.41	-0.40	-0.55	-0.50
1		(0.45)	(0.48)	(0.54)	(0.54)	(0.52)
NH Other		0.08	0.24	0.50	0.50	0.55
		(0.82)	(0.77)	(0.69)	(0.69)	(0.69)
College Degree			0.84**	0.57	0.60	0.61
6 6			(0.28)	(0.35)	(0.35)	(0.36)
Annual HH Income			()	()	()	()
in Thousands						
35 - 74				1.82***	1.82***	1.80***
				(0.52)	(0.51)	(0.52)
75-99				1.49*	1.66**	1.65**
				(0.60)	(0.62)	(0.61)
> 100				1.47**	1.58**	1.58**
				(0.52)	(0.51)	(0.51)
Unknown				0.85	0.96	0.99
				(0.76)	(0.78)	(0.76)
Age				(0.70)	-0.02	-0.01
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.01)	0.39
						(0.36)
Constant	0.40	0.51*	0.08	-1.02*	-0.40	-0.60
Constant	(0.21)	(0.24)	(0.28)	(0.43)	(0.63)	(0.64)
Change in F-statistic	.05	.55	8.95**	3.41*	1.90	1.17
Change in DF	.05	3	1	4	1.50	1.17
	1	5	1	т	1	1

Table A.2. Coefficients for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	-0.33	-0.40	-0.38	-0.47	-0.41	-0.39
Married Guys	(0.31)	(0.31)	(0.31)	(0.31)	(0.32)	(0.32)
Race						
NH Black		-0.36	-0.15	-0.16	-0.20	-0.24
		(0.61)	(0.63)	(0.69)	(0.71)	(0.72)
Hispanic		0.56	0.71	0.70	0.64	0.65
		(0.41)	(0.43)	(0.45)	(0.45)	(0.45)
NH Other		0.85	0.76	1.02	0.97	1.04
		(0.90)	(0.80)	(0.97)	(0.97)	(0.95)
College Degree			0.87**	0.78*	0.82*	0.83*
			(0.33)	(0.39)	(0.39)	(0.39)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				-0.17	-0.14	-0.17
				(0.65)	(0.66)	(0.67)
75-99				-0.33	-0.28	-0.32
				(0.70)	(0.71)	(0.72)
> 100				0.31	0.40	0.38
				(0.71)	(0.73)	(0.76)
Unknown				-1.43	-1.44	-1.53
				(1.05)	(1.04)	(1.04)
Age					-0.01	-0.01
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-0.82
						(0.83)
Constant	1.08***	1.02***	0.46	0.55	0.95	1.02
	(0.21)	(0.22)	(0.29)	(0.59)	(0.67)	(0.69)
Change in F-Statistic	1.14	.96	7.08**	1.60	1.09	.98
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.3. Coefficients for Binary Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Female	-0.30	-0.28	-0.30	-0.12	-0.12	-0.29
remate	(0.31)	(0.33)	(0.33)	(0.34)	(0.34)	-0.29 (0.37)
Race	(0.51)	(0.55)	(0.55)	(0.34)	(0.34)	(0.57)
NH Black		0.40	0.66	1.11	1.11	1.23
NIT DIACK						
TT'		(0.75)	(0.73)	(0.75)	(0.76)	(0.75)
Hispanic		0.11	0.26	0.31	0.31	0.33
		(0.41)	(0.42)	(0.48)	(0.49)	(0.48)
NH Other		0.23	0.22	0.54	0.54	0.64
		(0.83)	(0.72)	(0.67)	(0.67)	(0.67)
College Degree			0.71*	0.47	0.47	0.46
			(0.30)	(0.35)	(0.35)	(0.37)
Annual HH Income in Thousands						
35 - 74				1.92***	1.92***	1.98***
				(0.56)	(0.56)	(0.57)
75-99				1.70*	1.70*	1.80*
				(0.70)	(0.70)	(0.70)
> 100				1.59*	1.59*	1.65*
				(0.65)	(0.65)	(0.67)
Unknown				1.14	1.14	1.26
				(1.00)	(1.01)	(1.00)
Age				(1.00)	-0.00	0.00
150					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.01)	0.88
						(0.46)
Constant	0.76***	0.70**	0.25	-1.22	1.22	· · ·
Constant					-1.22	-1.56
	(0.22)	(0.25)	(0.31)	(0.64)	(0.82)	(0.83)
Change in F-	.91	.13	5.73*	3.26*	0.00	3.72
Statistic					_	
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.4. Coefficients for Binary Health Variable & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
Married	-0.15	-0.16	-0.22	-0.41*	-0.35	-0.37	-0.29
Winned	(0.18)	(0.18)	(0.18)	(0.19)	(0.19)	(0.19)	(0.29)
Female	-0.49**	-0.48*	-0.43*	-0.27	-0.29	-0.32	-0.24
1 emaie	(0.19)	(0.19)	(0.19)	(0.20)	(0.20)	(0.21)	(0.28)
Race	(011))	(011))	(011))	(0120)	(0.20)	(0.21)	(0.20)
NH Black		-0.22	0.07	0.52	0.42	0.41	0.41
		(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.32)	(0.34)	(0.34)	(0.34)
Hispanic		0.10	0.24	0.43	0.34	0.35	0.33
1110pmile		(0.24)	(0.25)	(0.26)	(0.26)	(0.26)	(0.25)
NH Other		0.01	-0.04	0.12	0.03	0.04	0.04
		(0.49)	(0.47)	(0.48)	(0.50)	(0.50)	(0.49)
College Degree		(0.15)	0.81***	0.49*	0.52*	0.52*	0.53*
conege Degree			(0.20)	(0.23)	(0.23)	(0.23)	(0.23)
Annual HH Income			(0.20)	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.23)	(0.25)
in Thousands							
35 - 74				1.10***	1.12***	1.12***	1.12***
				(0.31)	(0.30)	(0.30)	(0.31)
75-99				0.76	0.90*	0.90*	0.91*
10 33				(0.39)	(0.39)	(0.39)	(0.39)
> 100				1.52***	1.66***	1.65***	1.66***
				(0.36)	(0.36)	(0.36)	(0.36)
Unknown				0.40	0.47	0.48	0.49
				(0.61)	(0.62)	(0.62)	(0.62)
Age				(0.01)	-0.02*	-0.01*	-0.01*
1.50					(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.01)	0.15	0.15
						(0.29)	(0.29)
Interaction:						(0.27)	-0.15
Married X Female							0.12
What field 74 I efficie							(0.40)
/cut1	-2.49***	-2.49***	-2.03***	-1.19***	-1.80***	-1.77***	-1.74***
fouri	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.23)	(0.33)	(0.42)	(0.42)	(0.44)
/cut2	-1.01***	-1.01***	-0.51**	0.40	-0.19	-0.17	-0.13
, UUL2	(0.16)	(0.16)	(0.19)	(0.31)	(0.40)	(0.40)	(0.42)
/cut3	0.42*	0.42*	0.96***	1.93***	1.35**	1.37**	1.41**
, cuit	(0.12)	(0.12)	(0.21)	(0.33)	(0.42)	(0.42)	(0.44)
Change in F-	.96	1.72	10.88**	4.38**	12.44***	.14	.34
Statistic	.70	1./ 2	10.00	1.50	12.77	.17	.51
Change in DF	2	3	1	4	1	1	1
	4	5	1	Т	1	1	1

Table A.5. Coefficients for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Lesbians	-0.09	-0.18	-0.32	-0.51*	-0.48	-0.54*
	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.25)	(0.26)	(0.26)
Race	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.23)	(0.20)	(0.20)
NH Black		-0.31	0.03	0.56	0.42	0.40
THI DIUCK		(0.29)	(0.31)	(0.37)	(0.40)	(0.41)
Hispanic		-0.49	-0.41	-0.16	-0.27	-0.24
Inspanie		(0.35)	(0.37)	(0.41)	(0.40)	(0.39)
NH Other		-0.30	-0.22	-0.14	-0.20	-0.15
		(0.97)	(0.91)	(0.66)	(0.66)	(0.65)
College Degree		(00)7)	0.80**	0.41	0.44	0.43
0 0			(0.26)	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.28)
nnual HH Income n Thousands 35 - 74			(0.20)	1.49***	1.48***	1.47***
55 11				(0.37)	(0.36)	(0.36)
75-99				1.47**	1.65**	1.65**
				(0.48)	(0.51)	(0.51)
> 100				1.74***	1.85***	1.85***
				(0.42)	(0.41)	(0.41)
Unknown				0.84	0.95	0.98
				(0.83)	(0.87)	(0.85)
ge					-0.02	-0.01
					(0.01)	(0.01)
hildren In HH						0.37
						(0.29)
ut1	-1.99***	-2.17***	-1.81***	-0.94**	-1.54**	-1.36**
	(0.25)	(0.27)	(0.29)	(0.34)	(0.46)	(0.47)
ıt2	-0.49*	-0.66**	-0.26	0.75*	0.16	0.35
	(0.20)	(0.23)	(0.26)	(0.32)	(0.45)	(0.46)
ut3	0.97***	0.81***	1.25***	2.34***	1.76***	1.95***
	(0.21)	(0.23)	(0.28)	(0.34)	(0.45)	(0.46)
Change in F-	.5	1.11	5.85*	3.13*	7.46**	.34
tatistic						_
Change in DF	<u>1</u>	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.6. Coefficients for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom

*** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Caus	-0.22	-0.29	-0.26	-0.41	-0.29	-0.25
Married Gays	(0.22)	(0.27)	-0.20 (0.27)	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.30)
Daaa	(0.28)	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.50)
Race NH Black		-0.15	0.05	0.18	0.11	0.08
NIT DIACK						
Hismonia		(0.51) 0.72*	(0.53) 0.86*	(0.58) 0.91*	(0.61) 0.81*	(0.62) 0.83*
Hispanic						
NUL Other		(0.34) 0.28	(0.36) 0.13	(0.38) 0.43	(0.38) 0.32	(0.38) 0.32
NH Other						
		(0.46)	(0.42)	(0.60)	(0.65)	(0.62)
College Degree			0.84**	0.72*	0.78*	0.80*
			(0.29)	(0.34)	(0.34)	(0.34)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands				0.12	0.04	0.05
35 - 74				0.13	0.24	0.25
				(0.57)	(0.57)	(0.58)
75-99				-0.50	-0.37	-0.39
				(0.58)	(0.60)	(0.61)
> 100				0.59	0.80	0.82
				(0.58)	(0.60)	(0.63)
Unknown				-0.94	-0.91	-0.94
				(0.71)	(0.71)	(0.72)
Age					-0.02*	-0.02*
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-1.07
						(0.76)
/cut1	-2.47***	-2.40***	-1.89***	-1.86**	-2.56***	-2.61***
	(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.33)	(0.55)	(0.60)	(0.61)
/cut2	-1.03***	-0.94***	-0.40	-0.33	-1.02	-1.05
	(0.19)	(0.20)	(0.27)	(0.49)	(0.56)	(0.57)
/cut3	0.37	0.47*	1.07***	1.20*	0.53	0.51
	(0.20)	(0.22)	(0.28)	(0.51)	(0.58)	(0.59)

Table A.7. Coefficients for Four Category Health Variable & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
P 1	0.40	0.41	0.42	0.00	0.04	0.41
Female	-0.43	-0.41	-0.43	-0.30	-0.34	-0.41
_	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.31)
Race						
NH Black		0.01	0.24	0.59	0.53	0.55
		(0.37)	(0.37)	(0.38)	(0.40)	(0.40)
Hispanic		0.13	0.30	0.43	0.37	0.37
		(0.32)	(0.32)	(0.34)	(0.34)	(0.35)
NH Other		-0.12	-0.20	-0.03	-0.05	-0.02
		(0.82)	(0.70)	(0.58)	(0.59)	(0.59)
College Degree			0.72**	0.35	0.38	0.36
			(0.27)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.30)
Annual HH						
Income in						
Thousands						
35 - 74				1.64***	1.66***	1.64***
				(0.45)	(0.45)	(0.45)
75-99				1.33*	1.48*	1.50*
				(0.54)	(0.59)	(0.58)
> 100				1.74***	1.86***	1.85***
				(0.48)	(0.50)	(0.51)
Unknown				1.45	1.54	1.55
				(1.13)	(1.19)	(1.16)
Age				(-)	-0.01	-0.01
1150					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.0-)	0.34
						(0.34)
/cut1	-2.28***	-2.25***	-1.82***	-0.54	-1.03	-0.93
	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.33)	(0.50)	(0.62)	(0.63)
/cut2	-0.83***	-0.81***	-0.35	1.03*	0.55	0.65
/0412	(0.21)	(0.23)	(0.28)	(0.47)	(0.59)	(0.60)
/cut3	0.62**	0.64**	1.14***	2.56***	2.08***	2.18***

Table A.8. Coefficients for Four Category Health Variable & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.15	0.00
Married	0.33	0.31	0.32	0.33	0.13	0.15	-0.39
- 1	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.22)	(0.24)	(0.23)	(0.34)
Female	-0.45	-0.50*	-0.52*	-0.45	-0.43	-0.38	-1.08**
	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.26)	(0.27)	(0.39)
Race							
NH Black		-0.16	-0.25	-0.09	0.28	0.28	0.27
		(0.46)	(0.47)	(0.48)	(0.51)	(0.51)	(0.52)
Hispanic		-1.06**	-1.11**	-1.10**	-0.87*	-0.87*	-0.80*
		(0.35)	(0.35)	(0.36)	(0.34)	(0.34)	(0.34)
NH Other		-0.12	-0.12	-0.05	0.13	0.12	0.22
		(0.59)	(0.57)	(0.59)	(0.68)	(0.68)	(0.63)
College Degree			-0.26	-0.30	-0.48	-0.48	-0.55*
			(0.23)	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.28)
Annual HH Income in							. ,
Thousands							
35 - 74				0.61	0.67	0.68	0.69
				(0.46)	(0.50)	(0.50)	(0.51)
75-99				1.07*	0.81	0.81	0.80
				(0.48)	(0.51)	(0.50)	(0.52)
> 100				0.51	0.24	0.24	0.22
				(0.48)	(0.52)	(0.52)	(0.53)
Unknown				0.20	0.04	0.02	-0.11
				(0.80)	(0.84)	(0.84)	(0.86)
Age				(0.00)	0.05***	0.05***	0.06***
1150					(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.01)	-0.28	-0.33
						(0.43)	(0.43)
Interaction: Married						(0.43)	1.20*
X Female							1.20
							(0.50)
Constant	-0.95***	-0.77***	-0.60*	-1.18**	-3.46***	-3.40***	-3.21***
Constant	(0.20)	(0.21)	(0.26)	(0.42)	(0.56)	(0.57)	(0.58)
Change in F-Statistic	(0.20) 3.21*	(0.21) 3.02*	1.32	1.59	(0.30) 39.35***	.42	5.74*
C							
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table A.9. Coefficients for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Lesbians	0.82*	0.69*	0.79*	0.82*	0.81*	0.84*
Married Lesolans	(0.32)	(0.33)	(0.34)	(0.36)	(0.36)	(0.35)
D	(0.55)	(0.55)	(0.34)	(0.30)	(0.30)	(0.55)
Race NH Black		-0.11	-0.34	-0.35	0.13	0.13
INTI DIACK						
TT'		(0.64)	(0.68)	(0.64)	(0.76)	(0.76)
Hispanic		-1.18	-1.28	-1.29	-1.14	-1.16
		(0.64)	(0.66)	(0.67)	(0.70)	(0.70)
NH Other		-0.01	-0.10	-0.10	-0.04	-0.08
		(1.01)	(0.94)	(0.95)	(0.93)	(0.91)
College Degree			-0.53	-0.45	-0.65	-0.65
			(0.36)	(0.42)	(0.44)	(0.45)
Annual HH Income in Thousands						
35 - 74				-0.36	-0.29	-0.27
33 - 74						
75-99				(0.54) 0.79	(0.57) 0.29	(0.58) 0.31
/ 5-99						
> 100				(0.62)	(0.64)	(0.62)
> 100				-0.14	-0.43	-0.43
				(0.56)	(0.63)	(0.64)
Unknown				-0.16	-0.57	-0.58
				(0.85)	(1.01)	(1.01)
Age					0.06***	0.06***
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-0.34
						(0.54)
Constant	-1.73***	-1.52***	-1.27***	-1.32**	-3.83***	-3.65***
	(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.32)	(0.48)	(0.77)	(0.85)
Change in F-	6.12*	1.11	2.15	1.22	18.26***	.4
Statistic						
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.10. Coefficients for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom

*** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	-0.07	-0.01	-0.02	-0.05	-0.46	-0.46
Married Guys	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.30)	(0.37)	(0.37)
Race	(0.20)	(0.2))	(0.2))	(0.50)	(0.57)	(0.57)
NH Black		-0.17	-0.20	0.56	0.86	0.86
		(0.64)	(0.66)	(0.67)	(0.65)	(0.65)
Hispanic		-0.88*	-0.90*	-0.92*	-0.61	-0.61
1		(0.44)	(0.43)	(0.45)	(0.45)	(0.45)
NH Other		-0.13	-0.11	0.01	0.31	0.32
		(0.78)	(0.77)	(0.68)	(0.86)	(0.87)
College Degree			-0.12	-0.20	-0.46	-0.46
0 0			(0.31)	(0.36)	(0.38)	(0.38)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands				2 0.0***	1 20***	1 20***
35 - 74				3.88***	4.30***	4.30***
75-99				(0.96) 3.76***	(1.16) 4.04***	(1.16) 4.03^{***}
> 100				(0.95)	(1.14)	(1.14)
> 100				3.44***	3.56**	3.55**
TT 1				(1.00)	(1.18)	(1.17)
Unknown				2.52	2.82	2.81
Age				(1.45)	(1.46) 0.06^{***}	(1.46) 0.06^{***}
C					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-0.17
						(0.82)
Constant	-0.75***	-0.62**	-0.54	-3.99***	-6.74***	-6.72***
	(0.20)	(0.23)	(0.32)	(0.92)	(1.34)	(1.34)
Change in F-	.06	1.35	.17	4.4**	17.61***	.05
Statistic						
Degrees of Freedom	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.11. Coefficients for High Blood Pressure & Married vs Cohabiting GaysM1M2M3M4M5M6

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom

*** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
	0.00			0.44	0.04	0.00
Female	-0.09	-0.22	-0.21	-0.11	0.06	0.09
	(0.32)	(0.33)	(0.33)	(0.34)	(0.38)	(0.38)
Race						
NH Black		-0.54	-0.68	-0.50	-0.41	-0.43
		(0.68)	(0.75)	(0.70)	(0.69)	(0.69)
Hispanic		-1.25*	-1.33*	-1.29*	-1.02	-1.02
		(0.51)	(0.52)	(0.55)	(0.52)	(0.52)
NH Other		0.41	0.43	0.57	0.64	0.63
		(0.75)	(0.70)	(0.79)	(0.89)	(0.88)
College Degree		`	-0.41	-0.52	-0.73	-0.73
			(0.35)	(0.43)	(0.45)	(0.45)
Annual HH Income in			× ,			
Thousands						
35 - 74				0.51	0.53	0.54
				(0.61)	(0.67)	(0.68)
75-99				1.75*	1.37	1.37
10 99				(0.73)	(0.79)	(0.79)
> 100				0.71	0.39	0.39
100				(0.71)	(0.80)	(0.81)
Unknown				0.62	0.32	0.31
UIKIIOWII				(0.99)		
A				(0.99)	(1.10) 0.06***	(1.10) 0.06^{***}
Age						
Children In HH					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children in HH						-0.15
~		o codut				(0.50)
Constant	-0.82***	-0.60**	-0.34	-1.12	-3.68***	-3.62***
	(.10)	(.13)	(.22)	(.20)	(.02)	(.03)
Change in F-Statistic	(0.22)	(0.23)	(0.32)	(0.61)	(0.93)	(0.95)
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.12. Coefficients for High Blood Pressure & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Married Gays and Lesbians, N=266.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
Married	-0.81**	-0.90**	-0.86**	-0.74**	-0.76**	-0.73**	-0.88*
	(0.28)	(0.27)	(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.40)
Female	-0.20	-0.17	-0.35	-0.53	-0.53	-0.45	-0.57
	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.29)	(0.30)	(0.30)	(0.30)	(0.39)
Race							
NH Black		-0.68	-1.19*	-1.66*	-1.63*	-1.58*	-1.57*
		(0.60)	(0.60)	(0.71)	(0.72)	(0.71)	(0.70)
Hispanic		-1.26*	-1.54**	-1.72**	-1.69**	-1.70**	-1.67**
		(0.54)	(0.55)	(0.57)	(0.58)	(0.58)	(0.59)
NH Other		1.00*	1.05*	1.07	1.08	1.07*	1.09*
		(0.44)	(0.50)	(0.55)	(0.55)	(0.54)	(0.54)
College Degree		× ,	-1.44***	-1.05**	-1.07**	-1.06**	-1.07**
0 0			(0.28)	(0.33)	(0.33)	(0.33)	(0.33)
Annual HH Income			()	()	()	()	()
in Thousands							
35 – 74				-0.65	-0.65	-0.63	-0.61
00 , 1				(0.44)	(0.44)	(0.45)	(0.44)
75-99				-0.99	-1.02	-1.00	-0.99
15 77				(0.57)	(0.57)	(0.57)	(0.57)
> 100				-1.43**	-1.48**	-1.47**	-1.47**
> 100							
T T., 1				(0.53)	(0.55)	(0.55)	(0.55) -1.65
Unknown				-1.60	-1.61	-1.63	
				(1.10)	(1.09)	(1.08)	(1.10)
Age					0.01	0.00	0.00
~					(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-0.51	-0.52
						(0.47)	(0.46)
Interaction:							0.30
Married X Female							
							(0.58)
Constant	-1.19***	-1.04***	-0.20	0.61	0.38	0.44	0.48
	(0.23)	(0.24)	(0.30)	(0.46)	(0.59)	(0.59)	(0.61)
Change in F-	4.73**	4.93**	25.51***	1.95	.38	1.19	.27
Statistic							
Change in DF	2	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table A.13. Coefficients for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
NC 1	076*	0.0(*	0.70*	0.70	0.71	0.67
Married	-0.76*	-0.96*	-0.78*	-0.70	-0.71	-0.67
_	(0.38)	(0.37)	(0.37)	(0.37)	(0.37)	(0.37)
Race						
NH Black		-0.56	-1.13	-1.36	-1.30	-1.26
		(0.69)	(0.72)	(0.89)	(0.90)	(0.89)
Hispanic		-1.67*	-1.92*	-2.07*	-2.03*	-2.03*
		(0.77)	(0.81)	(0.84)	(0.84)	(0.84)
NH Other		1.43	1.30	1.23	1.24	1.20
		(0.87)	(0.77)	(0.69)	(0.68)	(0.68)
College Degree			-1.39**	-1.18*	-1.19*	-1.18*
			(0.44)	(0.46)	(0.46)	(0.46)
Annual HH Income			· /	. ,		
in Thousands						
35 - 74				-0.29	-0.28	-0.25
				(0.54)	(0.54)	(0.54)
75-99				-0.86	-0.89	-0.86
				(0.84)	(0.84)	(0.84)
> 100				-0.79	-0.83	-0.82
100				(0.64)	(0.67)	(0.67)
Unknown				-0.38	-0.40	-0.42
Childiown				(0.91)	(0.93)	(0.92)
Age				(0.71)	0.01	0.00
Age					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.01)	-0.31
						(0.48)
Constant	-1.41***	-1.20***	-0.60	-0.23	-0.46	(0.48) -0.33
Constant						
C1	(0.23)	(0.28)	(0.32)	(0.50)	(0.76)	(0.78)
Change in F-	4.13*	3.01*	9.91**	.47	.14	.41
Statistic		2				
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.14. Coefficients for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom

*** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	<u>M6</u>
Married	-0.89*	-0.93*	-0.93*	-0.90*	-0.95*	-0.96*
	(0.37)	(0.36)	(0.36)	(0.43)	(0.40)	(0.40)
Race						
NH Black		-0.85	-0.85	-2.53*	-2.53*	-2.76*
		(1.03)	(1.03)	(1.10)	(1.12)	(1.15)
Hispanic		-1.02	-1.02	-1.58*	-1.56*	-1.65*
		(0.67)	(0.67)	(0.76)	(0.77)	(0.81)
NH Other		1.06	1.06	1.45	1.48	1.70
		(0.94)	(0.94)	(1.18)	(1.18)	(1.03)
College Degree				-0.96	-0.99*	-1.05*
				(0.50)	(0.48)	(0.48)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				-1.65*	-1.69*	-1.86*
				(0.77)	(0.77)	(0.79)
75-99				-1.87*	-1.92*	-2.11*
				(0.85)	(0.85)	(0.90)
> 100				-2.68**	-2.75**	-2.96**
				(0.83)	(0.86)	(0.89)
Age					0.01	0.01
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-2.30
~						(1.96)
Constant	-1.12***	-0.98***	-0.98***	1.63*	1.38	1.63
	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.73)	(0.92)	(0.94)
Change in F-Statistic	5.00*	1.33	13.04**	1.22	.19	1.07
		2	*	•		
Change in DF	1	3	1	3	I	1

Table A.15. Coefficients for Smoking Status & Married vs Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Gay Men, N=231.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	
Female	-0.14	-0.11	-0.10	-0.28	-0.27	-0.23	
	(0.45)	(0.45)	(0.45)	(0.44)	(0.43)	(0.47)	
Race							
Not NH White		-0.23	0.01	0.18	0.14	0.14	
		(0.58)	(0.63)	(0.67)	(0.70)	(0.70)	
College Degree			-1.24*	-0.95	-0.98	-0.97	
			(0.51)	(0.55)	(0.54)	(0.54)	
Annual HH				× ,	~ /	~ /	
Income in							
Thousands							
35 - 74				-0.36	-0.35	-0.35	
				(0.61)	(0.60)	(0.60)	
75-99				-0.93	-0.99	-1.00	
, 0 , , ,				(0.77)	(0.79)	(0.79)	
> 100				-1.01	-1.07	-1.07	
100				(0.64)	(0.66)	(0.66)	
Age				(0.0.1)	0.01	0.01	
1160					(0.02)	(0.02)	
Children In HH					(0.02)	-0.20	
						(0.60)	
Constant	-2.04***	-1.89***	-1.43*	-0.96	-1.32	-1.27	
Constant	(0.33)	(0.54)	(0.55)	(0.73)	(0.71)	(0.74)	
Change in F-	.1	.15	5.85*	1	.29	.11	
Statistic	•1	.15	5.05	1	.29	.11	
Change in DF	1	1	1	3	1	1	
Change in Di	1	1	1	5	1	1	

Table A.16. Coefficients for Smoking Status & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 – 2018 Married Gay & Lesbians, N=266.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6	M7
Married	0.03	0.06	0.08	0.06	0.29	0.38	0.28
	(0.22)	(0.22)	(0.22)	(0.23)	(0.25)	(0.25)	(0.33)
Female	-0.19	-0.17	-0.21	-0.20	-0.27	-0.10	-0.21
	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.21)	(0.23)	(0.23)	(0.30)
Race			. ,			. ,	
NH Black		0.10	-0.05	-0.03	-0.44	-0.41	-0.41
		(0.36)	(0.36)	(0.39)	(0.43)	(0.43)	(0.43)
Hispanic		0.49	0.43	0.42	0.11	0.08	0.11
•		(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.30)	(0.29)
NH Other		-0.07	-0.08	-0.07	-0.23	-0.27	-0.26
		(0.42)	(0.43)	(0.43)	(0.46)	(0.45)	(0.44)
College Degree		× ,	-0.40	-0.43	-0.40	-0.40	-0.41
			(0.20)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.25)
Annual HH Income			. ,	· /	· · · ·		× /
in Thousands							
35 - 74				0.14	0.17	0.21	0.21
				(0.37)	(0.39)	(0.39)	(0.39)
75-99				-0.63	-0.37	-0.39	-0.39
				(0.44)	(0.46)	(0.48)	(0.48)
> 100				0.10	0.52	0.54	0.53
				(0.41)	(0.43)	(0.43)	(0.44)
Unknown				-0.37	-0.26	-0.34	-0.34
				(0.69)	(0.73)	(0.73)	(0.72)
Age					-0.05***	-0.06***	-0.06***
C					(0.01)	(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					· · ·	-0.94*	-0.94*
						(0.37)	(0.37)
Interaction: Married						(0.0.7)	0.21
X Female							
							(0.44)
Constant	-0.42*	-0.53**	-0.27	-0.23	1.86***	2.03***	2.08***
	(0.17)	(0.19)	(0.23)	(0.36)	(0.52)	(0.51)	(0.53)
Change in F-	.39	1.05	3.81	1.28	31.82***	6.46*	.22
Statistic	,	1.00	0.01	1.20	2 1.02	00	
Change in DF	2	3	1	4	1	1	1

Table A.17. Coefficients for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Gays and Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gays and Lesbians, N=505.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Mamiad	0.07	0.21	0.26	0.20	0.21	0.40
Married	0.07 (0.29)	0.21 (0.29)	0.26 (0.30)	0.20 (0.31)	0.31 (0.33)	0.40 (0.33)
D	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.50)	(0.51)	(0.55)	(0.55)
Race NH Black		-0.38	-0.50	-0.47	-0.92	-0.92
NIT DIACK						
Hismonia		(0.55) 0.87*	(0.57) 0.83	(0.59) 0.99*	(0.63) 0.67	(0.63) 0.62
Hispanic						
		(0.42)	(0.43)	(0.43)	(0.44)	(0.46)
NH Other		0.33	0.28	0.24	0.21	0.12
		(0.75)	(0.73)	(0.74)	(0.79)	(0.78)
College Degree			-0.29	-0.42	-0.40	-0.41
			(0.31)	(0.34)	(0.33)	(0.33)
Annual HH Income						
in Thousands						
35 - 74				-0.21	-0.28	-0.24
				(0.47)	(0.47)	(0.46)
75-99				-0.29	0.09	0.11
				(0.60)	(0.62)	(0.65)
> 100				0.29	0.60	0.61
				(0.54)	(0.53)	(0.52)
Unknown				-0.63	-0.42	-0.47
				(0.72)	(0.75)	(0.75)
Age				(0.72)	-0.05***	-0.05***
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					(0.01)	-0.61
						(0.35)
Constant	-0.63**	-0.83***	-0.69*	-0.60	1.21	1.52*
Constant						
Change in E Statistic	(0.21) .06	(0.23)	(0.28) .88	(0.41)	(0.63) 12.81***	(0.64)
Change in F-Statistic	.00	1.69				3.02
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.18. Coefficients for Binge Drinking & Married vs Cohabiting Lesbians

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Lesbians, N=268.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	-0.01	0.01	-0.02	-0.00	0.38	0.46
Married Gays	(0.30)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.30)	(0.33)	(0.34)
Race	(0.50)	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.50)	(0.55)	(0.54)
NH Black		0.65	0.52	0.66	0.43	0.36
		(0.58)	(0.57)	(0.58)	(0.63)	(0.64)
Hispanic		0.20	0.13	0.08	-0.30	-0.29
1		(0.41)	(0.41)	(0.40)	(0.44)	(0.44)
NH Other		-0.40	-0.34	-0.43	-0.83	-0.69
		(0.54)	(0.60)	(0.55)	(0.75)	(0.76)
College Degree		()	-0.56	-0.52	-0.48	-0.46
6 6			(0.30)	(0.37)	(0.42)	(0.43)
Annual HH Income						()
in Thousands						
35 - 74				0.57	0.95	0.93
				(0.59)	(0.63)	(0.65)
75-99				-0.94	-0.70	-0.78
				(0.67)	(0.67)	(0.70)
> 100				0.09	0.84	0.80
				(0.69)	(0.73)	(0.76)
Unknown				0.31	0.30	0.11
				(1.41)	(1.73)	(1.74)
Age					-0.07***	-0.07***
					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH						-2.53*
						(1.22)
Constant	-0.40*	-0.47*	-0.10	-0.18	2.26**	2.38**
	(0.17)	(0.19)	(0.27)	(0.56)	(0.80)	(0.82)
Change in F-Statistic	.00	.72	3.59	2.28	23.25***	4.32*
Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.19. Coefficients for Binge Drinking & Married vs. Cohabiting Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Gay Men, N=237.

	M1	M2	M3	M4	M5	M6
Married Gays	-0.15	-0.13	-0.12	-0.10	-0.27	-0.10
Married Oays	(0.32)	(0.32)	(0.32)	(0.33)	(0.35)	(0.36)
Race	(0.02)	(0.22)	(0.02)	(0.00)	(0.000)	(0100)
NH Black		-0.22	-0.53	-0.66	-1.17	-1.26
		(0.68)	(0.64)	(0.67)	(0.67)	(0.71)
Hispanic		0.13	-0.04	-0.14	-0.50	-0.51
•		(0.37)	(0.37)	(0.38)	(0.40)	(0.40)
NH Other		-0.08	-0.06	-0.13	-0.18	-0.27
		(0.82)	(0.75)	(0.75)	(0.79)	(0.79)
College Degree		· /	-0.87**	-0.86**	-0.82**	-0.80**
0 0			(0.27)	(0.29)	(0.28)	(0.28)
Annual HH			~ /	· /	× ,	
Income in						
Thousands						
35 - 74				0.17	0.20	0.21
				(0.55)	(0.58)	(0.60)
75-99				-0.72	-0.33	-0.38
				(0.68)	(0.73)	(0.79)
> 100				-0.05	0.40	0.38
				(0.58)	(0.59)	(0.61)
Unknown				-1.18	-1.08	-1.16
				(1.07)	(1.25)	(1.26)
Age				()	-0.06***	-0.06***
0					(0.01)	(0.01)
Children In HH					()	-0.81
						(0.42)
Constant	-0.41	-0.42	0.14	0.27	2.88***	3.17***
	(0.23)	(0.25)	(0.31)	(0.59)	(0.81)	(0.85)
Change in F-	.23	.08	10.69**	.95	20.95***	3.65
Statistic Change in DF	1	3	1	4	1	1

Table A.20. Coefficients for Binge Drinking & Married Lesbians vs Married Gays

Standard errors in parentheses; DF = degrees of freedom *** p<.001, ** p<.01, * p<.05 Calculated using survey estimation weighting. Source: NHIS 2016 - 2018 Married Gays & Lesbians, N=266.